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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Best Pacific International Holdings Limited
(the “Company” or “Best Pacific”, together with its
subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group” or “we”), | am
delighted to present the annual results for the year ended
31 December 2023.

Throughout the past year, amidst continuous geopolitical
uncertainties and volatile economic conditions impacting
the global consumer markets, Best Pacific has made
significant strides in implementing our strategies centered
around innovation, sustainability and cost and risk
management. Our strong financials in 2023 is a testament
to our successful business approach.

It was observed that global activity had bottomed out by
the mid of 2023. As we progressed into the second half
of 2023, a gradual recovery of the global economy was
witnessed amidst the blows of the pandemic, the Russia-
Ukraine conflict and the cost-of-living crisis. Notably,
private consumption demonstrated a quicker rebound
in advanced economies, particularly in the market of the
United States of America (the “U.S.”). According to the
World Economic Outlook of International Monetary Fund
(“IMF”) in October 2023, private consumption in the U.S.
exceeded pre-pandemic projections by 3%. In the textile
and garment industry, we were pleased to note a proactive
increase in order placements by many of our international
apparel brand customers after they had successfully
normalized their inventory levels in the latter part of 2023.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, we attained
an overall sales revenue of approximately 4,200.7
million Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), marking a drop of
approximately 6.5% compared to 2022. This signified
a positive recovery in our overall business following a
revenue decrease of approximately 16.3% in the initial half
of 2023. With improved utilization of production capacities
and economies of scale in the second half of 2023, our
overall gross profit margin increased to approximately
23.9% for the year ending 31 December 2023, compared
to approximately 18.9% in 2022.

Over the past few years, we had methodically and gradually
completed our expansion initiatives in the Socialist
Republic of Vietnam (“Vietnam”) and the Democratic
Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka (“Sri Lanka”), consistently
enhancing their operational efficiencies. We were pleased
to note the improved financial performance of our overseas
production sites, notably in the latter part of 2023. In
particular, our Vietnam facility achieved double-digit sales
growth in 2023, while our investments in Sri Lanka had
begun to yield an overall positive financial contribution
to our Group. Our internationalization roadmap allows
us to anticipate a close collaboration with our esteemed
international brand partners who are increasingly interested
in our overseas production capacities. With this positive
outlook for the medium and long term, we are assessing
the feasibility of additional overseas capacity expansion,
especially in Vietnam. Our ongoing strategy of allocating
resources to our strategic expansion plan bodes well for
the Group’s future development, and we are confident that
our continuous deployment will deliver promising returns
for our shareholders and stakeholders in the long run.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZ2ERERERAT
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In face of the rapidly changing global economic
and geopolitical environment, Best Pacific has
consistently showcased its resilience and strength. This
accomplishment would not have been achievable without
the unwavering support from our customers, business
partners and shareholders. Guided by a clear vision,
focused strategy and a seasoned leadership team, we are
well positioned to seize forthcoming growth opportunities
and drive sustainable success in our markets in the
future. Last but not least, | would like to express my deep
gratitude to the Board of Directors and all our dedicated
team members for their relentless commitment, loyalty,
professionalism and contributions throughout Best Pacific’s

journey.

Lu Yuguang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWNE M

MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

Moving into 2023, global dynamics had been moving
away from the waning effects of the pandemic, and the
global economy had concluded 2023 with a better-than-
expected overall performance. Nevertheless, economic
vulnerabilities, a prolonged period of high interest rates,
and escalating geopolitical tensions persisted, affected the
global business landscape intermittently throughout the
year.

Amid market uncertainties and high inventories,
international brand customers began reducing their
inventory levels and adopting a more cautious approach
in regard to order placements from the second half
of 2022 onwards and such destocking process had
continued throughout the first half of 2023. Nevertheless,
signs of improvement emerged in the latter part of 2023
as apparel brand customers began actively replenishing
their inventories. According to China Customs Statistics,
China’s exports of textile related products initially dropped
by 11.2% in the first half of 2023, but the relevant drop
was narrowed to 8.5% for the entire year. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, we achieved overall sales
revenue of approximately HK$4,200.7 million, representing
a decline of approximately 6.5%, as compared to the
financial year 2022, with approximately HK$2,294.0 million
generated in the second half of 2023.

2023

Total Revenue
HK$ million

oz

1.5%
65.0

Elastic Fabric Elastic Fabric
(Sportswear (Lingerie)
and apparel) EMAYIER
MY E R (RTX)
CEEARZE R ARE)
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Total Revenue
HK$ million
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2023, we implemented a combination of measures,
which included but not limited to further optimization
of our production efficiencies, more stringent wastage
and costs controls and adopting a more conservative
capital expenditure plan. By optimizing our production
capacities, leveraging on generally lower raw materials
prices and benefiting from economies of scale in the latter
part of 2023, we improved our overall gross profit margin
to approximately 23.9% for the year, as compared to a
gross profit margin of approximately 18.9% for 2022. Our
gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2023, stood
at approximately HK$1,003.6 million, representing an
increase of about 18.1% compared to the previous year.

BEEFWR DT

RZZBE-_=F HMERZEE THAR -
BREEBTNRAE—PRABRMOEEREK
FEERENBRERKNAETIZENRFERERTH
BEXRAFEZEE - BBRREAER  NALE
BENEMBHER  UEERN_TE_=FT
FFHRELE BB EEREEFX
BAEL39%  M-E-—FEFERAELY
18.9% - M Z T —_=F+_-_HA=1+—H
IEFEMEFNAL1,0086B8BETT  BLE—
FEHERL18.1% °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

Our international operations

Our international manufacturing footprint is one of our
core competitive advantages. Best Pacific leverages this
advantage to offer sustainable supply-chain solutions
to cater for the best interests of our customers — which
encompass the reduction in production lead time, and the
catering for trade and tariff considerations.

VIETNAM

According to the General Statistics of Vietnam, Vietnam
achieved a growth of gross domestic product (“GDP”)
of 5.05% in 2023. Despite the export data released by
the General Department of Customs of Vietham showed
a 11.4% on year-on-year decrease in 2023 by export
value of textile and garment products in Vietnam, our
operations in Vietnam had not been adversely affected. On
the contrary, we achieved a double-digit sales growth in
2023 at our Vietnam site, mostly credited to the promising
performance of our major apparel brand customers placing
orders at the site.

SRI LANKA

The political and financial landscape in Sri Lanka stabilized
in 2023, but the textile and apparel exports in Sri Lanka
continued to face challenges due to the global economic
slowdown. The textile and apparel export value amounted
to approximately 4.5 billion United States dollar (“‘US$”)
in 2023, marking a decline of approximately 18.8% as
compared to the corresponding year, as per the statistics
disclosed by Joint Apparel Association Forum of Sri
Lanka. However, our drop in revenue in our Sri Lanka’s
production sites had narrowed down in the second half
of 2023 and recorded only a mid-single digit decrease
in overall sales revenue for the whole year. As a result of
improved efficiencies and economies of scale, the financial
performance of our production sites in Sri Lanka recorded
notable improvements.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZ2ERERERAT
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue is primarily derived from the sales of
its major products, including elastic fabric, elastic webbing
and lace.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue amounted
to approximately HK$4,200.7 million, representing
a decrease of approximately HK$292.1 million, or
approximately 6.5%, from approximately HK$4,492.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

A comparison of the Group’s revenue for the year ended
31 December 2023 and the year ended 31 December
2022 by product categories is as follows:

BEREN NN

B EI R
A

AEENBPATERAHEL T EEM
EEESYER  BUHEELRES

@

HE_Z-_=F+-_A=1+—HLEFE K
ABK42007TEEBT REEZ2 T - —
+ A=+ —HItFEL4,492.8F BB TR
L#202 1B EBITHA6.5% °

AEEBE—_T_=—Ft+t_A=1+—HLHF
EMBE-_T-_—_F+_A=+t—HLFE
RE BRI D O A LB T

For the year ended 31 December

RET=A=T-LEE

2023 2022 Change
—E-= - S 5

Revenue % of Revenue % of
(HK$°000) Revenue  (HK$'000) Revenue  (HK$'000) %

BA AR WA {5l AR
(F&7) Batt (Fi51) BAl (Fi51) BAl
Elastic fabric Bt EnmEe 3,301,384 786 3438963 766 (137,579) (.0)
- Sportswear and appare! ~EERERFE 2,180,003 519 2146456 478 33,547 16
- Lingerie - 1,121,381 267 1292507 288 (171,126) (132)
Flastic webbing BUGR 834,337 199 977,560 217 (143,229) (14.7)
Lace Bl 64,986 15 76,267 17 (11,281) (148
Total H 4,200,707 1000 4492790 100.0 (292,083) (6.5)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

Due to the prevailing lukewarm market conditions in
the lingerie industry in 2023, our two primary products
focusing on lingerie business had experienced a decline
in revenue. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the revenue from the sales of lingerie elastic fabric totaled
around HK$1,121.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$171.1 million or approximately 13.2%
compared to the corresponding year. Similarly, the revenue
generated from the sales of elastic webbing amounted
to approximately HK$834.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, indicating a decline of approximately
HK$143.2 million or approximately 14.7%, as compared to
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Our customers continued to recognize our innovation, high
product quality and our multi-region production advantage.
We witnessed significant improvements in our sales order
in the second half of 2023, when most of our sportswear
and apparel brand customers started to replenish their
inventories more actively. In particular, despite our sales
revenue from the sales of sportswear and apparel elastic
fabric had declined by approximately 8.4% in the first
half of 2023, we managed to achieve sales revenue from
the sales of sportswear and apparel elastic fabric of
approximately HK$2,180.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing an increase of approximately
HK$33.5 million or approximately 1.6%, as compared
to approximately HK$2,146.5 million for the year end 31
December 2022.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZ2ERERERAT
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Cost of sales, gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprises costs of raw
materials, manufacturing overheads, and direct labour
costs.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s cost
of sales amounted to approximately HK$3,197.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$445.8 million
or approximately 12.2%, as compared to the year ended
31 December 2022. The overall decrease in cost of sales
in 2023 was primarily due to the decrease in overall sales.

BEREN NN

HEMA  EFRERE

AEENHEXNATIZERERMERA - £
ERXRERATRA

BHE_Z-_=-F+-_A=+—HULEFE &
EEBEREEXARNEL3197 15 EETT @ BE
BT —HF+-_A=+—HIEFERLH
445 8B BB ITTHLI12.2% o HER AR -
T FEERLOTERANEREE R
g(o

For the year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=+—BLFE

2023 2022

—E-=HF &
Gross profit Gross profit
Gross profit margin Gross profit margin
EF ERR EH ER=
(HK$’000) %  (HK$'000) %
(F#ET) (Bat)  (F%&rx) (Bok)
Elastic fabric SE LA E 813,385 24.6 595,629 17.3
Elastic webbing S8 A 175,650 211 227,712 23.3
Lace B 14,591 225 26,572 34.8
Total st 1,003,626 23.9 849,913 18.9
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

With a better utilization of production capacities and
leveraging economies of scale particularly in our elastic
fabric business segment in the second half of 2023,
the overall gross profit of the Group increased from
approximately HK$849.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately HK$1,003.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

The gross profit margins of the Group’s elastic webbing
and lace business segments had declined due to the
rather challenging lingerie market and the subsequent
drop in the relevant business scale. Nevertheless, the
improvement in the Group’s overall gross profit margin was
mainly due to the better gross profit margin attained in its
elastic fabric business segment. Despite the complicated
business environment since the second half of 2022, our
sportswear and apparel elastic fabric business segment
had demonstrated its resilience and experienced a quicker
rebound in the second half of 2023, indicating its long-
term development potential. Our continuous efforts
in streamlining manufacturing processes, enhancing
production efficiencies, and the generally lower raw material
prices, with which costs represented approximately 41.4%
and 35.6% of the overall revenue for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2023, respectively, had helped
alleviate some of the costs pressures faced by the Group
during the year.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZ2ERERERAT

AR T _=F T F+FEFHEEER LR
BEENER(LEREMBYEHERL S
) AEEBREENRBEE_S_—_F+=
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HE T -_=F+_-_A=+—HILFEHND
1,003.6 EEBTT °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income

The Group’s other income mainly consisted of bank
interest income, government grants, net proceeds from
sales of scrap materials, compensation income from
customers and others. The following table sets forth the
breakdown of the Group’s other income for the years
indicated:

BEEFWR DT

HApgA

AEBEREMKRA TR BIRRITHEWA
R - SHERRAIHIEFE KBE
FPHBEWRAREM - TREHIAEER T
NEEREA AR :

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1T—-HLFE

2023 2022

—EC=F T _F

(HK$°000) (HK$'000)

(F#&T) (F7%7T)

Bank interest income HRITHEHA 15,490 16,038
Government grants BB 11,361 15,308
Net proceeds from sales of scrap materials  $5& EERL P15 008558 8,131 8,540
Compensation income from customers RERFREERA 8,264 1,226
Others Hib 8,170 8,313
Total =t 51,416 49,425

The other income for the year ended 31 December
2023 of the Group amounted to approximately HK$51.4
million, represented an increase of approximately 4.0%,
as compared to approximately HK$49.4 million recorded
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The increase was
mainly caused by an increase in compensation income
from customers, which was partly offset by the decrease in
government grants received during the year.

HE_ZT_=F+_-_A=+—HIEFE K
EEMEMKRABLSIAEESTT  BEHE
B —F+ - A=1+—HILFEMEMIK
ABE#)49.4 5 BB TTIENNLI4.0% © 238N+
EEHNKERFPHEEWRALLN - ZUWA
A A UCER B U A AR Rk A BB 3 o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses in the year ended 31 December
2023 mainly consisted of a net foreign exchange gain of
approximately HK$17.0 million, as a result of the currency
depreciation of Renminbi (“RMB”) and Vietnam Dong
(“VND”) against HK$ during the year.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consist of
employee benefit expenses, transportation, marketing and
promotional expenses and other selling and distribution
expenses. For the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2023, the Group maintained a relatively stable selling and
distribution expenses ratio at approximately 4.1% and
approximately 4.3% of its total revenue, respectively.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of employee
benefit expenses, depreciation, motor vehicle expenses,
bank charges and other administrative expenses. For the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the Group’s
administrative expenses represented approximately 6.4%
and approximately 7.2% of its total revenue, respectively.
The increase in the ratio of administrative expenses against
total revenue was mainly due to an increase in employee
benefit expenses and the diseconomies of overall business
scale in 2023.

Research and development costs

The Group is dedicated to catering to the changing market
preferences by introducing innovative lingerie, sportswear
and apparel materials. For the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2023, the Group’s research and development
costs represented approximately 2.3% and approximately
2.0% of its total revenue, respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs mainly represent interest
expenses for bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities. The finance costs increased by approximately
53.3% from approximately HK$75.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$116.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase
in finance costs during the year ended 31 December 2023
was primarily due to increase in overall market lending
interest rate in 2023.

Income tax expense

Taxation arising in a jurisdiction is calculated at the rate
prevailing in the relevant jurisdiction.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the income tax
expense amounted to approximately HK$35.9 million, as
compared to approximately HK$33.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The effective tax rate of the
Group was approximately 9.3% for the year ended 31
December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately 10.5%). The decrease in effective tax rate in
2023 was mainly due to the increase in profits contribution
from our subsidiary in Vietnam, which was currently
enjoying a preferential profit tax rate.

Net profit and net profit margin

Net profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$349.4 million,
representing an increase of approximately 23.2% as
compared to approximately HK$283.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The Group recorded a net
profit margin of approximately 8.3% for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing an increase of approximately
2.0 percentage points, as compared to approximately 6.3%
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The increase in net
profit and net profit margin was mainly due to the increase
in gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

Liquidity, financial resources and bank borrowings

As at 31 December 2023, net working capital
(calculated as current assets less current liabilities) was
approximately HK$778.3 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$600.2 million, as compared to
approximately HK$178.1 million as at 31 December
2022. The current ratio (calculated as current assets
being divided by current liabilities) was 1.4 times as at
31 December 2023, as compared to 1.1 times as at 31
December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, net cash
generated from operating activities was approximately
HK$999.7 million, as compared to approximately
HK$773.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The increase was mainly due to increase in profit before
taxation and better management in payables and inventory
levels during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to
approximately HK$238.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, as compared to approximately HK$174.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. To achieve
our long term development goal and to cater for potential
business growth, we continued to invest approximately
HK$275.4 million to purchase property, plant and
equipment during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, net cash
used in financing activities amounted to approximately
HK$872.0 million, as compared to approximately
HK$377.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The cash used in financing activities for the year ended
31 December 2023 was mainly used for the payments of
dividends and the repayment of borrowings and the related
interests amidst the rather high interest environment during
the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group attained an earning before interest, taxation,
depreciation and amortization (‘EBITDA”) of approximately
HK$883.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
representing an increase of approximately 15.4% from an
EBITDA of approximately HK$766.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group’s net gearing ratio was approximately 15.0%
(as at 31 December 2022: approximately 30.0%), which
was calculated on the basis of the amount of net debt
position (sum of total bank and other borrowings and
bank overdrafts, less bank deposits and bank balances
and cash) as a percentage of total equity. The Group was
in a net debt position of approximately HK$498.8 million
as at 31 December 2023, as compared to approximately
HK$941.7 million as at 31 December 2022. There is no
material seasonality of borrowing requirements for the
Group.

Working capital management
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2023 2022 Change
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turnover days €S ELE PR 60.5 61.1 0.6) (1.0
Trade and bills payables EC AN
turnover days ERNEERERH 66.0 67.3 (1.9) (1.9)
Inventory turnover days FEREXEY 122.4 129.9 (7.5) (5.8)

We had maintained stable trade and bills receivables, trade
and bills payables as well as inventory turnover days for
both years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

Capital expenditures

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s total
additions to property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately HK$291.9 million (for the year ended 31
December 2022: approximately HK$387.2 million), in order
to achieve our long-term development goal.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group pledged bank
deposits of approximately HK$88.0 million (as at 31
December 2022: approximately HK$68.4 million) to secure
the bills payables issued by the Group in connection with
its trade transactions.

Foreign exchange risk

A substantial portion of the Group’s revenue is
denominated in US$ and HK$ and a portion of its
purchases and expenses are denominated in RMB, VND
and Sri Lankan Rupee (“LKR”). The Group manages its
foreign exchange risks by performing regular reviews and
monitoring its foreign exchange exposure. Our finance
department monitors our foreign exchange risks on a
continuous basis by analysing our domestic and overseas
sales orders on hand, expected domestic and overseas
orders from customers and estimated foreign currency
payments for our purchases and expenses. We intend
to manage our foreign exchange risks by (i) managing
our sales, purchases and expenses denominated in
HK$ and RMB through our subsidiaries in Hong Kong
and Mainland China, respectively, managing our sales,
purchases and expenses denominated in US$ through
our subsidiaries in Hong Kong, Vietnam and Sri Lanka,
and managing our purchases and expenses denominated
in VND and LKR through our subsidiaries in Vietnam and
Sri Lanka, respectively; and (ii) holding cash and bank
deposits denominated in HK$ primarily by the Company
and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong, holding cash and bank
deposits denominated in US$ primarily by the Company
and its subsidiaries in Hong Kong, Vietnam and Sri Lanka,
and holding cash and bank deposits denominated in RMB,
VND and LKR primarily by our subsidiaries in Mainland
China, Vietnam and Sri Lanka, respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total
of 9,604 full-time employees (as at 31 December 2022:
9,050). The Group remunerates its staff according to
their performance, qualification, experience and industry
practices, and conducts regular reviews of its remuneration

policy.

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was set up primarily for
reviewing the Group’s remuneration policy and structure for
all remuneration of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, having regard to factors including but not
limited to salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and
employees, employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group, and whether the remuneration is commensurate
with the performance.

There has been no significant change in the Group’s
remuneration policy, and the Group will continue to provide
regular training and competitive remuneration packages
to its staff. The Group’s remuneration packages include
salary, bonuses, allowances and retirement benefits based
on employee’s performance, skills and knowledge. The
Group also provides additional benefits to its employees
that include subsidised accommodation, meals, accident
and medical insurance and share-based remuneration
granted to eligible employees under the share-based
incentive plans of the Company from time to time.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

Dividend policy

The Board intends to maintain a long term, stable
dividend payout ratio of not less than 20% of the Group’s
distributable profit for the year, providing shareholders with
an equitable return.

The Board has resolved to declare a final dividend of
HK$11.38 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2023 (the “Final Dividend”) (for
the year ended 31 December 2022: HK$4.22 cents per
ordinary share). The Final Dividend is expected to be paid
on 16 July 2024 to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on 8 July
2024, subject to the approval by the shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company on 25
June 2024 (the “AGM”).

An interim dividend of HK$5.3 cents per ordinary share
was paid by the Company on 30 November 2023 (2022:
HK$7.28 cents per ordinary share).

FUTURE STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to the year 2024, it is poised to be
another eventful year. The recent easing of inflationary
pressures since the latter part of 2023 signals that the
era of monetary tightening is approaching its conclusion.
Projections suggest that global inflation will remain
relatively stable throughout 2024, with expectations
mounting that the U.S. Federal Reserve will embark on
a course of reducing federal interest rates by the middle
of the year. Nonetheless, some economies continue to
grapple with inflation rates that surpass their targets,
creating an ongoing economic imbalance. Furthermore,
the global landscape is set to be shaped by a series of
pivotal elections taking place across various nations, with
the outcomes likely to have far-reaching implications on
governmental policies, both on a domestic and international
scale. Amidst these political transitions, the world faces
heightened uncertainties stemming from conflicts in regions
such as Europe and the Middle East. These geopoalitical
tensions not only pose risks to regional stability but also
have the potential to reverberate across global markets,
impacting investor confidence and economic growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Despite the short-term challenges and intricacies of current
market conditions, there is a discernible trend towards
the gradual recovery of the global economy. Projections
from the IMF suggest that the world economy is slated to
achieve a notable 3.1% increase in GDP growth by the
end of 2024. While China’s recovery after reopening is
perceived to be bumpier than expected, its economy has
grown in line with its annual target of around 5% in 2023
and we expect this to be maintained in 2024. We maintain
a cautious yet optimistic outlook on the global economic
landscape for the upcoming year. In tandem with the
broader economic recovery, we anticipate a consistent
uptick in sales orders across our diverse customer
base. This positive outlook is bolstered by their ongoing
restocking initiatives, reflecting a growing confidence in
the economic rebound. As the global economy continues
its upward trajectory, we are positioned to benefit from
the overall recovery and are prepared to seize emerging
opportunities in the marketplace.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER R DT

Sportswear and apparel markets

The sportswear and apparel business segment has
been the growth engine for the Group over an extended
period of time. Despite the prevailing market challenges
witnessed throughout 2023, we were able to achieve
sales revenue from the sales of sportswear and apparel
elastic fabric of approximately HK$2,180.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase
of approximately HK$33.5 million or approximately 1.6%,
as compared to approximately HK$2,146.5 million for
the year end 31 December 2022. Looking ahead, we
perceive immense market opportunities that underpin
a positive and sustainable growth momentum for both
the industry and our sportswear and apparel business
segment. At Best Pacific, we firmly believe that innovation
and technological advancements stand as crucial pillars
for ensuring our future growth and success. As such, we
are unwavering in our commitment to allocate resources
strategically to further enhance our innovation and research
and development capabilities. This strategic investment
is geared towards meeting the escalating demand from
our customers for cutting-edge and innovative sportswear
and apparel products. With an eye on the future and
an anticipation of market recovery, we stand poised to
capitalize on emerging growth prospects. Our strategic
focus is on cultivating stronger and more symbiotic
partnerships with our valued apparel brand customers,
fostering collaboration and synergy to navigate the evolving
market landscape successfully.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

International footprint and capital expenditure and
cashflows

As at 31 December 2023, the overall annual designed
production capacities of elastic fabric, elastic webbing
and lace of the Group were approximately 250.7 million
meters, 1,933.0 million meters and 45.0 million meters,
respectively. The distribution of our core production
capacities between China and overseas stood at a
balanced ratio of 50:50. Our international footprint is
one of our core advantages, although we have been
taking a more prudent approach in evaluating our
capital investments in the past few years, Best Pacific is
committed to our multi-location manufacturing strategy.
The further enhancement on operational efficiencies of our
overseas manufacturing sites in Vietnam and Sri Lanka
has been orderly implemented, so as to cater for the best
interests of our customers.

The economies of Southeast Asia exhibit strong economic
momentum heading into 2024, with Vietham emerging
as one of the fastest-growing economies in the world.
Fueled by its competitive labour costs, supportive policies
and evolving supply chain dynamics, Vietnam presents
compelling opportunities. As China progresses towards
high-quality growth and increased domestic consumption,
Chinese companies are increasingly exploring opportunities
in vibrant markets like Vietnam. Leveraging our Group’s
strong financials and building on the success of our
operation in Vietnam, we are actively assessing the
feasibility of expanding our manufacturing capacities in
Vietnam.

As we move into 2024, we are optimistic about the
opportunities on the horizon that can support our strong
performance. We believe that our world-class innovation
capabilities, international footprint, strong partnership
with customers, our talented people and healthy financial
position have laid a solid foundation for Best Pacific’s
sustainable growth and future success.
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Report of the Directors
EEEWE

The Directors are pleased to present their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and
trading of elastic fabric, elastic webbing and lace. Details
of the Group’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2023 are set out in Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group’s turnover and results by operating segment
are set out in Notes 5 and 6 to the consolidated financial
statements and Management Discussion and Analysis of
this annual report.

There is no change in the principal activities of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on page 108.

The Board recommends the payment of a Final Dividend
of HK11.38 cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31
December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
HK4.22 cents per ordinary share). Subject to approval by
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming AGM,
the Final Dividend will be distributed on 16 July 2024 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 8 July 2024.

An interim dividend of HK5.3 cents per ordinary share was

paid to shareholders on 30 November 2023 (2022: HK7.28
cents per ordinary share).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from 20 June 2024 to 25 June 2024, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares of the Company
will be effected. In order to determine the identity of
shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at the
AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged not later than
4:30 p.m. on 19 June 2024 with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming
AGM, the proposed Final Dividend will be payable to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 8 July 2024 and the register
of members of the Company will be closed from 3 July
2024 to 8 July 2024, both days inclusive, during which no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to qualify for the proposed Final Dividend, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates shall be lodged not later than 4:30 p.m. on 2
July 2024 with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a
discussion on the Group’s future business development as
well as the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders
are set out in the Chairman’s Statement as well as the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 to 7
and pages 8 to 25 of this annual report. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is set out in the Group’s Five-year
Financial Information Summary on page 252 of this annual
report. Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Group
has no other significant events after the end of the financial
year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A description of possible risks and uncertainties that
the Group may be facing are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement as well as the Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 5 to 7 and pages 8 to 25 of this
annual report. The financial risk management objectives
and policies of the Group are set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, relationships with its key stakeholders and
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations which
have a significant impact on the Group will be provided in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023,
which will be published on the websites of the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. The
Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China
(*PRC”), Hong Kong, Vietnam, Sri Lanka and the U.S..
The Group has compliance procedures in place to ensure
adherence to applicable laws and regulations which pose
significant relevance to the Group. For the year ended 31
December 2023, to the best knowledge and belief of the
Board, the Group has complied in material respects with
the relevant laws and regulations of the Cayman Islands,
the PRC, Hong Kong, Vietnam, Sri Lanka and the U.S..

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees are regarded as one of the most important
and valuable assets of the Group. The Group strives to
reward and recognise performing employees by providing
a competitive remuneration package and implementing
a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate
incentives for its employees, and to promote career
development and progression by providing appropriate
training and providing opportunities within the Group for
career advancement.

The Group maintains stable and cooperative relationships
with its customers. To ensure that our products remain
competitive, the Group closely monitors market trends,
listens attentively to customer demands and produces
products that accommodate their needs. The Group also
manages the relationships with its suppliers to ensure the
reliability, stability and quality of various materials supplied
to the Group.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Group’s subsidiaries are set out in Note
39 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the issued share capital of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” on
pages 111 and 112.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$787.3 million, of
which approximately HK$118.3 million has been proposed
as the Final Dividend for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the amended and restated articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$1,861,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, sales to
the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 39.8% of the Group’s total sales for the year
(of which sales to the Group’s largest customer accounted
for approximately 12.0%). Purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 33.9%
of the Group’s total purchases for the year (of which
purchases attributable to the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 16.3%).

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2023 are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities for the year ended 31 December 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no
other significant investments held, no material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
during the year, nor was there any plan authorised by the
Board for other material investments or additions of capital
assets at the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lu Yuguang
Mr. Zhang Haitao
Mr. Wu Shaolun
Ms. Zheng Tingting
Mr. Chan Yiu Sing
Mr. Lu Libin

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Yat Ming
Mr. Ding Baoshan
Mr. Kuo Dah Chih, Stanford

According to Article 83(3) of the Articles, the Directors
shall have the power from time to time and at any time
to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing
Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting
of shareholders after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.
Besides, Article 84(1) of the Articles stipulates that at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years.

Pursuant to the aforesaid provisions in the Articles, Mr.
Chan Yiu Sing (“Mr. Chan”), Mr. Ding Baoshan (“Mr.
Ding”) and Mr. Kuo Dah Chih, Stanford (“Mr. Kuo”) will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM. All the above
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the AGM.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS

Profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 70 to 78 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors (except for Mr. Chan and
Mr. Lu Libin) has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an extended term of three years commencing
on 23 May 2023. Mr. Chan and Mr. Lu Libin had each
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a
term of three years commencing on 10 February 2021. Ms.
Zheng Tingting (“Ms. Zheng”) had entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an extended term of
three years commencing on 23 November 2021. Each
service agreement will continue thereafter until terminated
by either party by giving to the other party at least three
months’ prior notice in writing. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors (except for Mr. Kuo) was
appointed for an extended term of three years with effect
from 23 May 2023. Mr. Kuo was appointed for a term of
three years with effect from 28 May 2021.

The Group has introduced new share-based incentive
schemes to employees in the year. Such incentive
schemes also apply to all executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors and the relevant
service agreements have been revised accordingly.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Articles and Appendix C1 (previously
known as Appendix 14) to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”). None of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM have a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ FEES AND EMOLUMENTS

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities
and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the emoluments of every Director for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed
“CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” below and “RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS” in Note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements, no Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, or any
of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of
the Directors of the Company had any interest in any
competing business with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

Mr. Lu Yuguang (“Mr. Lu”) and Grandview Capital
Investment Limited (“Grandview”), being the controlling
shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholders”), have each provided a written confirmation
to the Company confirming that he/it has complied with the
terms of the deed of non-competition for the year ended
31 December 2023. The independent non-executive
Directors of the Company have also reviewed the status of
compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders and
confirmed that, as far as they can ascertain, each of the
Controlling Shareholders has complied with the terms of
the deed of non-competition.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS -
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND/OR
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and/or debentures (as the
case may be) of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or which were required to be entered into the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO or which were otherwise required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
C3 (previously known as Appendix 10) to the Listing Rules,
are set out below:
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() The Company () i/

Number Approximate
of shares/ percentage of
underlying shareholding

Name of Director Long/short position ~ Capacity shares Notes (%)
HREA
LGREL B
EENE i/ %R 54 ROBE M (%)
Mr. Lu Yuguang Long position Beneficial owner 3,000,000
BEXEE e EnAAA
Long position Interest held by his
controlled corporation 637,500,000 1
i) HEXmAERE R
640,500,000 61.59
Mr. Zhang Haitao Long position Interest held by his spouse 78,292,000 2 7.52
RERLE e HicBRanEs
Ms. Zheng Tingting Long position Beneficial owner 3,292,000
it HE EEHEAA
Long position Interest held by her
controlled corporation 75,000,000 3
R EXmABERARER
78,292,000 7.52
Mr. Wu Shaolun Long position Beneficial owner 3,000,000
RmESE HE BaREAA
Long position Interest held by his
controlled corporation 37,500,000 4
e EX R ARER
40,500,000 3.89
Mr. Chan Yiu Sing Long position Beneficial owner 1,400,000 0.13

RIEEEE
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Notes:

These 637,500,000 ordinary shares were held by Grandview,
which was wholly owned by Mr. Lu. Under the SFO, Mr.
Lu was deemed to be interested in such shares held by
Grandview.

These 78,292,000 ordinary shares were held by Ms. Zheng,
the Chief Operating Officer and an executive Director of the
Company and her controlled corporation (details in Note 3
below). Ms. Zheng is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Haitao (“Mr.
Zhang”), the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director
of the Company. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhang was deemed
to be interested in such shares held by Ms. Zheng and her
controlled corporation.

These 75,000,000 ordinary shares were held by Mega
Brilliant Enterprises Limited (“Mega Brilliant”), which was
wholly owned by Ms. Zheng. Under the SFO, Ms. Zheng
was deemed to be interested in such shares held by Mega
Brilliant.

These 37,500,000 ordinary shares were held by Lakefront
Capital Investment Limited (“Lakefront”), which was wholly
owned by Mr. Wu Shaolun (“Mr. Wu”). Under the SFO, Mr.
Wu was deemed to be interested in such shares held by
Lakefront.
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(I Associated Corporation (within the meaning of the
SFO)

Granaview Capital Investment Limited

(I #HEEEE(ERRFZRAEMRH)

Granaview Capital Investrment Limited

Approximate
percentage of

Number of shareholding

Name of Director Long/short position Capacity shares (%)

B

BA

EEpR i/ %R 54 RIOHE (%)

Mr. Lu Yuguang Long position Beneficial owner 10,001 100
BEXEE HE BaEAA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none M FXPEEIN N E-=F2+_"_AH1

of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS -
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, so far as was known to
the Directors of the Company, the following persons/
entities (other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the

EaEE - TERERAEQITRG
KRN EZR AR

RZEBE-_=F+=-_A=+—8  ®E2Q

ERA WAL BRE(BEEXAQREE
TTEA BERIN) AN RIRR A7 s A8 BE A% 19 %
B R EEAIREEF K ERAFEXVE
F2RIDBEXARA LT LB FTEER

Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company ERPORR - HIRIERE 5 LB IGHIE 336145
and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions ARARRRIFEELMOERIORE
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO:
Number of Approximate
shares/ percentage of
Name of substantial Long/short underlying shareholding
shareholder position Capacity shares Notes (%)
B RBLA
%17, 1E8 Bk
TERREH %,/ %R 54 RIDEE  HEE (%)
Grandview Capital Long position Beneficial owner 637,500,000 1 61.30
Investment Limited He ExEAA
FMR LLC Long position Interest held by its 103,876,900 2 9.99
controlled corporations
5o} HR LB AR
Mega Brilliant Enterprises Long position Beneficial owner 75,000,000 3 7.21
Limited e ERERA
Pandanus Associates Inc. Long position Interest held by its 72,935,271 4 7.01
controlled corporations
e HELERENER
Pandanus Partners L.P. Long position Interest held by its 72,935,271 4 7.01
controlled corporations
1A HRIEERF AR
FIL Limited Long position Interest held by its 72,935,271 4 7.01
controlled corporations
e HELERENER
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Notes:

Grandview was wholly owned by Mr. Lu, the Chairman
and an executive Director of the Company and Mr. Lu was
deemed to be interested in the 637,500,000 ordinary shares
of the Company held by Grandview pursuant to the SFO. Mr.
Lu’s interests in shares are disclosed in this annual report
in the section headed “DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS -
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND/OR DEBENTURES”.

FMR LLC was deemed to be interested in the 103,876,900
ordinary shares of the Company through its 100% controlled
corporations and 483A Bay Street Holdings LP, which was
owned or controlled as to 18% by Bay Street Holdings LLC.

Mega Brilliant was wholly owned by Ms. Zheng, the
Chief Operating Officer and an executive Director of the
Company, and Ms. Zheng was deemed to be interested in
the 75,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company held by
Mega Brilliant pursuant to the SFO. Mr. Zhang, the Chief
Executive Officer and an executive Director of the Company,
is the spouse of Ms. Zheng and was accordingly deemed to
be interested in the 75,000,000 ordinary shares which Ms.
Zheng was deemed to be interested in for the purposes of
the SFO. Ms. Zheng’s and Mr. Zhang’s interests in shares
are disclosed in this annual report in the section headed
“DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS — DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’'S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND/OR DEBENTURES”.

Pandanus Associates Inc. is a general partner of and has
100% control over Pandanus Partners L.P., which owned
or controlled 39.60% of the voting rights in FIL Limited. FIL
Limited then indirectly owned or controlled 82% of the voting
rights in 483A Bay Street Holdings LP. By virtue of Part XV
of the SFO, each of Pandanus Associates Inc., Pandanus
Partners L.P. and FIL Limited was deemed to be interested in
the 72,935,271 ordinary shares of the Company via 483A Bay
Street Holdings LP and its 100% controlled corporations.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023,
the Directors were not aware of any other persons/
entities (other than the Directors and chief executive of
the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.
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SHARE SCHEMES

The Board has resolved, and relevant resolutions have
been duly passed by the Company in the annual general
meeting held on 27 June 2023 to, among other matters,
(i) terminate the share option scheme adopted on 8 May
2014 (the “Share Option Scheme”); (i) adopt a new
share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”);
and (iiij adopt a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”).

The principal terms of the share schemes are summarised
below:

a. Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to reward the
eligible participants who have contributed to the Group and
to encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its shareholders.

Eligible participants

The Board may at its discretion make offers inviting the
Directors and employees of the Group and any advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters or service providers of any member
of the Group who the Board considers, in its absolute
discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group,
to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company,
subject to such conditions as the Board may think fit.
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Total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme

(@)

10% limit

Subject to the following paragraph, the maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 10% of the number of shares of the
Company in issue on the listing date (i.e. 23 May
2014) (not taking into account any shares which
may be allotted and issued pursuant to the over-
allotment option under the IPO) (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and (as
the case may be) such other share option schemes
of the Company will not be counted for the purpose
of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The Company may, from time to time, refresh the
Scheme Mandate Limit by obtaining the approval
of the shareholders in a general meeting, provided
that the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company under the refreshed limit
does not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of the shareholders’ approval
of the refreshed limit.

The Company may also seek separate approval of
the shareholders in a general meeting for granting
options beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit or the
refreshed limit, provided that the options in excess
of such limit are granted only to eligible participants
specifically identified by the Company before such
approval is sought.
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(b) 30% limit

The overall limit on the number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not, in aggregate,
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue
from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each participant
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. Where any further
grant of options to a grantee would result in the shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such
further grant exceeding 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue, such further grant must be separately approved
by the shareholders in general meeting with such grantee
and his associates abstaining from voting.

Performance target

The Share Option Scheme allows the Board, when offering
the grant of any option, to impose any condition including
any performance target, which must be met before the
option shall vest and become exercisable.

Minimum period for which an option must be held

The Board may at its discretion, when offering the grant
of any option, impose any minimum period for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised.

Report of the Directors
EEEWmE

(b)  30%MRzFE
RITEAR B RE B 8 MA R BRI A
iR BB R B R RTTEN 2 HE
FE AR A BE B ITHORL (D 2 B B 48
R AR T SEBARTNEDETR
P #I30% °

KRB E LR GER

E121E A MR TE &2 B EMERERK
R (BREITE R ARTTEAERE) M E #*
17 RGBT BT B BB AR R R TR
E#HITRMDEI1% o LFARARRIME AR
BhEEERATEAEEIIMNEERER
HAIE(BRER)MI2EARER T HHER
THZATHRERBERE(BRETE  DEH
Ko i ARITEE RO BB AR A ) 1 B 31T A B 1T HAR
MEBAAFEBEITRMA1% - AIZEREIR
RE LRESITIAE - MARARARE
BEATEHELRE

KEHIZ
BREASANESSEENROERNBR
R EIMEFRM - B ERBRERE KA
TR BZRIERIRIR B AR o

HBIR1ERTF B IR I FIR
EX g R 2O L EFIBRER RIS N
TR A B Al A T{E AT AR B R RHIR o

Annual Report 2023 —ZE=-=FFf

43



44

Report of the Directors
EEEWE

Exercise price

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall be not less than
the highest of:

(@) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant;

(b) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
of the Stock Exchange for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(€ the nominal value of the shares of the Company.

Amount payable upon acceptance of option

HK$1.00 is payable by each eligible participant to the
Company on acceptance of an offer of option.

The Company has not granted any share options under the
Share Option Scheme since its adoption on 8 May 2014
and until its termination on 27 June 2023.

b. New Share Option Scheme

Effective period

The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for 10 years from 27 June 2023, which is its adoption date.

Purpose

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to
recognise the contribution or future contribution of the
eligible participants for their contribution to the Group by
granting options to them as incentives or rewards and to
attract, retain and motivate high-calibre eligible participants
in line with the performance goals of the Group. The New
Share Option Scheme shall strengthen the many long-term
relationships that the eligible participants may have with
the Group.
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Eligible participants

Eligible Participants are the directors, chief executive
and employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(including persons who are granted options and/or awards
under the New Share Option Scheme and Share Award
Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment
contracts with the Company or any of its subsidiaries),
provided that the Board shall have absolute discretion to
determine whether or not one falls within such category.

Total number of shares available for issue under the New
Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all options to be granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and all options and awards to be
granted under any other share option scheme(s) and
share award scheme(s) of the Company (the “Other
Schemes”) shall not in aggregate exceed 103,980,800,
representing 10% of the shares in issue on 27 June 2023
(the “Scheme Mandate Limit under the New Share
Option Scheme”) and as at the date of this annual report
(i.e. 1,039,808,000 shares). Options or awards cancelled
or lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme or Other Schemes shall not be counted for
the purposes of calculating whether the Scheme Mandate
Limit under the New Share Option Scheme has been
exceeded.

The Company may seek approval of its shareholders in
the general meeting for refreshing the Scheme Mandate
Limit under the New Share Option Scheme after three
years from the date of approval by the Shareholders for
the adoption of the New Share Option Scheme or the last
refreshment. Any refreshment within any three-year period
must be approved by independent shareholders.

The Company may seek separate approval by its
shareholders in its general meeting for granting options
beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit under the New Share
Option Scheme provided that the options in excess of
the Scheme Mandate Limit under the New Share Option
Scheme are granted only to eligible participants specifically
identified by the Company before such approval is sought.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options and awards granted to each
eligible participant or grantee (including exercised and
outstanding options but excluding any options and awards
lapsed in accordance with the terms of such schemes)
in any twelve (12)-month period up to the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the date of
grant (the “Individual Limit”). Where it is proposed that
any offer is to be made to an eligible participant (or where
approximate, an existing grantee) which would result in the
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
and awards granted and to be granted to such person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options
and awards) in the twelve (12)-month period up to and
including the relevant date of grant to exceed his, her or
its Individual Limit, such offer and any acceptance thereof
must be conditional upon approval by the shareholders
in the general meeting with such eligible participant (or
where appropriate, an existing grantee) and his, her or its
associates abstaining from voting.

Performance target

The Board or a committee of the Board may in respect
of each offer and subject to all applicable laws, rules
and regulations determine such performance targets
for vesting of options in its sole and absolute discretion,
such performance targets shall include, among others,
financial targets and management targets which shall
be determined based on the (i) individual performance,
(i) performance of the Group and/or (iii) performance of
business groups, business units, business lines, functional
departments, projects and/or geographical area managed
by the eligible participant. For the avoidance of doubt, an
option shall not be subject to any performance targets,
criteria or conditions if none are set out in the relevant offer
letter.
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Period within which the option may be exercised

Options for the time being outstanding may be exercised
in whole or in part at any time during the period which an
option may be exercised by an eligible participant, which
period may, if the Directors so determine, be set at different
length for different eligible participants provided always that
such period shall not be longer than ten (10) years from the
date upon which any option is granted in accordance with
the New Share Option Scheme.

Vesting period

An option must be held by the option holder for at least
12 months before the option can be exercised. A shorter
vesting period may be granted to employee participants
at the discretion of the Board or the Remuneration
Committee or any other authorised agent(s) as deemed
appropriate at the sole discretion of the Board in any
of the following circumstances: (i) the grants of “make-
whole” options to new joiners to replace the share awards
or options they forfeited when leaving their previous
employer; (i) the grants to an employee participant whose
employment is terminated due to death or disability or
occurrence of any out of control event; (i) the grants that
are made in batches during a year for administrative and
compliance reasons, which include options that should
have been granted earlier if not for such administrative or
compliance reasons but had to wait for subsequent batch.
In such case, the vesting period may be shorter to reflect
the time from which the option would have been granted;
(iv) the grants with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule
such as where the option may vest evenly over a period of
12 months; (v) the grants with a total vesting and holding
period of more than twelve (12) months; (vi) the grants with
performance-based vesting conditions in lieu of time-based
vesting criteria; and (vii) the Remuneration Committee is of
the view that a shorter vesting period is appropriate and
serves the purpose of the New Share Option Scheme.
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Amount payable upon acceptance of option

HK$1.00 is payable by each eligible participant to the
Company on acceptance of an offer of option. Offers to
grant an option shall be open for acceptance in writing.
Such acceptance must be received by the company
secretary of the Company within a period of 30 days
inclusive of, and from, the date of grant provided that no
such offer shall be open for acceptance after the expiry of
the period of the New Share Option Scheme or after the
New Share Option Scheme has been terminated or by a
person who ceases to be an eligible participant after such
offer has been made.

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted on
the date when the duplicate comprising acceptance of
the offer is duly signed by the eligible participant with
the number of Shares in respect of which the offer is
accepted clearly stated therein together with a remittance
in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 per option by way
of consideration for the grant thereof. Such consideration
shall not be refundable.

Exercise price

The exercise price of the option shall be determined on the
date of grant at the absolute discretion of the Directors as
an amount per share which shall be at least the highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant, which must be a trading day;

(b) the average of the closing prices of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five (5) trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

(©) the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant.
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The Company has not granted any share options under the
New Share Option Scheme since its adoption on 27 June
2023. As at the adoption of the New Share Option Scheme
on 27 June 2023 and 31 December 2023, the total
number of Shares available for issue under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of
the Company and the awards to be granted under any
share award scheme(s) of the Company that involve(s) the
issuance of new shares (if any) is 103,980,800. There was
no service provider sublimit set under the scheme.

C. Share Award Scheme

Effective period

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for
10 years from 27 June 2023, which is its adoption date.

Purpose

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise
the contribution or future contribution of the eligible
participants for their contribution to the Group by granting
share awards to them as incentives or rewards and to
attract, retain and motivate high-calibre eligible participants
in line with the performance goals of the Group. The
scheme shall strengthen the many long-term relationships
that the eligible participants may have with the Group.

Eligible participants

Eligible Participants are the directors, chief executive
and employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(including persons who are granted options and/or awards
under the New Share Option Scheme and Share Award
Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment
contracts with the Company or any of its subsidiaries),
provided that the Board shall have absolute discretion to
determine whether or not one falls within such category.

Report of the Directors
EEEWmE

RKRRBZEZ=F A=+t HEMNFIE
ARSI AR ER N IERE - R=F
ZEFERAZ T EHERTERES R
—E-=F+-A=1+—8 " REFNBERE
T8I R AR AR HE AR B KB B A
/AETfﬂﬂ5&&%&%?%&%%2&%&@i%r%b‘?r
(BB TREZRBAIHETZRNR
£1/5103,980,8000% ° 4 $E¢F;m+$w %€ AR
EIREE D IEREE ©

c. RUEREEE

BRUE

foﬁi@%ﬂ]ﬂriﬂﬂﬂ T_=FRAZTERHE
P EH)EFH0FABRK

H &Y

B BB ETEIEEEBMAERSEERT
Bt 2R - ERRARSFHAKEMERR
S ARIFHERZ BRSO R - A RIKER
SEXERERS RELABESF2E
BR2EE - ZFEKERSERS EER
AEEzRZRABRK -

%

\}y\\

S EIESHE

SERSEE[/ARANETANBEARZ
% - TETHA L RIEE (BIERENER
Rt B R AR fn SR B AT B R TREARME KoK
BB DA Pk B B R R B S ELT AT B B R Rl RT

1]> D>

VREEHMAL)  EESS A 2ERBER
EREALTREBRZER -

Annual Report 2023 —ZE=-=FFf

49



30

Report of the Directors
EEEWE

Total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Award Scheme

The total number of shares which may be issued in respect
of all options and awards to be granted under the Scheme
Mandate Limit must not in aggregate exceed 103,980,800,
representing 10% of the total number of shares in issue
as at 27 June 2023 (the “Scheme Mandate Limit of the
Share Award Scheme”) and as at the date of this annual
report (i.e. 1,039,808,000 shares). For the purposes of
calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit of the Share Award
Scheme, shares which are the subject matter of any
options or award that have already lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the relevant share scheme(s) of the
Company will not be regarded as utilized.

The Company may seek approval of its shareholders in
the general meeting for refreshing the Scheme Mandate
Limit of the Share Award Scheme after three years from
the date of approval by the shareholders for the adoption
of the Share Award Scheme or the last refreshment. Any
refreshment within any three-year period must be approved
by independent shareholders.

The Company may seek separate approval by its
shareholders in its general meeting for granting options or
awards beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit of the Share
Award Scheme provided that the options or awards in
excess of the Scheme Mandate Limit of the Share Award
Scheme are granted only to eligible participants specifically
identified by the Company before such approval is sought.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No award shares shall be granted to any eligible participant
if such grant of award shares to such person would result
in the number of shares issued and to be issued in respect
of all award shares and options granted (excluding any
award shares and options lapsed) in accordance with
the terms of the Share Award Scheme and other share
scheme(s) adopted by the Company to such person in
the 12 month period (or such other time period as may
be specified by the Stock Exchange from time to time)
up to and including the date of such grant representing
in aggregate over 1% (or such other percentage as may
be specified by the Stock Exchange from time to time) of
shares in issue, unless such grant has been duly approved
by resolution of the independent shareholders in general
meeting.
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Each grant of an award to any Director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of
their respective associates, shall be subject to the prior
approval of the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is
a proposed recipient of the grant of an award). Where any
grant of award shares to any Director or chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, would result in the shares issued
and to be issued in respect of all award shares granted
(excluding any award shares lapsed) in accordance with
the terms of the Share Award Scheme and other share
award scheme(s) of the Company (if any) to such person
in the 12-month period (or such other time period as may
be specified by the Stock Exchange from time to time)
up to and including the date of such grant representing in
aggregate over 0.1% (or such other percentage as may be
specified by the Stock Exchange from time to time) of the
Shares in issue as at the date of such grant, such further
grant of award shares must be approved by independent
shareholders in general meeting.

Performance target

Subject to the rules of the Share Award Scheme, the
Listing Rules and any applicable laws and regulations, the
Board or the committee of the Board or person(s) to which
the Board has delegated its authority shall have the power
from time to time to establish and administer performance
targets (if any) in respect of the grant and/or vesting of the
award and such performance targets shall include, among
others, financial targets and management targets which
shall be determined based on the (i) individual performance,
(i) performance of the Group and/or (iii) performance of
business groups, business units, business lines, functional
departments, projects and/or geographical area managed
by the selected participants. For the avoidance of doubt,
an award share shall not be subject to any performance
targets, criteria or conditions if none are set out in the
relevant award letter.
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Vesting period

Subject to the Listing Rules, the Board or the committee
of the Board or person(s) to which the Board delegated
its authority may from time to time while the Share Award
Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws,
determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods
for the award to be vested. The vesting date in respect
of any award shall be not less than 12 months from the
date of grant, provided that for employee participants, the
vesting date may be less than 12 months from the date
of grant (including on the date of grant) in the following
circumstances where: (a) the grants of “make whole”
awards to new joiners to replace share awards or options
they forfeited when leaving their previous employers; (b)
the grants to an employee participant whose employment
is terminated due to death or disability or occurrence of
any out-of-control event; (c) the grants that are made in
batches during a year for administrative and compliance
reasons, which include awards that should have been
granted earlier if not for such administrative or compliance
reasons but had to wait for subsequent batch. In such
case, the vesting period may be shorter to reflect the
time from which the award would have been granted; (d)
the grants with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule
such as where the awards may vest evenly over a period
of twelve (12) months; (e) the grants with a total vesting
and holding period of more than twelve (12) months; (f)
the grants with performance-based vesting conditions in
lieu of time-based vesting criteria; (g) the Remuneration
Committee is of the view that a shorter vesting period is
appropriate and serves the purpose of the Share Award
Scheme; or (h) there is an event of change in control of
the Company by way of a merger, a privatization of the
Company by way of a scheme or by way of an offer,
the Board or the committee of the Board or person(s) to
which the Board has delegated its authority, at their sole
discretion, determine that the vesting date of any awards
shall be accelerated to an earlier date, whereby the vesting
date may be less than 12 months from the date of grant
(including on the date of grant).
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Purchase price on share award

The purchase price of the award shares (if any) shall be
such price determined by the Board, the committee of the
Board, or person(s) to which the Board has delegated its
authority from time to time based on considerations such
as the prevailing closing price of the Shares, the purpose
of the award and the characteristics and profile of the
selected participant. No acceptance price of award shares
will be payable on the acceptance of such an award.

The Company has not granted any share awards under the
Share Award Scheme since its adoption on 27 June 2023.
As at the adoption of the Share Award Scheme on 27 June
2023 and 31 December 2023, the total number of Shares
available for issue under the Share Award Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company and the
awards to be granted under any share award scheme(s)
of the Company that involve(s) the issuance of new shares
(if any) is 103,980,800. There was no service provider
sublimit set under the Scheme.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 38
to the consolidated financial statements also constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules, which are required
to be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Other than those disclosed as connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions in the
relevant section of this annual report, the related party
transactions are not connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions, or are exempt from reporting,
announcement and shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The following transactions between certain connected
persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Group
have been entered into and/or are ongoing for which
relevant disclosure had been made by the Company by
way of announcement in compliance with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

a. Renewal of leases of certain premises for the use of
production plant and dormitories in Humen Town
and Houijie Town

As disclosed in the Prospectus, on 1 January 2014,
the Humen branch of Dongguan New Horizon
Elastic Fabric Company Limited (“Dongguan
NHE”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as lessee and Mr. Lu, as lessor,
the Chairman and controlling shareholder of the
Company, entered into a lease contract in relation to
the lease of certain buildings with a gross floor area
of approximately 5,835 square meters in Humen
Town, Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, China
(the “Humen Lease Contract”), for the use as a
production plant and dormitories for the staff of the
Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2014
to 31 December 2016. Besides, Dongguan NHE as
lessee and Mr. Lu as lessor entered into two lease
contracts in relation to the lease of certain buildings
with a total gross floor area of approximately 17,370
square meters in Houjie Town, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province, China (the “Houjie Lease
Contracts”), for the use as administrative offices,
a production plant and dormitories for the staff of
the Group for a term of three years from 1 January
2014 to 31 December 2016.
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To ensure the continuous use of those buildings,
each of the Humen Lease Contract and the Houijie
Lease Contracts was renewed twice for a term of
three years on 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2020
respectively. On 31 March 2023, the above lease
contracts were again renewed for a term of three
years commencing from 1 April 2023 to 31 March
2026. The terms under the renewed lease contracts
are substantially the same as those of the original
agreements, save for Dongguan NHE would have a
three months’ rent free period from 1 April 2023 to
30 June 2023. Under the renewed Humen Lease
Contract, the monthly rent during the first year (i.e.
financial year ended 31 December 2023) shall be
RMB105,905 and the monthly rent for the second
year, third year and fourth year shall not exceed
RMB116,525, RMB128,195 and RMB141,032
respectively. Under the renewed Houjie Lease
Contracts, the total monthly rent during the first year
(i.e. financial year ended 31 December 2023) shall
be RMB315,266 and the maximum total monthly
rent for the second year, third year and fourth year
shall not exceed RMB346,879, RMB381,619 and
RMB419,833 respectively. The rental so charged by
Mr. Lu under the lease contracts is determined with
reference to the historical rents and the prevailing
market rents for similar premises in the same or
nearby areas or similar locations in the PRC. The
terms under the lease contracts shall be on normal
commercial terms and no less favourable to the
Group than those available from Independent Third
Parties.

As at 31 March 2023, Mr. Lu is the Chairman,
executive Director and controlling shareholder of the
Company, holding the direct and indirect interests
in 640,500,000 Shares, representing approximately
61.59% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Accordingly, Mr. Lu is a connected person of the
Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing
Rules and the transaction contemplated under
each of the lease contracts constitutes a connected
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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As one or more of the applicable percentage
ratios (other than the profits ratio) in respect of the
transactions contemplated under the renewal of the
lease contracts, on the basis of the estimated values
of the right-of-use asset and upon aggregation, are
more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the transactions
contemplated are subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements but exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Further
details were disclosed by the Company in its
announcement dated 31 March 2023.

Sales of elastic fabric and elastic webbing to
Dongguan PF Group

On 3 May 2019, Dongguan Best Pacific Textile
Company Limited (“Dongguan BPT”) and
Dongguan NHE (as suppliers) entered into a sales
agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Dongguan
Premium Fashion Company Limited (“Dongguan
PF”) (as purchaser) in relation to the sale of
elastic fabric, elastic webbing, lace, printing and
embroidery for a term of three years commencing
on 4 May 2019 to 3 May 2022.

On 3 May 2022, in contemplation of the expiry
of the Sales Agreement, Dongguan BPT and
Dongguan NHE (for themselves and on behalf
of its associates as suppliers) entered into a
renewed sales agreement (the “Renewed Sales
Agreement”) with Dongguan PF (for itself and on
behalf of its associates (collectively, “Dongguan
PF Group” as purchaser) in relation to the sale of
elastic fabric, elastic webbing, lace, printing and
embroidery for a term commencing on 4 May 2022
to 31 July 2022.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZ2ERERERAT

AREEHEANE M ETHNRS S
FH—IEZEEAA DL E(ZF L
7Tﬁf9h>k&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%éﬁszﬁTEu+ﬁfﬁ§¢%;i
APt E % HHEIB0.1%BER5%
SMET)%J:FU%EEU%MAE BETHR
SBBTHREANERT @ EERRE
STEMRFRAEZHTE - #E—FFED
MARRBIEPA-—TE-_=F=A=1+—
B2 REPHEE -

HEEMAYENSREEET TREE
EIEI?K.

R-ZZE—NFRA=H ' ReBEE
BRAR(REEERE]|) KR WD({’E
AEER) EREME RRMGERA
([REEm] - VE?%EE);.T_L%’%T&’N
([SHEWZE])  RAEHESEEED
mER - EMARTS  Eask - ENTE R
iﬁ%i,ﬁﬂﬁ;ﬁ NERANHZE=ZF
R A=BItAH=%F-

R-ZE-__FHA=RH  EEIHEW
ZIH RBAaMREEBE(RER
FRRKREBEA )T”EZ%T%E@%E%%;B
Em(RERGRAKREBEA - 5
Fi%EEEJ)T’E%EﬁﬁTLﬁ&EE
HE WS (KRBT HEMR]) - WBA
Eﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ’l‘i‘%%ﬁﬂ BEHT - F
i EERTE  FHE T —FH
HP_T]EI;?;;EJCH T—Hike



On 21 June 2022, in contemplation of the expiry of
the Renewed Sales Agreement on 31 July 2022,
Best Pacific Textile Holdings Limited (‘BPTHL”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(for itself and on behalf of its associates (collectively,
“BPTHL Group”), as seller) and Dongguan PF (for
itself and on behalf of Dongguan PF Group, as
purchaser) entered into a new sales agreement (the
“New Sales Agreement”) in relation to the sale of
elastic fabric, elastic webbing, lace, printing and
embroidery by members of the BPTHL Group to
the Dongguan PF Group for a term of three years
commencing from 1 August 2022 to 31 July 2025.
Pursuant to the New Sales Agreement, the selling
price and terms for elastic fabric, elastic webbing,
lace, printing and embroidery offered by the
member(s) of the BPTHL Group to the Dongguan
PF Group shall be agreed after arm’s length
negotiation between the BPTHL Group and the
Dongguan PF Group based on normal commercial
terms after taking into consideration (i) the historical
and prevailing market price of the same and similar
goods in the area, (i) the historical and prevailing
selling prices of the Group for the goods to
independent third party customers, (i) the Group’s
cost of sale of the goods, (iv) the size of the orders,
and (v) the credit worthiness and potential business
growth of the Dongguan PF Group, and in any event
shall be no more favourable than those offered to
independent third parties. The annual caps for the
transaction amount under the New Sales Agreement
for the financial years ending 31 December 2023,
2024 and 2025 shall be RMB230 million, RMB350
million and RMB286 million respectively. Further
details of the New Sales Agreement were disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 21 June
2022.

Report of the Directors

EEEHRS

RZZEZ—FARAZ+—H  ZRIK
BT EMEN T+ A=1+—
BEIH - A EMEE2ENBARBA
IR ER AR ([BRHMIER])
(BERGRERREBEA - GiEER
AR EE ) ((EAE ) EREE R
(BEAGERERRZEREER)(EA
BA)FILFEIHE W= ([ FEIHEWH
&) NAEBBRESHEITREBRKE
MREEREEHESE A EE
SBMETS C Eik HIENRETE  HE
FHE_T-_—_FNA—HBE-_ZT_-H
FLA=Z1+—HIABP=F - RIEF]
HEZ  BRHBITERERKE AR
SEMEBRMEZEEGEYmEmA -« B
B B4t HIEREBIEZ HEBRIF
SRR EIEIR S BB s
ERER(PIEEREERIEEE R
ZBERBTHE  (IAEEREME
BYE=ARFIREZBERBITHE
B (A EEHEEERZKA : (VE]
BEE: RvETERERZEEKRR
BEEBIERE  RIEBEEKRRK
NPEEERE © BERDEITEER
REFEIE=F 2 EBRRIEK o F75]
HEMZE TR I EEREE_Z
T =F ZENFER-E_RF+—
A=1+—HIIBFERNFE LRES
AlABARB230BE T - ARK350H
B ARE286G8TT - FEIHE W
EME—THBEERARRATBHRAE S
S —FANAZT—HEHREH o

Annual Report 2023 —ZB - =fF 5

o/



58

Report of the Directors
EEEWE

From year ended 31 December 2023, sales
to Dongguan PF Group by the BPTHL Group
under the New Sales Agreement amounted to
approximately RMB140,918,497.

As at 3 May 2019 when the Sales Agreement was
entered into, Dongguan PF was originally owned
as to 50% by Ms. Wu Wanxiong (the spouse of
Mr. Lu, the Chairman and an executive Director of
the Company, the sister of Mr. Wu, an executive
Director of the Company and the mother of Mr. Lu
Libin, the Chief Strategy Officer and an executive
Director of the Company), 30% by Ms. Zheng (the
Chief Operating Officer and an executive Director
of the Company and the spouse of Mr. Zhang, the
Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of
the Company), 10% by Mr. Wu Junjie (the son of
Mr. Wu) and 10% by Mr. Lu Canping (the nephew of
Mr. Lu). As at 30 June 2021, 3 May 2022, 21 June
2022 and the date of this annual report, Dongguan
PF was owned as to 40% by Ms. Wu Wanxiong,
40% by Ms. Zheng, 10% by Mr. Wu Junjie and 10%
by Mr. Lu Canping. Accordingly, Dongguan PF is a
connected person of the Company pursuant to Rule
14A.07 of the Listing Rules, and the transactions
contemplated under each of the Sales Agreement,
the Renewed Sales Agreement and the New Sales
Agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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Sales of synthetic fabric and webbing to the Brandix
Group

On 6 November 2020, BPTHL, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (for itself and
on behalf of the BPTHL Group, as seller) and
Brandix Lanka (Pvt) Ltd (formerly known as Brandix
Lanka Limited, “Brandix”) (for itself and on behalf
of its affiliates (collectively, “Brandix Group”),
as purchaser) entered into a sales framework
agreement (the “Brandix Framework Agreement”)
for a term of three years commencing on 6
November 2020 to 5 November 2023 in relation
to the sale and purchase of synthetic fabric and
webbing and any other products as may be agreed
between the parties from time to time on normal
commercial terms and subject to and upon the
terms and conditions to be agreed between the
relevant members of BPTHL Group and Brandix
Group. Further details of the Brandix Framework
Agreement were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 6 November 2020.

The annual cap for the transaction amounts
under the Brandix Framework Agreement for the
period from 1 January 2023 to 5 November 2023
was US$64 million. From 1 January 2023 to 5
November 2023, sales to Brandix under the Brandix
Framework Agreement amounted to approximately
US$14,998,677.
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On 6 November 2023, the BPTHL Group (as seller)
and the Brandix Group (as purchaser) entered
into a sales framework agreement (the “Renewed
Brandix Framework Agreement”) relating to
the sale and purchase of the synthetic fabric and
webbing (or any other products as may be agreed
between the parties) from time to time on normal
commercial terms and subject to and upon the
terms and conditions to be agreed between the
relevant members of the BPTHL Group and the
Brandix Group, setting out, among other things, the
products to be supplied, specifications, quantity,
price, delivery method and payment arrangement.
The term of the Renewed Brandix Framework
Agreement is three years commencing from 6
November 2023 to 5 November 2026 (both days
inclusive).

The annual caps for the transaction amounts under
the Renewed Brandix Framework Agreement for
the period from 6 November 2023 to 31 December
2023 was US$5 million and for the financial years
ending 31 December 2024, 2025 and 2026 shall
be US$34 million, US$50 million and US$65 million
respectively. During the period from 6 November
2023 to 31 December 2023, the sales to the
Brandix Group by the BPTHL Group under the
Renewed Brandix Framework Agreement amounted
to approximately US$4,227,252. Further details of
the Renewed Brandix Framework Agreement were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 3
November 2023.

As at 3 November 2023 and the date of this annual
report, Best Pacific Textiles Lanka (Private) Limited
was owned as to 75% by the Company, via Best
Pacific International Sri Lanka (Pannala) Limited, and
25% by Brandix. Accordingly, members of Brandix
Group (including Brandix) are connected persons
of the Company at the subsidiary level under Rule
14A.06(9) of the Listing Rules and the transaction
contemplated under the Brandix Framework
Agreement constitutes a continuing connected
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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Sales of synthetic textiles and textile-related
products to MAS Group

On 19 December 2022, BPTHL, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (for itself and on behalf
of the BPTHL Group, as seller), entered into a
framework agreement (the “MAS Framework
Agreement”) with MAS Capital (Private) Limited
(“MAS Capital”) (for itself and on behalf of its
affiliates (collectively, “MAS Group”), in relation
to the sale of synthetic textiles and textile-related
products including synthetic fabrics by BPTHL
Group to MAS Group for a term from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive).
Pursuant to the MAS Framework Agreement,
BPTHL Group has agreed to sell synthetic textiles
and textile related products including synthetic
fabrics to MAS Group from time to time on normal
commercial terms and subject to and upon the
terms and conditions contained in the purchase
orders to be agreed between the relevant members
of BPTHL Group and MAS Group, setting out,
among other things, the products to be supplied,
specifications, quantity, price, delivery method
and payment arrangement. Further details of the
MAS Framework Agreement were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 19 December
2022.

The annual cap for the transaction amounts under
the MAS Framework Agreement for the financial
year ended 31 December 2023 and for the financial
years ending 31 December 2024 and 2025 shall be
US$138 million, US$159 million and US$183 million
respectively. During the financial year ended 31
December 2023, the sales to MAS Group by BPTHL
Group under the MAS Framework Agreement
amounted to approximately US$59,862,907.

Trischel Fabric (Private) Limited (“Trischel”) is a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company in
which 51% is indirectly owned by the Company and
49% is owned by MAS Capital. Accordingly, MAS
Capital, as a substantial shareholder of Trischel, is a
connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level under Rule 14A.06(9) of the Listing Rules.
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Memorandum of understanding in relation to the
sub-leases of certain properties and the provision of
the services incidental to the leased properties from
MAS Group to Trischel (the “Lease Related MOU”)

In contemplation of the expiry of certain properties
sub-leases on 31 December 2022 and to ensure
the continuous use of the relevant premises at MAS
industrial park, as well as in view of the potential
increase in the number of premises to be leased
by Trischel from the MAS Group, on 19 December
2022, Trischel entered into the legally binding Lease
Related MOU with MAS Fabric Park (Private) Limited
(“MAS Fabric Park”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of MAS Holdings (Private) Ltd (“MAS”)
and a substantial shareholder of Trischel, for a term
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

Pursuant to the Lease Related MOU, where Trischel
intends to rent any properties, or procure any
services incidental to such properties (e.g. utilities
services and property management services), from
any member of MAS Group, Trischel shall from time
to time enter into a separate sub-lease agreement
for the sub-lease of properties or a separate service
agreement for the property related services with
the relevant member of MAS Group in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Lease Related
MOU. Each of the separate sub-lease agreements
and service agreements entered into between
Trischel and MAS Group shall be consistent with the
terms of the Lease Related MOU, and shall set out,
among other things, details and size of the leased
properties, details of the property related services
required, term, fees and payment arrangements
provided always that such terms and conditions
must be on normal commercial terms, and shall
be in compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations and the Listing Rules.
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The rentals or service fees chargeable by the
relevant member of MAS Group under any separate
sub-lease agreement or service agreement shall be
negotiated on an arm’s length basis which shall be
determined with reference to the prevailing market
rates of similar or comparable properties or services
from time to time, the location and conditions
of the leased properties, the rentals charged by
the relevant member of MAS Group for similar or
comparable properties, the reliability and standard
service fee scale charged by the relevant member
of MAS Group for the same or similar property
related services. In any event, the rentals or service
fees chargeable by the relevant member of MAS
Group under any separate sub-lease agreement or
service agreement shall be on normal commercial
terms and not less favourable than those offered by
the relevant member of MAS Group to independent
customers in similar transactions.

The annual caps, which represent the total value
of right-of-use assets relating to leases to be
entered into by the Group and the service fees
charged for any services incidental to such leased
properties in each year under the Lease Related
MOU for each of the year ended 31 December
2023 and years ending 31 December 2024 and
2025 are US$15,930,000, US$18,355,000 and
US$21,596,000 respectively. For the year ended
31 December 2023, the rental and service fees
payment made by Trischel to MAS Group pursuant
to the above Lease Related MOU amounted to
US$5,561,089. As at 31 December 2023, the
balance of right-of-use assets leased under the
Lease Related MOU amounted to US$2,407,381.
Trischel is indirectly held as to 51% by the Group
and as to 49% by MAS Capital. Accordingly, MAS
Fabric Park are connected persons of the Company
at the subsidiary level under Rule 14A.06(9) of
the Listing Rules. Further details of the Lease
Related MOU were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 19 December 2022.
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Purchase of goods and services from MAS Group

On 19 December 2022, to ensure the continuous
provision of shared services and supply of products
by MAS Group to Trischel, Trischel entered into a
purchase framework agreement (the “Purchase
Framework Agreement”) with MAS Capital for a
term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

Trischel (as a service recipient or purchaser) and the
relevant member of MAS Group (as service provider
or supplier) will enter into a definitive agreement or
purchase order in relation to the provision of shared
services and the supply of products by/from MAS
Group from time to time in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the Purchase Framework
Agreement. The prices or fees to be charged by
MAS Group in respect of the provision of shared
services and the supply of products under each
definitive agreement or purchase order shall be
negotiated at arm’s length basis and determined
with reference to the following pricing basis: (i)
the standard charging rate or selling price (where
applicable) adopted by the relevant member of MAS
Group in respect of the particular type of shared
services or products, which should be equally
applicable to Trischel and all other third parties;
or (i) where there is no such standard charging
rate or selling price applicable to a particular type
of shared service or product, the charging rate or
selling price for such shared service or product shall
be determined with reference to the operation costs
incurred by the relevant member of MAS Group for
supplying such service or product plus a reasonable
percentage mark-up which shall be negotiated
between the parties at arm’s length basis with
reference to the market rate/price in respect of the
same or similar service or product provided by other
comparable service providers or suppliers in Sri
Lanka (having regard to the size, quality of service
or product, reputation, etc.) and the historical rate/
price in respect of the same shared service or
product provided by MAS Group; and the charging
rates and selling prices for shared services and
products to be provided by MAS Group to Trischel
under the Purchase Framework Agreement shall
be fair and reasonable and on normal commercial
terms and not less favourable than those offered
by MAS Group to independent customers in similar
transactions and in compliance with the then
applicable requirements under the Listing Rules.
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The annual caps for the transaction amounts under
the Purchase Framework Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was US$5,681,000
and for the financial years ending 31 December
2024 and 2025 shall be US$6,605,000 and
US$7,755,000 respectively. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the total amount paid
by Trischel to MAS Group under the Purchase
Framework Agreement amounted to approximately
US$2,003,431.

Trischel is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company in which 51% is indirectly owned
by the Company and 49% is owned by MAS
Capital. Accordingly, MAS Capital, as a substantial
shareholder of Trischel, is a connected person of
the Company at the subsidiary level under Rule
14A.06(9) of the Listing Rules.

Further details of the Purchase Framework
Agreement were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 19 December 2022.

Independent non-executive Directors’ confirmation

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the aforementioned continuing connected transactions
conducted during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
confirmed that such transactions have been entered into:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;
(b) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are

not sufficient comparable transactions to judge
whether they are on normal commercial terms, on
terms no less favourable to the Group than terms
available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement
governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.
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Review by the Company’s auditor

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the
Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Based on the work performed, the auditor of the
Company confirmed to the Board that nothing has come
to their attention that the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions:

1. have not been approved by the Board;

2. in all material respects, were not in accordance with
the pricing policy of the Group;

& have not been entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and

4, have exceeded the relevant cap.

Our auditor has issued its unmodified independent
assurance report on continuing connected transactions of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 on pages
56 to 65 of this annual report in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the independent
assurance report has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange.
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Confirmation by the Company

The Company has followed the pricing policies and
guidelines as stated in the announcement and circular
(if any) of the aforementioned continuing connected
transactions when determining the price and terms of the
transactions conducted for the year ended 31 December
2023.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) was
established by the Board with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 (previously known
as Appendix 14) to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Cheung Yat Ming, Mr. Ding and Mr. Kuo . Mr.
Cheung Yat Ming is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
from pages 79 to 100 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was
held by the public as at the latest practicable date prior to
the issue of this report.
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DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21
OF THE LISTING RULES

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
15 June 2020, the Company (as guarantor) and its six
wholly-owned subsidiaries (as borrowers) entered into a
facility agreement (the “Facility Agreement”) with certain
pbanks in Hong Kong for a syndicated loan comprising
HK$1.8 billion equivalent multicurrency term loan and
revolving credit facilities, with a maturity of 42 months
from the date of first drawdown of the term loan facility.
The Facility Agreement contains specific performance
obligations on Mr. Lu, the controlling shareholder of the
Company, requiring that he shall at all times:

i) maintain, directly or indirectly, at least 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company and that such
issued share capital shall remain unencumbered;

(ii) be the single largest shareholder of the Company;
(iii) be the Chairman of the Board of the Company; and

(iv) maintain control over the management and business
of the borrowers, the Company and the material
subsidiaries.

As of the date of this annual report, Mr. Lu is an executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board as well as the
controlling shareholder of the Company, holding direct and
indirect interests in 640,500,000 shares of the Company,
representing approximately 61.59% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of this report, and is
treated as the single largest shareholder of the Company.

Pursuant to the Facility Agreement, if Mr. Lu breaches
any of his specific performance covenants as mentioned
above, the borrowers shall prepay the syndicated loan
together with the interests and all other amounts accrued in
connection therewith in full within 21 days (or such longer
period as the borrowers and the agent of the syndicated
loan may agree) from the date of the notice delivered by
the agent to the borrowers.

The loan under the Facility Agreement has been repaid in
full in installments and was fully repaid in September 2023.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which he/she may incur
or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Group throughout the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Group had no
other significant events after 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will be
submitted at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the independent auditor of
the Company.

By order of the Board
Lu Yuguang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESERSREEEBBHN

Below are the biographical details of Directors and senior
management of the Group as at 31 December 2023:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Yuguang (E/83¢), aged 58, is the Chairman of
the Company. He was appointed as a Director on 14
June 2013 and re-designated as an executive Director
of the Company on 21 January 2014. Mr. Lu is also the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee”). Mr. Lu has approximately
twenty-nine years of experience in the textile industry and
he formulates overall management plans and oversees
the strategic business development of the Group. He is
currently the legal representative and the chairman of
Dongguan NHE, the chairman of the board of directors of
Dongguan BPT and a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group. Mr. Lu first started to engage in the textile industry
in August 1994 when he was a chairman of Dongguan
Runda Elastic Weaving Company Limited (“Dongguan
Runda”), a company engaged in the manufacturing,
production and sale of elastic webbing. Throughout
the years, Mr. Lu has been an active entrepreneur in
Dongguan City and Guangdong Province. Mr. Lu has been
a member of the Dongguan High-Tech Industry Association
(M EF T EZTE) since July 2009 and had been
a committee member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of the Dongguan Municipal (5
E=EWMKHZESE) from December 2011 to December
2021. Since July 2017 and April 2017, Mr. Lu has been
appointed as the president of Dongguan City MaChong
Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment (5R5E
TN B D E W EHUED €) and a managing director of
World Dongguan Entrepreneurs Federation (it 57 5e Bt &
) respectively. From January 2018 to December 2021,
Mr. Lu had been the vice president of the Dongguan City
Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment (
TN E P ERE). From March 2019 to May 2023,
Mr. Lu had been appointed as the vice president of the
Dongguan Trademark Brand Development Promotion
Association (REMEIRmEERRERES). In July
2009, Mr. Lu was awarded with the “Chinese Enterprise
Management Innovation Achievement Award” (9B B> 2
EIEBIFTA FLEE) by the China Academy of Management
Science (FEIE R EFEPL). Mr. Lu is the brother-
in-law of Mr. Wu and the father of Mr. Lu Libin. As at 31
December 2023, Mr. Lu was the controlling shareholder
of the Company. Details of Mr. Lu’s interests in the
share capital of the Company are set out in the section
headed “DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS - DIRECTORS’
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND/OR
DEBENTURES” in this annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. ZHANG Haitao (55/%/5), who was formerly named as
Mr. ZHANG Dahai (55 X&), aged 53, is the Chief Executive
Officer of the Group. He was appointed as a Director on 14
June 2013 and re-designated as an executive Director of
the Company on 21 January 2014. He was also appointed
as a member of the Remuneration Committee on 20 March
2018. He is currently a director and the general manager
of Dongguan BPT and Dongguan NHE and a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Zhang formulates
and executes overall corporate directions and business
strategies of the Group. He has approximately twenty-
nine years of experience in the textile industry. Mr. Zhang
has worked in the Group since February 2003 and held
the position of general manager at Dongguan BPT. Prior
to working in the Group, Mr. Zhang worked for Pioneer
Elastic Fabric (China) Company Limited (BRETsE 4444 (b
B) B[R AF]) as the business manager between March
1995 and March 1998. Between January 1998 and April
1999, and later from July 2001 to May 2010, Mr. Zhang
was the general manager of Dongguan Runda. Mr. Zhang
has been a director of the Guangdong Textiles Association
(BRA$#:#E) since November 2009 and an individual
life member of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Textiles
Limited (BB 454k €) since September 2013. Since
December 2019, Mr. Zhang has been the Vice Chairman
of The Hong Kong Intimate Apparel Industries’ Association
Ltd. Mr. Zhang completed a fashion technology course
at Beijing Institute of Fashion Technology (3t RARE £
Fx) in July 1992 and further obtained a master degree in
software systems at the University of St. Thomas in the
U.S. in May 2001. Mr. Zhang is the spouse of Ms. Zheng,
the Chief Operating Officer and an executive Director of
the Company. As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Zhang was
interested in the shares of the Company, details of which
are set out in the section headed “DISCLOSURE OF
INTERESTS — DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND/OR DEBENTURES” in this
annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESERSREEEBBHN

Mr. WU Shaolun (2 2 f@), aged 59, is an executive
Director of the Company. He was appointed as a Director
on 14 June 2013 and re-designated as an executive
Director of the Company on 21 January 2014. He is
currently a director and the deputy general manager of
Dongguan BPT and Dongguan NHE, and a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Wu is principally
responsible for the Group’s infrastructure and the general
management of Dongguan BPT and Dongguan NHE. He
has over twenty-eight years of experience in the textile
industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wu worked in
Dongguan Runda as the deputy general manager from
April 1995 to May 2010. Since February 2003, Mr. Wu
has been the deputy general manager of Dongguan BPT.
In addition, he has been the deputy general manager of
Dongguan NHE since 2010. Mr. Wu has been a member
of the Dongguan High-tech Industry Association (e
SETEMIEXE) since July 2009 and a director of the
Dongguan City Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment GREMYMNEIRE R E =) since November
2013. Mr. Wu is the brother-in-law of Mr. Lu and the
uncle of Mr. Lu Libin. As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Wu
was interested in the shares of the Company, details of
which are set out in the section headed “DISCLOSURE
OF INTERESTS - DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND/OR DEBENTURES” in this
annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. ZHENG Tingting (£f%=%%), aged 48, is an executive
Director of the Company, the Chief Operating Officer and
vice-president (marketing) of the Group and a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. She is responsible
for the overall operations, manufacturing and developing
and implementing the sales and marketing strategies of
the Group. Prior to joining the Group in December 2006,
Ms. Zheng joined the Guangzhou office of Parker Pen
(Shanghai) Limited as a sourcing specialist in January
2004. In December 2006, Ms. Zheng joined Dongguan
Runda and worked as the vice-president when she left
in May 2010. Since May 2010, she has joined Dongguan
NHE in the same capacity. Also, starting from December
2006, Ms. Zheng worked as a sales manager in Dongguan
BPT. In December 2008, she was promoted as the vice-
president (marketing) of the Group. Ms. Zheng has been
promoted as the chief operating officer of the Group since
1 September 2014. Ms. Zheng graduated from the English
department of Xi’an Translation College (FAZ &5 7
Ef7) in the PRC in June 1996. Subsequently in January
2017, she graduated from the Northwestern University
and The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a master’s degree in business administration. Ms.
Zheng is the spouse of Mr. Zhang, the Chief Executive
Officer and an executive Director of the Company. As at 31
December 2023, Ms. Zheng was interested in the shares
of the Company, details of which are set out in the section
headed “DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS - DIRECTORS’
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND/OR
DEBENTURES” in this annual report.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESERSREEEBBHN

Mr. CHAN Yiu Sing ((R#2£), aged 44, is an executive
Director of the Company, the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the Group and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chan is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting, budgeting
control, financing and fund management, as well as
ensuring and maintaining the standards of corporate
governance of the Group. Mr. Chan has extensive
experience in audit, investment, accounting and finance.
He joined an international audit firm in February 2006 and
was a manager of such audit firm until May 2012 prior to
joining the Group in February 2013. Since August 2022,
Mr. Chan has been an independent director of Magic
Empire Global Limited, a company listed on the National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations
(Stock Code: MEGL). Mr. Chan graduated from the
University of New South Wales in Australia with a master’s
degree in commerce in June 2005 and a bachelor’s
degree in accounting and finance in October 2003. He is
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Chan
was interested in the shares of the Company, details of
which are set out in the section headed “DISCLOSURE
OF INTERESTS - DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND/OR DEBENTURES” in this
annual report.

Mr. LU Libin (E37#), aged 30, is an executive Director
of the Company and has been the Chief Strategy Officer
of the Group since June 2019. Mr. Lu Libin is primarily
responsible for assisting the Board in formulating future
development strategies and directions for the Group.
Mr. Lu Libin joined the Group as the sales manager in
June 2017, and was responsible for coordinating various
departments and operations across different countries.
Since October 2021, Mr. Lu Libin has been the vice
president of Dongguan Dongcheng Young Entrepreneurs
Association (e B EF D EKHE). Since December
2021, Mr. Lu Libin has been a committee member of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of
the Dungguan Municipal GRZEm B %% & €). Since June
2022, Mr. Lu Libin has been the managing dlrector of
World Dongguan Entrepreneurs Federation (it 5RZepgita
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lu Libin worked as an
associate in the investment banking division at BOCOM
International (Asia) Limited from January 2016 to May
2017. Mr. Lu Libin obtained his bachelor’s degree in
finance from the University of Connecticut in the United
States of America in January 2016. Mr. Lu Libin is the
son of Mr. Lu, the Chairman and an executive Director of
the Company, and the nephew of Mr. Wu, an executive
Director of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Yat Ming (58 — &), who was formerly
named as Mr. CHEUNG Yiu Tai (5R#%g), aged 55, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company on 8 May 2014. He is also the chairman
of the Audit Committee, and a member of both the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. He has extensive experience in the fields
of investment, real estate and property market research,
corporate finance and auditing. Prior to joining the Group,
he was a staff accountant and semi-senior accountant
at Arthur Andersen & Co. in Hong Kong and China
from August 1991. In August 1994, he joined Citicorp
Commercial Finance (HK) Limited as an administration and
accounting manager and was promoted with Citibank’s
corporate title of assistant vice-president in September
1996. In October 1997, he joined Salomon Brothers Hong
Kong Limited as an equity research associate. He joined
Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette as a research associate in
its equity department in May 1999. In November 2000, he
joined HSBC Markets (Asia) Limited as its head of Hong
Kong and China property research. In 2005, he joined
Cohen & Steers Asia Limited as an executive director and
a vice-president in its investment research department and
was promoted in January 2007 as a senior vice-president
and Asia Pacific chief investment officer. In June 2009,
he joined DBS Vickers (Hong Kong) Limited as its head
of research. From August 2011 to June 2013, he worked
as the chief investment officer of Neutron Greater China
Equity Long/Short Fund as managed by Neutron INV
Partners Limited. From June 2013 to February 2020, he
worked as the executive director, chief executive officer
and responsible officer of New Century Asset Management
Limited, which is the manager of New Century Real
Estate Investment Trust, a REIT previously listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1275). From February
2020 to March 2020, he served as the chief executive
officer of FEC Hospitality REIT Pte. Ltd. Since 17 March
2020, he has been the chief executive officer of Neutron
Pacific Limited. Since 20 August 2021, he has been the
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responsible officer of Win Full Investment Management
Group Limited. He became a certified public accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in January 1995, a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in September 1999 and a fellow
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales in September 2017. In June 2010, he
received the Outstanding Chinese Business Leader Award
(Fh 4t H Ra 48 1 28) from the HongQi (ATjEE TIl) and
China Report ([ #i&). He graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s degree in
accountancy in November 1991.

Mr. Cheung Yat Ming was appointed as a director of
Neutron Greater China Equity Long/Short Fund, an
exempted limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 11 June 2010 to conduct securities investment
business. The company had ceased to trade and was
not in operation, had no assets, nor liabilities to creditors,
shareholders or any other third party at the time when
he was one of the directors of the company, and the
shareholders of the company believed that it was for
the best interests of the company to be struck off from
the register of companies in the Cayman Islands. The
company was subsequently struck off from the register
on 31 December 2013. He was also a director of Neutron
Capital Management Ltd., an exempted limited company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 11 June 2010 to
conduct securities investment business. The company had
ceased to trade and was not in operation, it also had no
assets, nor liabilities to creditors, shareholders or any other
third party at the time when he was one of the directors
of the company, and the shareholders of the company
believed that it was for the best interests of the company to
be struck off from the register of companies in the Cayman
Islands. The company was subsequently struck off from
the register of companies in the Cayman Islands on 31
December 2013.
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Mr. DING Baoshan (T E|Ll), aged 60, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company on
8 May 2014. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of both the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Ding was an executive director of
Denway Motors Limited from 2000 to 2007, which was
initially listed on the Stock Exchange but was delisted in
2010 upon its privatisation. Starting from July 2000, Mr.
Ding also worked as the chief economist and the deputy
general manager of Guangzhou Automobile Industry Group
Company Limited (/N /58 L% B AR A F]), managing
various departments until October 2007. Starting from
2008, he was the general manager of Beijing Shengshi
Huaxuan Investment Company Limited (1f 7%t ZE# 15 E
AR A7) until June 2015. Mr. Ding has also taken up the
position as the chairman and an executive director of Pizu
Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 8053) since December 2012, and
subsequently resigned as the chairman on 15 November
2016, and later resigned as the executive director on
9 January 2019. From March 2015 to April 2021, Mr.
Ding had been an independent director of Shanxi Guoxin
Energy Corporation Limited (Ll 784 BET 8RR A
al), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(Stock code: 600617). Since June 2021, Mr. Ding has
been an independent director of Shanxi Blue Flame
Holding Company Limited (1L 78 & 1G1E AR BBR AR, a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 000968). Since November 2023, Mr. Ding has been
an independent director of Shanxi Linhai Co., Ltd. (#£/&
I EFR AT, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 600099). Mr. Ding graduated
from the Beijing Iron and Steel Institute (1t 72§ £2px)
with a bachelor’s degree in mining machinery in July 1985.
In June 1988, Mr. Ding completed a master’s degree in
engineering at Beijing University of Science and Technology
JEREHE K E) in the PRC. Mr. Ding graduated from China
Social Science Institute (B4t & F12Fx) with a doctorate
degree in economics in July 1991.
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Mr. KUO Dah Chih, Stanford (2 A%), aged 63, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company on 28 May 2021. He is also a member
of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Kuo has
extensive experience in the textile and apparel industry.
Since 1982, Mr. Kuo has served as a managing director
of Gunzetal Limited, which is a leading worldwide supplier
of high quality thread products to the apparel and non-
apparel industry. By engaging in product development with
retailers, Gunzetal Limited is a vertically integrated thread
producer which provides spinning, dyeing, finishing, and
direct distribution to the end sewing users. Since 1982, he
has also served as a managing director of Woodard Textile
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. which is a leading worldwide
supplier of high quality yarn and thread products to
the apparel and non-apparel industry. In 2010, he was
appointed as a member of the Executive Committee of
Sustainable Fashion Business Consortium. From 2012 to
2022, Mr. Kuo was appointed as a member of the Board
of Trustees at Deerfield Academy (USA). From 2015 to
2022, he has served as the vice-chairman of Federation
of HK Jiangsu Community Organizations. Since 2015, he
had been serving the General Committee of the Federation
of Hong Kong Industries and as the chairman of Group
17 (Spinning). In 2016, Mr. Kuo was appointed as the
chairman of The Hong Kong Cotton Spinners Association
and a member of the School Committee of Diocesan Boys’
School. In 2017, Mr. Kuo was appointed as a member of
the General Committee of Textile Council of Hong Kong.
In 2019, he was elected as the vice-chairman of the Hong
Kong Intimate Apparel Industries’ Association. From 2019
to 2022, Mr. Kuo was a member of the Vocational Training
Council Fashion and Textile Training Board. In 2020, he
was appointed as a member of the Board of Directors
(Class B) of The Hong Kong Research Institute of Textiles
and Apparel Limited and a director of the Diocesan
Boys’ School Foundation Limited and the convenor of
Endowment & Administration Sub-Committee. Mr. Kuo
obtained both of his bachelor’s degree in management
and his bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering from
Massachusetts Institute of Technology in the United States
of America in 1982.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance which is essential for the
sustainable development and growth of the Company.
The Board is of the view that the Company has met all
the applicable code provisions in force set out in the CG
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Reporting Period”).

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 (previously known as Appendix 10) to the
Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors of the
Company and the Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code throughout the Reporting
Period.

The Company has also established a code no less
exacting than the Model Code for securities transactions
by senior management who are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price-sensitive or inside information of the
Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Board comprises
nine members, consisting of six executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lu (Chairman of the Board), Mr. Zhang (Chief
Executive Officer), Mr. Wu, Ms. Zheng (Chief Operating
Officer), Mr. Chan (Chief Financial Officer and Company
Secretary) and Mr. Lu Libin (Chief Strategy Officer), and
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Cheung Yat Ming, Mr. Ding and Mr. Kuo.

The biographical information of the Directors as well as the
relationships between the members of the Board are set
out on pages 70 to 78 of this annual report.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are
held by Mr. Lu and Mr. Zhang respectively. The Chairman
provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. The Chief
Executive Officer focuses on the Company’s business
development and daily management and operations
generally. Their respective responsibilities are clearly
defined and set out in writing.

Independent non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of
the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Retirement

A person may be appointed as a member of the Board at
any time either by the shareholders in general meeting or
by the Board upon recommendation by the Nomination
Committee.

According to the Articles, the Board has the power from
time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as
an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
until the first general meeting of shareholders after his/
her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election. Besides, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least
once every three years.
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Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company, and each of the independent
non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment
with the Company. All Directors are appointed for a specific
term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election in accordance with the Articles.

Pursuant to the aforesaid provisions in the Articles, Mr.
Chan, Mr. Ding and Mr. Kuo will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM. All the above Directors, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company and oversees the Group’s businesses,
strategic decisions and performance and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. Directors of the Board
take decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company as well as the services
and advice from the company secretary and senior
management. The Directors may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of
other offices held by them and the Board regularly reviews
the contribution required from each Director to perform his
responsibilities to the Company.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters
relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and
other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Company should be
responsible for arranging and funding suitable training,
placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions
and duties of a listed company director. The Company
updates Directors on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements
from time to time, in order to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. The Company also arranges suitable professional
development seminars and courses for the Directors.
For instance, every newly appointed Director will receive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure a proper understanding of the business and
operations of the Company, as well as full awareness of
Directors’ responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

The Directors informed the Company that they had

received sufficient and relevant training and continuous
professional development during the Reporting Period.
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Records of training by the Directors are maintained by the
company secretary. Training records of Directors in 2023
are as follows:

SRERRE

EERINEIICEARRNERT - ES
R-ZF-_=FrEIIReEmT

Directors Type of trainings
& S|
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Lu Yuguang EEAEE A&B
Mr. Zhang Haitao SRR E A&B
Mr. Wu Shaolun RbmEkaE A&B
Ms. Zheng Tingting Bl g 2+ A&B
Mr. Chan Yiu Sing PRI 2 ST A B&C
Mr. Lu Libin EWRE A&B
Independent non-executive Directors BIAFHITES

Mr. Cheung Yat Ming RIS AL A B&C
Mr. Ding Baoshan TEWLLE A B&C
Mr. Kuo Dah Chih, Stanford BARBELE A, B&C
A: reading materials relating to the Group, general business, A: MEEMAER - —MFEE - EHRANSEE

latest development of the Listing Rules and other applicable
legal and regulatory requirements

B: attending a training session on directors’ duties and latest
development of the Listing Rules conducted by legal advisers
of the Company

C: attending briefings, seminars, webinar or training courses

BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

Under code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the Board
should meet regularly and Board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals and under code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code,
the chairman of the Board should at least annually hold
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other Directors.

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings were
held. In addition, the Chairman held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of other Directors.
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A tentative schedule for regular Board meetings will be
provided to the Directors at the beginning of the year. At
least 14 days’ notice for all regular Board meetings will be
given to all Directors and all Directors must be given the
opportunity to include items or businesses for discussion
in the agenda. For all other Board meetings, reasonable
notice will be given. Relevant agenda and accompanying
Board papers will be sent to all Directors at least three
working days in advance of every regular Board meeting.

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders
upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee
are independent non-executive Directors and the list of the
chairman and members of each Board committee is set
out under “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this annual
report.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 8 May
2014 in compliance with Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing
Rules. The Audit Committee has three members, namely,
Mr. Cheung Yat Ming, Mr. Ding and Mr. Kuo and is chaired
by Mr. Cheung Yat Ming.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems
and procedures, audit plan and relationship with external
auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the
Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters of the Company.
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The full terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held
three meetings for the purpose of, among other matters,
to review annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022, the interim results of the Group for
the six months ended 30 June 2023 and significant issues
on the financial reporting and compliance procedures, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of
the Company’s internal audit function, and arrangements
for stakeholders to raise concerns about possible
improprieties.

The external auditors attended all the above meetings to
discuss with the Audit Committee on issues arising from
the audit and financial reporting matters.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee
on 8 May 2014 in compliance with Rules 3.25 and 3.26 of
the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee has three
members, namely Mr. Ding, Mr. Zhang and Mr. Cheung
Yat Ming and is chaired by Mr. Ding.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee
include reviewing and making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, considering
and approving the grant of award shares and share
options to eligible participants pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme, the Share Option Scheme and the New Share
Option Scheme, the remuneration policy and structure
for all Directors and senior management, and establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration
policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any
of his associates will participate in deciding his own
remuneration.

The full terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
met one time for the purpose of, among other matters,
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration policy, structure, the remuneration
packages of all Directors and senior management and
other related matters. The Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the terms of the New Share Option Scheme and
the Share Award Scheme and was of the view that: (a)
there are certain instances where a strict twelve (12)-month
vesting requirement would not work or would not be fair
under the New Share Option Scheme and the Share Award
Scheme; (b) there is a need for the Company to retain
flexibility to reward exceptional performers with accelerated
vesting or in exceptional circumstances where justified;
and (c) the Company should be allowed discretions to
formulate its own talent recruitment and retention strategies
in response to changing market conditions and industry
competition, and thus should have the flexibility to impose
vesting conditions such as performance-based vesting
conditions instead of time-based vesting criteria depending
on individual circumstances. Hence, the Remuneration
Committee is of the view that a shorter vesting period was
in line with the market practice and is appropriate and
aligns with the purpose of the New Share Option Scheme
and the Share Award Scheme.

The details of the remuneration paid to the Directors for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the emoluments of every executive Director,
who are the Company’s senior management, which are
required to be disclosed pursuant to code provision E.1.5
of the CG Code are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on
8 May 2014 in compliance Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules.
The Nomination Committee has three members, namely
Mr. Lu, Mr. Cheung Yat Ming and Mr. Ding and is chaired
by Mr. Lu.
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The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the Board composition, developing and
formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and
appointment of Directors, making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and succession planning of
Directors, and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

The procedures and criteria for the Nomination Committee
to select and recommend candidates for being appointed
as Directors are summarised below:

(@)

diversity in all aspects, including but not limited
to skills, knowledge, gender, age, ethnicity,
cultural and educational background, professional
experience and other personal qualities of the
candidate;

ability to exercise sound business judgment and
possess proven achievement and experience in
directorship including effective oversight of and
guidance to management;

commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient
time for the proper discharge of the duties of a
Director;

potential/actual conflicts of interest that may arise if
the candidate is selected;

independence of the independent non-executive
director candidates as required under the Listing
Rules;

in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an
independent non-executive Director, the number of
years he/she has already served; and

identifying any persons who may be suitable and
qualified to become members of the Board and
select, or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of, any persons nominated for
directorships.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would take into account various aspects set
out in the Board diversity policy, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of services. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. A summary of the Company’s
board diversity policy is set out on pages 94 to 95 of this
annual report.

The full terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee
met one time for the purpose of, among other matters,
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board.
The Nomination Committee considered the diversity of
the Board is appropriate and considered the features or
mechanism under the Board and governance structure are
effective in ensuring that independent views and input are
available to the Board.

Corporate Governance

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set
out in the code provision A.2 of the CG Code.

The Company has formulated a comprehensive corporate
governance manual containing various policies and
procedures governing the functioning of the Board
and its committees, appraisal and remuneration, risk
management, financial reporting, conflict of interest,
connected transactions, shareholders’ communication and
other aspects of corporate governance and management
of the Company.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS
AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and
Board committee meetings and general meetings of the
Company held during the Reporting Period is as follows:

TEERBME

ESNZEEEREERLFELCE

REEFHENREHBEANGHNARRRES
SrREZEZEeeBMERASNEELT

Meetings attended/Meetings held

HEERNE FRETRE

Annual

general Nomination = Remuneration Audit
Name of Directors meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
EEpnA BRRBFAS - REEZES FMEEE ERZEE.
Lu Yuguang 1/1 4/4 1/1 N/A T A N/A i A
Bk
Zhang Haitao 1/1 4/4 N/A i A 1/1 N/A i A
REE
Wu Shaolun 1/1 4/4 N/A TNEH N/A TNE A N/A TNEH
R M
Zheng Tingting 1/1 4/4 N/A i A N/A i A N/A i A
HEE
Chan Yiu Sing 1/1 4/4 N/A i A N/A i A N/A i A
fRIRE
Lu Libin 1/1 4/4 N/A @A N/A i A N/A N A
B
Cheung Yat Ming 1/1 4/4 1/1 1/1 3/3
K—I5
Ding Baoshan 1/1 4/4 1/ 1/1 3/3
TEWL
Kuo Dah Chih, Stanford 1/1 4/4 N/A 3@ A N/A TiEHA 3/3
ZBARB

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
on pages 101 to 107 of this annual report.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Company has engaged Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as its auditor for the financial year. The Audit Committee
reviews and monitors the auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit processes
in accordance with applicable standards. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu has confirmed its independence as
the Company’s auditor having regard to its policies,
professional rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Meeting between the Audit Committee and the auditor was
held for reviewing the audit plan whereby the nature and
scope of audit and reporting obligations were discussed
with and approved by the Audit Committee before
commencing the audit work for the financial year.

In addition, any services which may be considered to be
in conflict with the role of the auditor must be submitted
to the Audit Committee for approval prior to engagement,
regardless of the amounts involved. There must be clear
efficiencies and value-added benefits to the Group from
the services being provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
with no adverse effect on the independence of their audit
work, or the perception of such independence.

AUDITOR’ S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit services (mainly for audit of
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 and interim review of the condensed consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2023) and non-audit services (mainly for
services required by Listing Rules and tax compliance
services) for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted
to approximately HK$2,807,000 and approximately
HK$352,000 respectively.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Group has in place the sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and assets of the Group.
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.
Such risks would include, amongst others, material risks
relating to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”).

The internal control systems of the Company are as
follows:

Control structure

A. The Board

l. ensure the maintenance of appropriate and
effective systems in order to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and assets of the
Company;

Il. define management structure with clear lines
of responsibility and limit of authority; and

Il determine the nature and extent of significant
risk that the Company is willing to take
in achieving the strategic objectives and
formulate the Company’s risk management
strategies.

B. Audit Committee

l. assist the Board in leading the management
of the Company (the “Management”) and
overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the systems of the Company;

Il. review and discuss with the Management
annually to ensure that the Management has
performed its duty to have effective systems;
and

M. consider major findings on internal control
matters and make recommendations to the
Board.
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C. The Management

l. design, implement and monitor the systems
properly and ensure the systems are
executed effectively;

Il. monitor risks and take measures to mitigate
risks in day-to-day operations;

M. give prompt responses to, and follow up on
the findings on internal control matters; and

V. provide confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the systems.

D. Internal Audit Function

l. carry out the analysis and independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the systems.

Control approach

The risk management process includes risk identification,
risk evaluation and risk management measures and also
reviewing the effectiveness of the systems and resolving
material internal control defects.

The Management conducted reviews on the business
operations and processes, reviewing relevant
documentation of the internal control system, identifying
and evaluating findings of any deficiencies in the design
of the Company’s internal control systems, providing
recommendations for improvement and following up
on the effectiveness of the implementation of such
recommendations, where appropriate. The scope and
findings of review on the risk management and internal
control are reported to and reviewed by the Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines are in
place to safeguard the assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting
records in compliance with the applicable laws, rules and
regulations for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use and/or external publication.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZ2ERERERAT

C BEE
L BERH EBREEZSER
G - AREIRLS RV AR
7

Il ERRERIRBGEREER RS
ERR

.  HEBEAPEHEE 2EBREDL
KB O] N BRAE K

V. MRERSZERMEREESER

R -

D AESEERE
L HRSRAZERERANIES
1T RIBLRPA °

BRI E

[\ E IR 2 F B AR R Rl LR A S A
REEEE - RN ZERENE ML R#
IRE RN EBIEHIERK

EEEREHEERREETRS FHRA
R Z A AR B S - BB R EHE AR RN
IS RARET TR R TR - kS
REEEZZNBEEHREBHERERS
BRE(REA) - HRRE R R AZBIESIE
HHESEErRGEREREBE_S_=F+_A
S+ —HALFEANERBEZZESUKLHESE
Fﬁj o

il TE A2 Fr T S s& 1B 46 5| PAMRIE R IR A
RRERE  MEBRBERER RAK
EREFTEE SR RLE - MR EMBE
R AER A K, SR IM B



Corporate Governance Report

The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. From time to time and at least
once a year, the Board reviews the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the
Group in order to ensure that they meet with the dynamic
and ever changing business environment as well as the
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Under Code Provision D.2.5, the Group should have
an internal audit function. The Group conducted an
annual review on the need for setting up an internal audit
department. Given the Group’s simple operating structure,
instead of setting up an internal audit department, the
annual review on the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group has been conducted by
an independent audit firm and reported to the Audit
Committee members. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Audit Committee, with reference to and based
on the internal audit report issued by the independent
audit firm, conducted a review on the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions, adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting, internal control and financial reporting
functions, as well as those relating to ESG performance
and reporting, and training programmes and budget.
The Board has considered and discussed the internal
audit report issued by the independent audit firm, the
work conducted by the independent audit firm, the Audit
Committee’s view on the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and their effectiveness. The Board
and the Audit Committee are satisfied with the adequacy
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control of the Group.
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DIVERSITY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) on 23 May 2014. A summary of this Diversity
Policy, together with the measurable objectives set for
implementing this policy, and the progress made towards
achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will report annually, in the
corporate governance report, on the Board’s composition
under diversified perspectives, and monitor the
implementation of the Diversity Policy.

As at 31 December 2023, the Board’s diversified
composition was summarized as follows:

Female (1) Z (1)

Independent
non-executive directors (3)

BIUFFHTEEQ)

EEUA

Executive Directors (6)

Number of Directors

HITEE()

Designation Gender
k 3]
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
nine Directors. Three of them are independent non-
executive Directors who do not have any executive or
management role in the Company nor have they been
under the employment of any member of the Group,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board, after considering the
Nomination Committee’s view, considers that independent
views and inputs in relation to the Company’s affairs have
been maintained. The Board is also characterised by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of gender,
age, experience, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service.

The Board currently has one female member. The Board
targets to maintain at least the current level of female
representation at all times for the next 5 years, unless
the Listing Rules require otherwise. In considering the
Board’s succession, the Nomination Committee would
engage independent professional search firm(s) to help
identify potential candidates for Non-executive Directors,
as and when appropriate. The Board will continue to
take opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members over time as and when suitable candidates are
identified.

Gender Ratio in the Workforce

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of
9,604 full-time employees (including senior management).
Among which, approximately 62.0% were male employees
and approximately 38.0% were female employees. The
Board considers that gender diversity in the workforce has
been maintained. The Group is determined to maintain
gender diversity and equality in terms of the whole
workforce and will also ensure that there is gender diversity
when recruiting staff and is committed to provide career
development opportunities for all staff. The Board expects
the above is achievable with suitable effort in promoting
the gender diversity culture, which the Group has been
advocating for so. Further details on the information on
the Group’s employees will be disclosed in the Group’s
Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023, to be
separately published by the Company.
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COMPANY’S CULTURE

Our core value “Built on Innovation and Technology”
remained the foundation and the vision of the Group. We
deliver innovative and sustainable supply chain solutions
to enrich our customers’ vision and proposition, from
ideation to finished product, we understand what it takes
to add value every step of the way. Built on innovation
and technology, we ensure safety, quality and efficiency,
we think responsibly and act sustainably. Discussion on
(i) the link between corporate culture and the Company’s
business objectives; (i) the implementation of the desired
corporate culture into the Company’s daily operations;
and (iii) an assessment of the progress and success of
such implementation will be provided in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2023 which will be
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Yiu Sing, the Company Secretary appointed by
the Board, is a full-time employee of the Company; and
in the opinion of the Board, possesses the necessary
qualifications and experience, and is capable of performing
the functions of a company secretary. During the Reporting
Period, Mr. Chan has taken not less than 15 hours of
professional training. The Company will continue to provide
funds for Mr. Chan to take not less than 15 hours of
appropriate professional training in each financial year, as
required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY AND
PROCEDURES

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong and the Listing Rules and the
overriding principle that inside information should be
announced as soon as reasonably possible when it is the
subject of a decision. The procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information are
as follows:

(@ the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to
the disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules
as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

(b) the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy
on fair disclosure by pursuing broad, nonexclusive
distribution of information to the public through
channels such as financial reporting, public
announcements and its website; and

(c) the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use
of confidential or inside information.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business
performance and strategies. The Company also recognises
the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
its corporate information, which enables shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decision.

The Company maintains a website at www.bestpacific.com
as a communication platform with shareholders and
investors, where information and updates on the Group’s
business developments and operations and other
information are available for public access.
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Enquiries and suggestions from shareholders or investors
to the Board are welcomed by mail to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at 38th Floor, No.
9 Wing Hong Street, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong
or via email to ir@bestpacific.com for the attention of the
Investor Relations Department. Inquiries are dealt with in
an informative and timely manner.

Besides, shareholders’ meetings provide an opportunity for
communication between the Board and the shareholders.
It is the Company’s general practice that the Chairman of
the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee,
or in their absence, their duly appointed delegates, who are
members of the relevant committees, will be available to
answer questions at the general meetings of the Company.
In addition, the Company will invite representatives of the
auditor to attend its annual general meeting to answer
shareholders’ questions about the conduct of the audit,
the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and the independence of the auditor.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication
policy. Having considered the multiple channels of
communication and engagement in place, it is satisfied
that the Shareholder’s communication policy has been
implemented during the Reporting Period and is effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on
each substantial issue, including the election of individual
Director, for shareholders’ consideration and voting. The
Company’s shareholders may convene an extraordinary
general meeting (the “EGM”) or put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings as follows:

(1) Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company may request the Board
to convene an EGM pursuant to Article 58 of the
Articles by sending a written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong. The
purpose of requiring such general meeting must be
stated in the written requisition.

2 If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other
than a retiring Director for election as a Director of
the Company at a general meeting, pursuant to
Article 85 of the Articles, the shareholder (other than
the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend
and vote at the general meeting shall send a written
notice, duly signed by the shareholder, of his/her
intention to propose such person for election and
also a notice signed by the person to be proposed
of his/her willingness to be elected. These notices
should be lodged at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong, or the office of the
Company’s branch share registrar. The period for
lodgement of such notices shall commence on the
day after the despatch of the notice of such general
meeting and end no later than 7 days prior to the
date of such general meeting.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must provide
their full name(s), contact details and identification, in the
originally signed written requisition, notice or statement
(as the case may be), in order to give effect thereto.
Information of shareholder(s) may be disclosed as required
by law. Shareholders may refer to the Articles for further
details of the rights of shareholders.

A\ e p o4
1F éﬂnﬂﬁ%

IRERAER

RREBCRH R MER » RARRBRERA
SN EEEEHE(RRENESHES)
REBBEBHRERUBREBRRERR -
RRABIBRAARBCRERIAS ([ RR4E 5
REDIRBRAE EIRHINT RS ¢

(1) REABIESSENEE  REZEXK
BRBE T ORARAEGBA+D 2
—HERAEBRNETSRAAME
(MU AR RRETEN T EEEME)
BHHERENR  BREFSOHBRE
RIAE - EHERPAERABZREFRK
RAEWEM -

@ REMABESSHENBRTE - MARER
RS LIRAAKREZEZAIMIA
T2EARARES - AEAFERHFE
BRAGA NS EIRFA MR (L FEHE
RESENAL)ABHLEELARE
MEEAKN  ETRAZZERLRZAL
LENER - W EFRBALRER
TREZENEM - WEBAERLE
RRREFTENEEZ XM KA AT
BIPBP BN BRAMEER ° %M
ZRXHENTEBRRRASEHAE
HTRERAMG MEEREARRAS
[ITEYACEER -

RPERE  RRLARKVREZE@H
FEBARKBRAGERTERIME)PRER
22 BESALRSNDER G UWEFEZE
M BREER AIRBEARRTE T UHRE -
BRABCREN R E — FFFE - RRA2H4
Al -

Annual Report 2023 —ZE=-=FFf

99



100

Corporate Governance Report
TEERBE

All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meetings of the
Company shall be voted by poll except where the chairman
decides to allow a resolution relating to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Articles. The poll
results shall be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after each shareholders’
meeting.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

By a special resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 27 June 2023, the
Company adopted a new set of amended and restated
memorandum of association and articles of association
to, among other things, comply with the Core Shareholder
Protection Standards set out in Appendix A1 (previously
known as Appendix 3) to the Listing Rules, reflect
certain updates in relation to the applicable laws of the
Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules and make other
housekeeping amendments.

For details, please refer to the announcement and
circular of the Company dated 27 April 2023 and the new
memorandum of association and articles of association of
the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the
constitutional documents during the year.

The latest version of the Articles of the Company is

available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
BEST PACIFIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Best Pacific International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 108 to 251, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Key audit matter

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables
as a key audit matter due to the significance of trade
receivables to the Group’s consolidated financial position
and the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the expected credit
losses (‘ECL”) of the Group’s trade receivables at the end
of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s net trade
receivables amounting to approximately HK$724.9 million
and out of these trade receivables of approximately
HK$49.5 million were past due.

As disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group identifies
trade receivables that are credit-impaired under HKFRS
9 and assesses their ECL individually. The management
of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of the
remaining trade receivables based on provision matrix
through grouping of various debtors that have similar
loss pattern, after considering internal credit ratings of
trade debtors and/or past due status of respective trade
receivables. The credit loss allowance amount is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The
assessment of credit risk of trade receivables involves high
degree of estimation uncertainty.

As disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s lifetime ECL on trade receivables
as at 31 December 2023 amounting to approximately
HK$5.7 million.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuea)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables (Continued)

How our audit address the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
trade receivables included:

o Understanding key controls on how the management
of the Group estimates the credit loss allowance for
trade receivables;

° Testing the accuracy of information used by the
management of the Group to develop the provision
matrix, including past due trade receivables as at 31
December 2023, on a sample basis, by comparing
individual items in the analysis with the relevant
sales invoices and monthly statement for sales;

° Challenging management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables as at 31 December 2023, including their
identification of credit-impaired trade receivables
which are assessed for ECL individually, the
reasonableness of management’s grouping of the
remaining trade debtors into different categories in
the provision matrix by internal credit ratings of trade
debtors and/or past due status of respective trade
receivables, and the basis of estimated loss rates
applied in each category in the provision matrix; and

° Testing subsequent settlements of trade receivables,
on a sample basis, by inspecting supporting
documents in relation to cash receipt from trade
debtors subsequent to the end of the current reporting
period.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstaterment
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continuea)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group’s audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZBEEZERER AT

ZEEN MBS M RRAEN
BEFEE)

M EBEEMRASTBRROBE I RE
SEHHETAAAE R ENS R -

HESRAFELESTEARNRE LT
e Em o IRIBFTEREHERRE - 1§
ERAFHERESEXBREANERT
FEEME - (EMmAl e SR BERENE
BRERNELBERRE - MREFR
REEERTHEEN  AEBEERH
RS iR E A E I B A MR
RREERE - REBRNEETRE
AR FIEELRMNER - ZAIGER
EENHEZBE RS B LRGN E
FHERRE © R RRFRABRAEE
B BEEETRERERLE -

AHERAMEHRRNBRINIB N - &
BMAR  BREE  URGEEHBR
KEBTHRRIAERZMER -

s BEREANERIEFEBHNNHEE
BEBGEE - EEWETRE - AHER
EUBHRERBR - RMBE BE
EFEFtE M - BEEMHAIT - HARE
AAERAERHEE -

BRPEEREERBTEANEAHE  KH
R BEAFAERRSTER BREMAERE
TR R th R BB AR Bl O (T EE AR



Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuead)

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Lee Wing Cheong, Wilfred.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
melEakHEMEENKER

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-=fF —E__F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BIaE FERT FATT
Revenue A B 4,200,707 4,492,790
Cost of sales HENA (3,197,081) (3,642,877)
Gross profit EF 1,003,626 849,913
Other income EAblUg A 7 51,416 49,425
Other gains and losses H itz R E1E 8 15,531 58,522
Net remeasurement of credit loss Z SRR IBEEEE
allowance for trade receivables BEENTT 298 36 (1,512) 2,670
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEEY (182,275) (182,788)
Administrative expenses THRAZ (302,382) (286,637)
Research and development costs g Jis (85,320) (101,178)
Share of result of a joint venture DEEEREER 2,485 2,539
Finance costs BB KA 9 (116,224) (75,794)
Profit before taxation B A5 Al Vi £ 12 385,345 316,672
Income tax expense FTiSHiA 13 (35,924) (33,194)
Profit for the year FERHN 349,421 283,478
Other comprehensive Hi2mE (k) s :
(expense) income:
ltems that may be reclassified HigrgeEso s
subsequently to profit or loss: EmmIEE ¢
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBEER
translation of foreign operations PE 5 E%E (73,902) (340,456)
Share of translation reserve of DEEELENRE
a joint venture ] (541) (873)
ltems that will not be reclassified to HEegtesasynofEiz
profit or loss: E=AIER ¢
Remeasurement of retirement RNEF B ERIERT
benefit obligations, net of tax T2 (HBRTIE) 1,106 (1,228)
Other comprehensive FREMEZEAS
expenses for the year (73,337) (342,557)
Total comprehensive income FRE2EWE (X)) EEE
(expense) for the year 276,084 (59,079)
Profit (loss) for the year DT EEEGRFAR
attributable to A (E518)
— Owners of the Company S VUNGIEZZ=WN 346,918 299,199
— Non-controlling interests — JEFE R R 2,503 (15,721)
349,421 283,478
Total comprehensive income U EEELRER
(expense) for the year attributable to 2 E U (B2 ) &%
— Owners of the Company . YNGIEZZS PN 273,093 (42,848)
— Non-controlling interests —FEVERR R 2,991 (16,231)
276,084 (59,079)
Earnings per share BREF 15
— Basic (HK cents) —EARCGEW) 33.36 28.77

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited #8Z Bip2 % it 5 PR 2\ &



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BBk R

As at 31 December 2028 R=Z=—=%F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
I FET T
Non-current assets FkREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - RENERE 16 2,735,043 2,818,476
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 280,066 287,229
Interest in a joint venture REEPENER 18 37,926 39,417
Deposits e 21 41,916 39,409
Deferred tax assets EETRIEE E 29 7,635 9,071
3,102,586 3,193,602
Current assets REBEE
Inventories TE 19 1,008,599 1,135,776
Trade and bills receivables B S EWGIE R EWEE 20 737,674 654,745
Other receivables, deposits and HEih IR « Be Rk
prepayments FEfFRIE 21 107,842 127,460
Tax recoverables BEdEEE 10,906 4,526
Pledged bank deposits EEPRITER 22 87,951 68,428
Short term bank deposits RERITIE X 22 - 36,954
Bank balances and cash IRITHEB RIS 22 927,838 1,051,165
2,880,810 3,079,054
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables B S IER IR 23 323,697 301,525
Bills payables T EE 24 303,022 227,611
Other payables and accrued charges  EfhfEt R IB BT E A 25 309,191 289,707
Contract liabilities BREE 26 31,414 41,049
Bank and other borrowings RITREAME 27 1,079,385 1,992,685
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 42,588 38,177
Tax payables FEFHIR 13,204 10,191
2,102,501 2,900,945
Net current assets nEEEFEE 778,309 178,109
Total assets less current liabilities #EERRBAE 3,880,895 3,371,711
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e ISR R 3R

As at 31 December 2028 R=Z==%F+-A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
(i THET FAET
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 27 435,191 105,515
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 91,989 983,369
Deferred income RIERA 12,169 14,294
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIAE G 29 11,415 9,735
Retirement benefit obligations RINENEE 31 9,414 8,191
Other liabilities HEmwBaE 5,176 2,160
565,354 233,264
Net assets EEFE 3,315,541 3,138,447
Capital and reserves BARNGHE
Share capital %N 30 10,398 10,398
Reserves B 3,203,920 3,029,817
Equity attributable to owners of AATEEANELER
the Company 3,214,318 3,040,215
Non-controlling interests FEIERRAE R 101,223 98,232
Total equity REREE 3,315,541 3,138,447
The consolidated financial statements on pages 108 to F108BEEF51BERGA KR EESS
251 were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March R-ZE-_ME=A-+HBAHERENTR
2024 and are signed on its behalf by: REZE:
Lu Yuguang Zhang Haitao
EEk (353
Chairman Executive Director
B HITEF

’] ’] O Best Pacific International Holdings Limited #BZEIEIRKER AT



Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity
GnEEREHER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE-_=F+_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADAERAEL
Retirement PRC Non-
Share Share Other  benefit ~ Special statutory Translation  Retained controlling Total
capital premium  reserve  reseve  reserve  reseve  reserve  profits Total interests  equity
EfER il
Bx  RGEE HbREE B WIRE ieRE AERE  REE &t FeREE RRAE
HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKBOOD  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000
Tér  Thr TEr A TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr TEr TR TEn
(Note g) (Noteb) ~ (Notec)
(Hita) (ko) (isko)
At1 January 2022 RZZ-E-f-A 10398 593260 106,715 1749 (130700 217507 82197 2282622 3281458 91,788 3373246
Profi oss) for the year Exatl(EE) - - - - - - - 29199 29199 (15721 283478
Exchange differences arising on RERNERELNELEE

tranglation of foreign operations - - - - - - (340,456) - (340,456) - (340,456)
Share of tranglation reserve of HERELFAERE

ajoint venture - - - - - - 873) - (873 - 673
Remeasurement of refirement benefit  EiFER|E &3 E

Oblgations, net of tax (EANREE) = - = at] - = = = 719 B10) (1,229
Other comprehensive expense FREMRERR

for the year = = = 9 = - 3 - M) B0 (342567
Total comprehensive (expense) Enzm(Fx)halE

income for the year - - - (718) - - (341329 299199 (42848  (16.281) (59,079
Capitalinjection from non-controling ~ ~FMBARFHERRE T4

shereholder of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - RE 26
Transfer from retained profits to BRERTEEEE TR

the PRC statutory reserve - - - - - 145% - (1458 - - -
Dividends recognised as distribution — B25 BéE (H3k14)

(Note 14) - - - - - - - (1983%) (198,39 - (1983%)
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—F+-B=1-8 10398 593250 106,715 1081 (13070) 2321388 (269,132 2368800 3040215 98232 3138447
Proft for the year ERaf - - - - - - - 36918 346918 2503 349,421
Exchange differences arising on BERNSHELNELZE

tranglation of foreign operations - - - - - - (18902 - (18902 - (13902
Share of translation reserve of HERELFAERR

ajoint venture - - - - - - (541) - (541) - (541)
Remeasurement of retiement benefit  EiEFIEFHENRHE

obligations, net of tax (EBRE) - - - 618 - - - - 618 488 1106
Other comprehensive EmEMREYE(RR)

income (expense) for the year - - - 618 - - (7444 - (73825) 488 (73,33
Total comprehensive income ERdabE(RY e

(expense) for the year - - - 618 - - (14443) 346918 273093 2991 276,084
Transfer from retaingd profits to BRBEHEZ R RE

the PRC statutory reserve - - - - - 17 - (17219 - - -
Divicends recognised as distribution — BEBARAIRE (Hzk14)

(Note 14) - - - - - - - (98,990)  (98990) - (98,99
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+-B=1-H 10,398 593,250 106,715 1649 (13070) 249407 (333575 2,599,544 3214318 101,223 3315541
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Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity
mEEREE R

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

Notes:

Other reserve of the Group amounting to approximately
HK$106,715,000 represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company and
the carrying value of the non-controlling interests held by
Sunbrilliant Capital Investment Limited and Lakefront Capital
Investment Limited and the share capital of Best Pacific
Textile Holdings Limited (“BPT Holdings”) prior to the
completion of a group reorganisation on 16 January 2014.

Several subsidiaries of the Company provided financial
guarantees to its related companies and the fair value of the
financial guarantees was recognised as deemed distribution
to the shareholders at initial recognition. These financial
guarantees were released in previous years.

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) statutory reserve
is non-distributable until the end of the operation periods of
respective PRC subsidiaries. The transfer to this reserve is
determined according to the relevant laws in the PRC and by
the board of directors of the PRC subsidiaries in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the subsidiaries. It can be
used to make up for previous year’s losses or convert into
additional capital of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company
upon approval from the relevant authority in the PRC.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZBEEZERER AT
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Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows

GERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-=HE —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FAT
Operating activities REES
Profit before taxation BRAE AT 4 A 385,345 316,672
Adjustments for: BT SEELAE -
Interest income FBWA (15,490) (16,038)
Finance costs BMEKAR 116,224 75,794
Share of result of a joint venture DMEEELEEE (2,485) (2,539)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥  BERREITE 327,734 327,107
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEERE 54,281 46,410
Change in fair value of a derivative financial ITHE SR T AR
instrument NFEEE) - (1,092)
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE BEK
plant and equipment REEE 1,513 427
Net remeasurement of credit loss allowance B HRNTIEEEEIEEE
for trade receivables EHAEFRR 1,512 (2,670)
Amortisation of deferred income BRI (1,976) (2,792
Allowance for slow-moving inventories T ERE 9,092 41,426
Unrealised exchange gain arising on translation MESEERREEKRES
of current accounts within group entities EERREHE (4,226) (44,197)
Operating cash flows before movements HEEREBAIN
in working capital REFERE 871,524 738,508
Decrease in inventories FERD 110,010 219,550
(Increase) decrease in trade and bills B 5 IEW I B e =R (38 0)
receivables B (87,750) 174,643
Decrease in other receivables, deposits and Hi W - Ze Rk
prepayments RN 21,428 8,707
Increase (decrease) in trade payables B S ENFIEEMORD) 24,327 (65,552)
Increase (decrease) in bills payables T RIBIE IO ) 79,236 (191,540)
Increase (decrease) in other payables and HAv 5 IE R EET & AL
accrued charges CR) 14,942 (50,940)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities BRBEORD)EM (9,573) 6,837
Increase (decrease) in retirement benefit RIKEFEEEMCRD)
obligations 2,148 (4,063)
Cash generated from operations REXBAERE 1,026,292 846,150
Income tax paid BERFSH (26,589) (72,589)
Net cash from operating activities RETEHMBRL TR 999,703 773,561
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Consolidated Statement of

Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

2023 2022
—EC=HE —E-F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
By st THET TAT
Investing activities RETEH
Placement of pledged bank deposits FWMEAEREITER (176,393) (146,157)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RIEERRITER 155,888 191,573
Interest received EHFLE 16,340 16,572
Addition of property, plant and equipment  FEYIE - BE RBEE (275,394) (366,006)
Government grants received BB - 2,531
Proceeds from disposal of property, HENE « BE KBS
plant and equipment 1B 4,419 9,597
Placement of short term bank deposits FRERIHEBB=EAZ
with original maturity over 3 months R HRITIE - (38,239)
Withdrawal of short term bank deposits RORZEEBA=@A 2
with original maturity over 3 months KRR TIE X 36,626 155,272
Dividend income received from interest on  JRER A S EELSHILE
a joint venture WA 3,435 -
Repayment from related companies RE @A R ER 54 629
Advance to related companies Bl UNGIE=EN (3,635) -
Net cash used in investing activities RETEMBEREZE (238,660) (174,228)
Financing activities MEEE
Interests paid ERFE (127,860) (90,883)
Dividends paid BAHIRS (98,990) (198,395)
Capital injection from a non-controlling —E B A A
shareholder of a subsidiary SRR T E - 22,675
New bank borrowings raised FTILIRITIEN 1,515,612 1,584,596
New other borrowing raised g E M ER 38,298 35,491
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERE (55,427) (38,899)
Repayment of bank borrowings EBRITERN (1,652,979) (1,343,852)
Repayment of syndicated loan ERREER (481,000) (328,856)
Repayment of bank overdrafts BRBITEX (9,686) (19,425)
Net cash used in financing activities RETBFRARSFE (872,032) (377,548)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and ReRBESEEY
cash equivalents (WD) 18 F 58 (110,989) 221,785
Cash and cash equivalents at FEINRER
beginning of the year BeZ%EY 1,051,165 898,868
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ EXEEHRF 2 (12,338) (69,488)
Cash and cash equivalents FERNRERFELEEY
at end of the year, represented by LR3I E K% 927,838 1,051,165
Bank balances and cash RITEBERE 22 927,838 1,051,165
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a public company incorporated
as an exempted company and registered in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability under the
Companies Law Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on
14 June 2013. Its immediate and ultimate holding
company is Grandview Capital Investment Limited,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI") and is wholly owned by Mr. Lu Yuguang (“Mr.
Lu”), who is the Chairman and executive director of
the Company. The Company’s shares have been
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
since 23 May 2014. The address of the Company’s
registered office and principal place of business are
disclosed in the corporate information section to the
annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are manufacturing and
trading of elastic fabric, lace and elastic webbing.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries
are set out in Note 39.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is the same as the
presentation currency of the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

2.1

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual periods
beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts

October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar

Two model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

The application of the new and amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEEFRZERER A A
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2.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet 2.2

effective

For the year ended 31 December 2023 E — T =

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture!

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Gurrent or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Lack of Exchangeability®

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

e MR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HEZ—E-=F+_A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022

Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as

current or non-current, which:

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not
affect its classification as current or non-
current only if the entity recognises the
option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:

Presentation.

° specify that the classification of liabilities
as current or non-current should be based
on rights that are in existence at the end
of the reporting period. Specifically, the
amendments clarify that the classification
should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability

within 12 months.
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2.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date which are conditional
on the compliance with covenants, the requirements
introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been
modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022
Amendments specify that only covenants with which
an entity is required to comply with on or before the
end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date. Covenants which
are required to comply with only after the reporting
period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the
disclosure requirements about information that
enables users of financial statements to understand
the risk that the liabilities could become repayable
within twelve months after the reporting period,
if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right
to defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to
the entity complying with covenants within twelve
months after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective
date of applying the 2020 Amendments to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with
the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024, with early application permitted. If an entity
applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period
after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity
should also apply the 2022 Amendments for that
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

2.2

3.1

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continueq)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at
31 December 2023, the application of the 2020 and
2022 Amendments will not result in reclassification
of the Group’s liabilities.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decision made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.
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3.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment (“HKFRS 2”), leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16
Leases (“HKFRS 16”), and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets
(“‘HKAS 36").

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

3.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of
the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Interest in a joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which
exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Interest in a joint venture (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting.
The financial statements of joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the joint venture other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Interest in a joint venture (Continueq)

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of
the Group (such as a sale or purchase), profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the joint
venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to

the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that

are substantially the same.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

The Group’s revenue from sales of goods
is recognised at a point in time when goods
are delivered and control has been passed to
customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the

grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic basis

over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss (as other income) in the period in which they

become receivable.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as

an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than properties
in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less recognised impairment loss.
Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management including
costs of testing whether the related assets are
functioning properly, and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. Sale proceeds of
items that are produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management (such as
samples produced when testing whether the asset
is functioning properly), and the related costs of
producing those items are recognised in the profit
or loss. The costs of those items are measured in
accordance with the measurement requirements of
HKAS 2. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets (other than the construction in progress)
less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both
leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold
land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the
extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is
accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position. When the consideration cannot
be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after the date of initial application or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception
or modification date. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as lessee
Short term leases

The Group applies the short term lease recognition
exemption to leases of staff quarters, warehouses,
office premises, motor vehicles and machinery and
equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payment on short
term leases is recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;
° any lease payments made at or before

the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and
° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the

Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9”) and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost
of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an

index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease,

if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market
rent review in which cases the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is
indication that corporate assets may be impaired.
If such indication exists, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit or a group of cash-generating units) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of the reporting period, and their income
and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
plans (such as state-managed retirement benefit
schemes, the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and the State Social Insurance Fund) are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the
cost of providing benefits is determined using
the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at the end of each
annual reporting period. In determining the present
value of the Group’s defined benefit obligations
and the related current service cost and, where
applicable, past service cost, the Group attributes
benefit to periods of service under the plan’s benefit
formula. However, if an employee’s service in later
years will lead to a materially higher level of benefit
than earlier years, the Group attributes the benefit
on a straight-line basis from:

(@) the date when service by the employee first
leads to benefits under the plan (whether or
not the benefits are conditional on further
service) until;

(b) the date when further service by the
employee will lead to no material amount of
further benefits under the plan, other than
from further salary increases.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and
losses, the effect of the changes to the asset
ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets
(excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the
consolidated statement of financial position with a
charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they occur.
Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive
income is reflected immediately in retained profits
and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in
the period of a plan amendment or curtailment and
a gain or loss on settlement is recognised when
settlement occurs. When determining past service
cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, an entity
shall remeasure the net defined benefit liability or
asset using the current fair value of plan assets
and current actuarial assumptions, reflecting the
benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets
before and after the plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement, without considering the effect of
asset ceiling (i.e. the present value of any economic
benefits available in the form of refunds from the
plan or reductions in future contributions to the
plan).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount
rate at the beginning of the period to the net defined
benefit liability or asset. However, if the Group
remeasures the net defined benefit liability or asset
before plan amendment, curtailment or settlement,
the Group determines net interest for the remainder
of the annual reporting period after the plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement using the
benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets
after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement
and the discount rate used to remeasure such net
defined benefit liability or asset, taking into account
any changes in the net defined benefit liability or
asset during the period resulting from contributions
or benefit payments.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

° service cost (including current service cost,
past service cost, as well as gains and losses
on curtailments and settlements);

o net interest expense or income; and
° remeasurement.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the actual deficit or surplus in the
Group’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting
from this calculation is limited to the present value
of any economic benefits available in the form
of refunds from the plans or reductions in future
contributions to the plans.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZBEEZERER AT

3.2

HMEMERRFEREEREK
2TBERER 2

BEREFTERER(E)

1ES 157 (4&)

RIKEBMEA (&)
FEFBEBHRERNBENEEF
BRI MVIRR G H - AT - AR
EREEIER] - MR AE BRI ERTE
REBMNBEHEEFE  AREEH
REFENERT ~ BB SR RARBRT 8 )2
AT BB EPTIREAREF AR AR EH T
ERFRAERNABNEEFENRR
X BEAEIER] - HIRSAEBRFE
HE RS NRRAMEFE - St A
KA RN R AEL R FRE
BB EREEFR T -

FEBMRADRLT

e BREBRA(BEREFRBEERA
BIEMRBA A LA R HIR N A
Yoas M E518) -

. FBMZHUAFE: R
. EHIE-

KR e MR RFER R RERN BT
EASE R ERAM SN ER B A
B o AT E RSB T AR TG
R PARH BIR SRS AR R AR KAt &l 3R
A RBEMLENEIRE



3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Discretionary contributions made by employees or
third parties reduce service cost upon payment of
these contributions to the plan.

When the formal terms of the plans specify that
there will be contributions from employees or third
parties, the accounting depends on whether the
contributions are linked to service, as follows:

° If the contributions are not linked to services
(for example contributions are required to
reduce a deficit arising from losses on plan
assets or from actuarial losses), they are
reflected in the remeasurement of the net
defined benefit liability or asset.

° If contributions are linked to services, they
reduce service costs. For the amount
of contribution that is dependent on the
number of years of service, the entity
reduces service cost by attributing the
contributions to periods of service using the
attribution method required by HKAS 19
paragraph 70 for the gross benefits. For the
amount of contribution that is independent
of the number of years of service, the entity
reduces service cost in the period in which
the related service is rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially

ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
current and deferred income tax expense.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and
over the lease terms due to application of the initial
recognition exemption.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting
the definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprise of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value and restricted
deposits arising from pre-sale of properties
that are held for meeting short-term cash
commitments. Cash equivalents are held
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented
as short-term borrowings in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Inventories

Inventories mainly consist of textile products and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (‘HKFRS
15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including trade and bills receivables, other
receivables and deposits, pledged bank deposits,
short term bank deposits, bank balances) which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. Trade receivables that are credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. The ECL
on the remaining trade receivables are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other financial assets at amortised cost, the
Group measures the credit loss allowance equal to
12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ —ZE_=F+_A=+—BILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument
has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has
a low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers bank balances and
cash and other receivables to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit
rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

M

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure
that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited #BZEFERAER AT

3.2

HMEMERRFEREEREK
2TBERER 2

ERSTHERERE)
EHTAE)
ETHMEEE)
EHEERE(E)

M

(i)

EEREAEIEIE)
AEBEERERRABIEER
BRELRERZRNMNRENAN
M- W E R B RT AT
PRAX IR 22 RE $RE X IR 780 2 A <
EERBRARBRERN -

ERZER
RAREERREEMS - A&
BR5  fHABEPERE B SMEBR
RES 2 ERBREHATKR
EREEEA(BRERASE)2H
BR(NERAEE T ZEM
BHm) - AIEEEOSM -

B LB AEER
& e REERBEE0R -
ABREEQSN  BRIFAKEER
BEABREHEHPAERRNE
HWEER SEE - RERlE ©



3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events of default that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@)

significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

3.2

W)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward-
looking macroeconomic information. For
collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics
when formulating the grouping:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

o Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors;
and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a credit
loss allowance account.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a liability and on equity instruments.

3.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including trade payables, bills
payables, other payables and accrued charges
and bank and other borrowings, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, which are described in Note 3, the
management of the Group is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The followings are the key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that has a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within
the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuead)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

The management of the Group identifies trade
receivables that are credit-impaired and assesses
their ECL individually. The management of the
Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of the
remaining trade receivables based on provision
matrix through grouping of various debtors
that have similar loss pattern, after considering
internal credit ratings of trade debtors and/or past
due status of respective trade receivables. The
credit loss allowance amount is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows.
The assessment of credit risk of trade receivables
involves high degree of estimation uncertainty. WWhen
the actual future cash flows are less than expected
or more than expected, a material impairment loss
or a material reversal of impairment loss may arise

accordingly in future periods.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in Notes 20

and 36.

There is net impairment losses under ECL
model of HK$1,512,000 charged to profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: net reversal of impairment loss under ECL
model of HK$2,670,000 credited to profit or
loss). The carrying amount of trade receivables
is HK$724,938,000 netting of allowance of
HK$5,703,000 (2022: HK$631,727,000 netting of
allowance of HK$19,948,000) as at 31 December

2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuead)

Allowance for inventories

Management of the Group reviews the inventory
ageing analysis at the end of the reporting period
and identifies the slow-moving or obsolete
inventory items that are no longer suitable for use
in production or sales. Management estimates
the net realisable value for such inventories based
primarily on the latest invoice prices, estimated
costs of completion and current market conditions.
In addition, the Group carries out regular inventory
review with reference to inventory ageing analysis,
management experience and judgement on the
expected future saleability of goods and provides
necessary allowance if the net realisable value is
estimated to be below the cost.

There is allowance for slow-moving inventories of
HK$9,092,000 (2022: HK$41,426,000) recognised
to profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2023. The carrying amount of inventories is
HK$1,008,599,000 (2022: HK$1,135,776,000) as
at 31 December 2023.

A T REENEERFR2)

FERAE

Kil%ﬁﬁ HE AR ERNT

BRI DT - BB BE A AIEEEK
ﬁﬁ’iﬂﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁf,\lﬁﬁﬁ o EREE
ERBEROBRER - EEF AR
KERMMESINR ST EFER AT EH
FE o AN AEREE2EFERED
- BEEEHERERARIEHENE
B KM E BT E - WMhRTRIE
BAERERRANMER HED B -

BE_Z-_=F+-_A=+—BILt#HF
€ HIEFE 59,092,000 T(=F
— T 1 41,426,000/ 7T ) PA 18 25 P AE
RNV BE-_=Z=F+-_A=+—8"
FEIREEA1,008,599,0008 (=&
— % :1,135,776,000/&7T) °

Annual Report 2023 —ZE-=FF#f

165



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HEZ—E-=F+_A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE

The Group’s revenue is derived from manufacturing
and trading of elastic fabric, lace and elastic
webbing in Mainland China, Hong Kong, the
Socialist Republic of Viethnam (“Vietham”) and the
Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka (“Sri
Lanka”), net of discounts and sales related taxes.

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers

Revenue from manufacturing and trading of
elastic fabric, lace and elastic webbing are
recognised at a point in time.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

LGN
AR R AR B 7R B AR

R

Mg ERAMBE (A MTER R
REMSIZHAME(HERF ) RE

KB B

MR E R - E AR E

1 4%

o ANERITIN N SH SRR TR

Manufacturing
and trading of

REEFENZWAMD

K B R B BB AR -
4 TR B M 2 M A A B B

.
o

Bx—_2_=%+-A=t+—-H

thFJE

Manufacturing
and trading of

elastic fabric elastic
and lace webbing Total
HEREE
B EER HEREEH
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Types of goods EmiER! FET FET FET
Sales of products EmiHE
Elastic Fabric B A E R
- Sportswear and apparel — BB RE N RE 2,180,003 - 2,180,003
- Lingerie —AK 1,121,381 - 1,121,381
3,301,384 - 3,301,384
Lace Bk 64,986 - 64,986
Elastic webbing 5B M AR - 834,337 834,337
3,366,370 834,337 4,200,707
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) REBEFEYZWAAD ()
with customers (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 Bz—E2—_—_f+—-A=+—H
IHFE

Manufacturing Manufacturing
and trading of and trading of

elastic fabric elastic
and lace webbing Total
SR E R HEREE
RE#H B MRS et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Types of goods EmiEsl FAT FET FAT
Sales of products EmiHE
Elastic Fabric B A R
- Sportswear and apparel —EERE M ARE 2,146,456 - 2,146,456
— Lingerie —AR 1,292,507 - 1,292,507
3,438,963 - 3,438,963
Lace Eih 76,267 - 76,267
Elastic webbing B - 977,560 977,560
3,515,230 977,560 4,492,790
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

9.

REVENUE (continued)

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

The Group manufactures and trades the
elastic fabric, lace and elastic webbing to the
wholesale market.

For manufacturing and trading of elastic
fabric, lace and elastic webbing, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has
been transferred, being the point in time
when the goods have been shipped to the
customer’s specific location (delivery).

Following the delivery, the customer has
full discretion over further processing, the
manner of distribution and sales price of the
goods and has the primary responsibility
when selling the goods and bears the risks
of obsolescence and loss in relation to the
goods. The normal credit term is 30 to 90
days from the date of issuance of a monthly
statement for sale delivered in that month.

The Group applies the practical expedient
of HKFRS 15 which allows the Group not to
disclose the information of the transaction
price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contract with customers, as the
original expected duration of the performance
obligation arising from the manufacturing
and trading of elastic fabric, lace and elastic
webbing are all within one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The financial information reported to executive
directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision makers (“CODM?”), for the purpose of
assessment of segment performance and resources
allocation focuses on types of goods delivered.

The Group’s operating and reportable segments
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

° Manufacturing and trading of elastic fabric
and lace

This segment derives its revenue from
manufacturing and trading of elastic fabric
and lace made commonly from synthetic
fibres that are used in high-end knitted
lingerie, sportswear and apparel products.

° Manufacturing and trading of elastic webbing

This segment derives its revenue from
manufacturing and trading of elastic webbing
made commonly from synthetic fibres that
are used as shoulder straps, lingerie trims
and waistbands.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HEZ—E-=F+_A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results by operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

DEER ()
DEUN R E

AT BAREBEIRE S M AR E D EE D
EVA KRB DT

BE-_ZE-_=F1+-A=1+—HLFE

Manufacturing Manufacturing
and trading of and trading of

elastic fabric elastic
and lace webbing Total
HEREE
A HWEREE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Segment revenue from external R BINERFHY
customers DEUA 3,366,370 834,337 4,200,707
Segment gross profit D EEF 827,976 175,650 1,003,626
Segment profit 7285 439,947 67,106 507,053
Unallocated other income R BEEMUA 21,006
Unallocated other gains and R B E U Es
losses &8 17,044
Unallocated corporate expenses A EC M (46,019)
Share of result of a joint venture D& L% EE 2,485
Finance costs EE=ID®N (116,224)
Profit before taxation MR FR AV A 385,345
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DITER %)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEURA R EE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_E_—_F+—-_A=+—HIL=EE

Manufacturing  Manufacturing
and trading of  and trading of

elastic fabric elastic
and lace webbing Total
BEREE
B EE Y SEREE
ER R E % AT HaEt
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAETT FA&TT T
Segment revenue from external K BINARFHY
customers 2 EBUZA 3,515,230 977,560 4,492,790
Segment gross profit D EEF 622,201 227,712 849,913
Segment profit 73 BB Al 226,453 116,708 343,161
Unallocated other income ROMEMUA 24,283
Unallocated other gains and RomEMKE R
losses E518 58,949
Unallocated corporate expenses DA% (36,466)
Share of result of a joint venture D& LS 2,539
Finance costs BRE A (75,794)
Profit before taxation R A5t AT A 316,672

The accounting policies of the operating and
reportable segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies. Segment profit represents
the results of each segment without allocation
of corporate items including mainly bank interest
income, change in fair value of a derivative financial
instrument, net foreign exchange gain, corporate
expenses, share of result of a joint venture and
finance costs. Corporate expenses include
directors’ remuneration paid or payable by the
Group and certain administrative expenses for
corporate function. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

B RAHRED B SRR EASKE
SETBERER - DEBDENEE D REHE
B BERYADECRIER HX 26
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2F  SNEWEFE - EEFX - 21h
BELREBELBENAR - BERXE
RASECDNHENESME MAED
ERBEMETITHRRAX © HREEL
LRREERERD B MRF LA
= Dapr

Annual Report 2023 —ZB— =4 ’] 7’]



| TE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

As at 31 December 2023

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SoEWERw)
Segment assets and liabilities TEEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets AN BAREEIRKE N
and liabilities by operating and reportable segment: MEENBEDIT

LIk

R=B-_=F+=-RA=+—H

Manufacturing
and trading of

Manufacturing
and trading of

elastic fabric elastic
and lace webbing Total
REREE
A HWEREE
HRRE# EE M #ot
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
ASSETS EE
Segment assets NEEE 4,146,502 733,252 4,879,754
Property, plant and equipment 13 ~ = & 3,096
Right-of-use assets FEHREEE 10,535
Interest in a joint venture NEBPERNRER 37,926
Deferred tax assets ﬁkﬁlﬁﬁﬁ 7,635
Other receivables, deposits and  ELth i I Zk 18
prepayments e RFERFHKIEA 17,755
Tax recoverables AT e IE 10,906
Pledged bank deposits EEIPIRITER 87,951
Bank balances and cash RITHEHB LIRS 927,838
Total assets BEHE 5,983,396
LIABILITIES aE
Segment liabilities DEEE 884,163 190,980 1,075,143
Other payables and accrued {JM“ ANENEPN
charges FEstE R 41,505
Bank and other borrowings ﬁE TREABEK 1,514,576
Lease liabilities HEAE 12,012
Tax payables FEZTIE 13,204
Deferred tax liabilities R IEEE 11,415
Total liabilities BfERE 2,667,855
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cContinued) 6. oEERE)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PEEEREBRE(E)

As at 31 December 2022

Manufacturing  Manufacturing
and trading of  and trading of
elastic fabric elastic
and lace webbing Total
BEREE
SRR BEREE
ER} I 44 AT HaEt
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FA&T FA&TT T
ASSETS EE
Segment assets DEPEE 4,336,652 681,789 5,018,441
Property, plant and equipment  #12 - & K& 4,674
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 14,565
Interest in a joint venture RE Bt ERER 39,417
Deferred tax assets BIEFRIBEE 9,071
Other receivables, deposits and  E b fE KT8 -
prepayments e MTEFIA 25,415
Tax recoverables EREE R 4,526
Pledged bank deposits BIRAIRITER 68,428
Short term bank deposits REHRIRTTIF K 36,954
Bank balances and cash RITHESBR LIRS 1,051,165
Total assets BEMBE 6,272,656
LIABILITIES &f&
Segment liabilities HEEE 783,883 190,517 974,400
Other payables and accrued H fth &S I8 K%
charges fEFTE A 25,448
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EABIE K 2,098,200
Lease liabilities HEaE 16,235
Tax payables FEFRIA 10,191
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFRIEA G 9,735
Total liabilities BEERE 3,134,209
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment
performances and allocating resources between
segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating and
reportable segments, other than certain
property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets for corporate use, interest
in a joint venture, deferred tax assets, tax
recoverables, pledged bank deposits, short
term bank deposits, bank balances and cash
and certain corporate assets.

° all liabilities are allocated to operating and
reportable segments, other than bank
and other borrowings, lease liabilities for
corporate use, tax payables, deferred tax
liabilities and certain corporate liabilities.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited #8Z Bip2 % it 5 PR 2\ &

6.

%

313“

D ERE R ()
HEEREEE)
BRSNS BERERERED

BEEODEERERARE
DEP - MEREEERENETY
% BEARENEREEE

REEbENER  EEHIAE
E - AREEIE - EHERRTE
O EERITES - |RITEH KL
RBeARETEREERIN -

FIERESDEEEEE KA RE
DEP - MEERTT R EABIE R - FIE
m%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ”ﬁﬂ BEAE - EEN

B BEEFBRAEENETERA
BRI



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SEWERw)
Other segment information Hib o IpER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-_=F+=-A=+—HILEE

Manufacturing Manufacturing
and trading of and trading of

elastic fabric elastic
and lace webbing Unallocated Total
BEREE
EEEY HEREE
AR REH# BHAT RO @ct
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET TAET FHET
Amounts included in the HENEEFED
measure of segment profitor ~ ZFEERET AR
segment assets: &% :
Additions of property, plantand REWE « BE K
equipment Bl 271,789 20,075 81 291,945
Additions of right-of-use assets REFERESE 32,556 17,653 - 50,209
Depreciation of property, ME - BENEE
plant and equipment e 285,830 40,252 1,652 327,734
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets 43,661 6,590 4,030 54,281
Loss from net remeasurement of & 5 EUGHIEEZE
credit loss allowance for trade  EIEREEH
receivables AEFEEE 943 569 - 1,512
Allowance for slow-moving T ERE
inventories 4,344 4,748 - 9,092
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

7]
Other segment information (Continued) Hiths

DEER (&)
DEERH(AE)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E-_—_F+=-A=1+—HLEE

176

Manufacturing  Manufacturing
and trading of  and trading of
elastic fabric elastic
and lace webbing Unallocated Total
SEREE
B EREE
HR R E 4 B AAHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FET FHET FHET FHET
Amounts included in the FEAEENHD
measure of segment profitor ~ EFEERET AR
segment assets: &% :
Additions of property, plantand AEWE - BEK
equipment i 336,935 49,979 293 387,207
Additions of right-of-use assets AEFERESE 3,385 - - 3,385
Depreciation of property, ME - BENEE
plant and equipment e 286,093 39,301 1,713 327,107
Depreciation of right-of-use FHREEENE
assets 35,199 7,180 4,031 46,410
Gains from net remeasurement & S EWFIEEZE
of credit loss allowance for EREEEN
trade receivables FrEFENE 2,199 471 — 2,670
Allowance for slow-moving T ERE
inventories 39,263 2,163 - 41,426
Other than the segment information disclosed [ﬁftxﬁ%m/\%éﬁﬂm\ » FERER

above, there was no other information reviewed by

the CODM for both years.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited #BZEFERAER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (cContinued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Mainland
China, Hong Kong, Vietnam, Sri Lanka and the
United States of America. The Group’s revenue
from external customers based on the location of
the customers are detailed below:

6.

DEER (#)

hEER
AEBMEBRMNPBEARE - 55 8
B EERRER - AEBKEINR

EPOBATRERFHERED -
HBEWT

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=5F —E-F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET T

Mainland China ESlETpN 175 861,642 912,809
Hong Kong B 851,596 1,015,613
Sri Lanka HEFHFR 709,178 850,102
Vietnam i 453,720 405,096
Taiwan G 428,610 207,845
South Korea 3L 164,431 248,618
Thailand RE 142,167 151,808
Bangladesh A iEavs 115,294 115,225
Indonesia ENfE 98,522 101,249
Macau SBPY 11,999 97,499
Others Hith 363,548 386,926
4,200,707 4,492,790

Non-current assets (excluding financial assets and
deferred tax assets) by geographical location of
assets are detailed below:

REEMEMEE DR ERBEE (T
BiECREEREEHIBEE)FEN
T

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—8
2023 2022
—E-= =Gl — s
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Mainland China Fp B K e 1,466,545 1,639,411
Vietnam e 890,740 838,010
Sri Lanka HEER 698,884 667,964
Hong Kong a5 26,032 26,346
3,082,201 e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

DEER ()
BEBRIEEFNER

REBEE_ZE_=FK_FT-_—"F+_-A1
=+—HULEFE  EREAEERW AR
10%EFWALT ¢

Year ended 31 December

BEt=A=t-RLEE

2023 2022
—EC=H —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T AT
Revenue from manufacturing and K E RSN B E A
trading of elastic fabric and lace EE R E 4B A
— customer A —EFH 397,156 533,696
— customer B —EFZ 438,229 492,619
Revenue from manufacturing and e EE & E BRI
trading of elastic webbing A
— customer A —EFH 69,775 70,877
- customer B —BB7, 63,983 94,022

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEFRIERERAT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

OTHER INCOME Hal A
2023 2022
—ZE=-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FA&TT
Government grants (Note) BB (FsE) 11,361 15,308
Compensation income from customers & B & P B E I 8,264 1,226
Bank interest income SRITH B UA 15,490 16,038
Net proceeds from sales of scrap SHERSELFT
materials 8,131 8,540
Others Eih 8,170 8,313
51,416 49,425
Note: Mz -

The amount includes HK$9,385,000 (2022: HK$12,516,000)
unconditional government grants received during the year
ended 31 December 2023. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group also received government grants
of HK$2,531,000 in relation to purchase of equipment.

Government grants in relation to purchase of equipment
received in current and prior years of similar nature are
deferred and are released to other income over the useful
lives of the related equipment. Amounts of HK$1,976,000
(2022: HK$2,792,000) were recognised in profit or loss during
the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December
2023, amounts of HK$12,169,000 (2022: HK$14,294,000)
remained to be released and are included in deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

R EREEE T _=F+-A=1+—H
1EF [E /Y B U K 15 BT 77 BY £ 9,385,00078
T(ZEBZ=4F 12,516,000/ 7T) - REZE—
T —F+-AZ+—HUIEFE AEETH
B8 B SR W ER U 4 Bh 22,531,000/ 7T °

RAFERBATFFERINERARERE A
BEUMEEHBRT/HSHYBIEL - ZEHR
HERRAEAFHEREEMRA - BEZ
“=F+-AZ+—HIFE  BERIEZER
£ 581,976,000/ 7T ( —ZF = —4F : 2,792,000
BLT) R-_TE_=ZF+-A=+—8"
12,169,000/ 7L (=T = = 4F : 14,294,000/
T INABEFRR - WHNERE SRR R AR
EUTA o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES BEHWmREE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Loss on disposal of property, LEYE - FEMEE
plant and equipment E518 (1,513) (427)
Change in fair value of a derivative PSR T B AT (EEE
financial instrument - 1,092
Net foreign exchange gain SN U 285 5A 17,044 57,857
15,531 58,5622
9. FINANCE COSTS ELS= 5%
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&7T
Interests on: THEENFE
Bank borrowings RITERK 106,859 77,613
Other borrowings HAbE R 10,607 4,239
Lease liabilities HEARE 10,394 9,031
127,860 90,883
Less: amounts capitalised in the cost of ¥ : & BIREEKAZ
qualifying assets B b eFE (11,636) (15,089)
116,224 75,794

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended
31 December 2023 arose on the general borrowing
pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation
rate of 6.55% (2022: 6.02%) per annum to
expenditure on qualifying assets.

HE T _=%+_-_A=+—HItHF
fE - RE—RIEFEE B R CE KK
AR EBREENT HIRERMMLFR
6.55%(—ZF - —4F : 6.02%):t&

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEFRIERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

T e =B 1=

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

2EF=

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF 10. EE&EE?TE&AEM%
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
The remuneration paid or payable to the directors BN ENANARIES RITERAE (1T
and chief executive officer (‘CEQ”) of the Company BAER DM T -
was as follows:
Executive Directors Indgpendent non-executive Directors
UfrEs Bufufzs
Mr. Zhang
Hatao ~ MrWu Ms.Zheng  Mr.Chan Mr.Lu Mr.Cheung ~ Mr.Ding  Mr.Kuo
Mr. Lu (CEQ) ~ Shaoln  Tingting  YiuSing Libin ~ YatMing ~ Baoshan  Dah Chih Total
EiE (THA8) ROB%E EEEz: REERE BUWEE B-RiE THLRE BAEEE i3t
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKS000  HKBOOD  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000
Thr  TEr Thr  TEn TEr TEr  TEr TEn TR TEn
Forthe year ended BEo%ck
31 December 2023 t2Az1-A
LEE
Fee i - - - - - - 300 20 20 750
Sclaries and alowances EeNEy 3,85 4,453 2833 220 2138 1,361 - - - 1620
Discretionary performance bonus BRI AL 5400 4.200 3,150 3,600 2,00 1,800 - - - 20,350
Contrbutions o refiement BivEHE
henefts schemes ey 1 28 1 18 18 3 - - - 21
8,757 8,681 6,055 5,838 4,356 3194 300 200 %0 3763
For the year ended BEz8cf
31 December 2022 +ZA=1-B
LEE
Fee i = = = = = - 30 20 250 750
Salaries and alowances Eohay 3516 484 30w 2% 22 4B - - R I
Disoretonary peromance bonus BB RE A 3600 -0 240 A0 1 - - - 10800
Contrbutions o reffement BB
Denefts schemes 59 %8 59 18 18 H - - - 216
7,8 4862 5261 4780 3,798 2,709 30 20 250 29,380
Annual Report 2023 —Z = =F £
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(Continued)

Note: Executive directors of the Company are entitled
to discretionary performance bonus which are
determined by the remuneration committee of the
Company with reference to market conditions and

financial performance of the Group.

The executive directors’ remuneration shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the

Group.

The independent non-executive directors’
remuneration shown above were mainly for their

services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no remuneration was paid by the Group to
the directors or chief executive of the Company as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors or chief executive of the Company has

waived any remuneration during both years.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited #8Z Bip2 % it 5 PR 2\ &
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11.

12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION 11.

During the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022, the five individuals with the highest
remuneration in the Group are directors of the
Company with their remuneration as disclosed in
note 10.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no remuneration was paid by the Group to
the five highest paid individual as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.

1B S5

REE-ZE-_=—FK"F-_—"F+_H1
=t+—HIFE  KEERB RS H
ATERQRESE - EFMRKIE10
W o

REE-ZE-_=—FK"F-_—"F+_H1
=+—RHLFE  AEERERRAAR
SEA AR - (EARE N
BA BY 54 N BE 7K 2 [ R Y B2 B o 1 A B
fH1E -

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 12. BB BEIEF
2023 2022
—E-= T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Profit before taxation has been arrived  BRFL AT M 2 1 (5T A)
at after charging (crediting): YESEE
Auditors’ remuneration IZEREN BN & 2,572 2,479
Staff costs B ITHA
Directors’ remuneration EEME 37,631 29,380
Other staff costs Hth8 TR
— salaries and other benefits = aitﬁ/i\ R H A iE 7 799,684 775,656
— contributions to retirement RIREFFTEI R
benefits schemes 60,411 57,783
897,726 862,819
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - WENMEREBITE
equipment 327,734 327,107
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 54,281 46,410
Depreciation capitalised in inventories ~ B LN TEERITE (308,246) (299,216)
73,769 74,301
Cost of inventories recognised as an R AR NFEERA
expense (Note) (B 5E) 3,197,081 3,642,877

Note: The amount includes allowance for slow-moving
inventories of HK$9,092,000 (2022: HK$41,426,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

HiE: 2 eEEEEE_S_=—F+=
B= +—E|¢¢F§*/%‘$ﬁﬁ%’i%§
15 9,092,000 i 7T ( = = ;
41,426,000/ 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

13. Fif8HiREx

2023 2022
=== —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Current tax: BNERTHIE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFEN 9,778 24,821
The PRC Enterprise Income RS
Tax (“EIT’) ([EEmBH)) 14,696 6,519
Withholding tax on dividends from B ARIRE 2 TEHT
subsidiaries - 3,884
Income tax in other jurisdictions HAth e AR PT1SH 9,734 3,198
Overprovision in prior years: BEFEBREEME
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFEN (185) (219)
The PRC EIT (AT (681) (2,727)
33,342 35,476
Deferred taxation (Note 29) BT IA (M 5E29) 2,582 (2,282)
35,924 33,194

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of the
Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the
first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits
and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits
above HK$2 million.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited #BZEFERAER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE-_=F+_A=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income
Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC companies
is 25% for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, unless there is any applicable preferential tax
treatment.

The Company’s subsidiaries, Dongguan Best
Pacific Textile Company Limited (“Dongguan
BPT”) and Dongguan New Horizon Elastic Fabric
Company Limited (“Dongguan NHE”), had obtained
the qualification as high and new technology
enterprises since 2010 and 2016, respectively,
which were further renewed for an additional three
years from the year ended 31 December 2022.
Hence, Dongguan BPT and Dongguan NHE had
been subject to the preferential tax treatment and
the applicable tax rate for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 was 15%.

Withholding tax on dividends was calculated at 5%
of the dividends received and estimated dividends
to be received from the subsidiaries in the PRC
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

13.

FrEREx 2
BIEREMERERE(TCERER

E D REEAEEUEEIRIRD] - BRIEA
Eﬂﬁ@i%ﬁ MRS GRIP

REREBE-_B_=FgxK-_ZT_—
¢+ A=+t—HIFEAMREH A
25% °

ARBNMBARREHEADNEERA
Tﬂiaﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬁéﬁﬁ%E

AR(IREBEDINE T —FF
&_” NFREESSHRMERE
% HARMEAEE T - —F1+—

A=t+—HItFERE—FBINEE=
Fo A REBENREEEZRHE
BREGE REE_ZS_=FK-F

T oFt+ - A=t+—HItMEFENE
A& R15% °

REMEHNHIEEE T _=F Kk
S —F+_A=t+—HIMEFES
R BB B A B B WA M FE AT S U ER 2 B%
EH5%aTHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R M

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continuead)

Pursuant to the relevant Vietnam Enterprises
Income Tax rules and regulations, the applicable tax
rate for the subsidiary operating in Vietnam is 20%.
The subsidiary in Vietnam is eligible for a tax holiday
for two financial years since the first financial year
of taxable profits and a tax concession at a tax rate
of 10% for the following four financial years. With
the new incentive in place during the year ended
31 December 2018 and by fulfilling certain stated
requirements as set by the Ministry of Industry
and Trade, the subsidiary in Vietham had been
eligible for a tax holiday for four financial years since
2018, a tax concession at a tax rate of 5% for the
following nine financial years and a tax concession
at a tax rate of 10% for the next following two

financial years.

Withholding tax on shareholder’s loans interest was
calculated at 5% of the interest paid and estimated
interest to be paid by the subsidiary in Vietnam
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022.

Pursuant to the Inland Revenue (Amendment) Act,
No. 10 of 2021 in Sri Lanka, the applicable tax rate
for the subsidiaries operating in Sri Lanka is 24%
for the year ended 31 December 2022. In terms
of the changes to the Inland Revenue Act No. 24
of 2017, as passed in parliament on 9 December
2022, the subsidiaries of the Group in Sri Lanka are
liable for income tax rate of 30% from 1 July 2022
onwards. In addition, one of these subsidiaries is
currently eligible for a tax holiday till the year ending

31 December 2024.

Taxation arising in any other jurisdiction is calculated

at the rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdiction.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZBEEZERER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 13. FiEREX &)
Income tax expense (credit) for the year can be NEEFEMRBE X (K )] BHiga8ER
reconciled to the profit before taxation per the R EAMEEW R RGBT S ER
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other ESl PN

comprehensive income as follows:

Hong Kong The PRC Others Total
B hE Ht a5t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 202
“E-cE -“E--f C-E-cE -E--fF CECZE CE-CE CECZE CEo-

HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HK$000
TAn  TEr  TEn  TEn  TEn TR TR TEn

Profit before taxation Syl 63,465 164,414 171,019 126,569 150,861 25,689 385,345 316,672
Taxation at the domestic noome  IREIRFTER B

tax rate HE 10,472 21,128 42,755 31,642 29,887 4210 83,114 62,980
Tax effect of expenses not AHE BB

deductible for tax purpose ge 7428 4197 3,332 6,631 6,202 513 16,957 16,541
Taxeflect of income not taxable ~ BERRMADIE

fortax purpose g 0080) (07 - - %9 Bos) (12009 @15
Taxeffoctof share ofresut ofa ~ HEAEAEEER

joint venture il o) #19) - - - - 0) (#9)
Tax effect of estimated taxlosses A2 EHTHES B

not recognised fkye 15 8 101 1484 - 5737 116 7229
Utlisation of tax losses previously ~ EV % Al R RERIEE

not recognised EB (280) (187) (1,394) (1,199 - - (1,674) (1,380)

Tax effect on defered taxlebies  IEATA SRR/
resuting fromvithholdng taxon ~ KEERISHAZ
undistiouted profisnseted  EAIHHETHE

interest income of subsicliaries  EfERYRHT 2 - - 7,215 (7,39) 512 442 7,781 (6,953)
Withholding tax on dhidends fom ~ HBATIRE 2

subsiaries BRI - - - 3884 - - - 3884
Overprovision n prior years BIEERERE (185) (19 (681) 727) - = (866) 2946)
Effect o tax concession nhEsnee (165) (165)  (30409) (8872 (26517 B552)  (57,091)  (37589)
Income tax expense for theyear —~ REEERER 7,79 %271 20979 3454 7,15 4469 3,924 33,194
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

14. DIVIDENDS 14. RE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of G RIER D IREIZANA T @Ak
the Company recognised as R ZARE -
distribution during the year:
2023 Interim dividend — HK5.3 cents B =FHHRE
(2022: HK7.28 cents) per ordinary — GRRE@ARS.381L
share (ZF==%F:
B EBART.28711) 55,110 75,698
2022 Final dividend — HK4.22 cents T CFERERE
(2021: HK11.8 cents) per ordinary —GRE@R4.2278(L
share (ZZ2=—%: 8K
EimAz11.871l) 43,880 122,697
98,990 198,395
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, AREHIRGERR - NAREZEER

a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31

2 E - =F+ A=+ —HIEFE

December 2023 of HK11.38 cents per ordinary
share (approximately HK$118.3 million in aggregate)
has been proposed by the directors of the Company
and is subject to approval by the shareholders in
the forthcoming general meeting.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEEFRZERER A A

Z REARR B AR E AR 11.388(1L (&
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

EARNINGS PER SHARE 19.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on
the following data:

BRER

ARBRE ANBIEEREARNTIRE
ATEIEE -

2023 2022
—EC-=F T _F
Earnings &F|
Earnings for the purposes of the basic gt FIREARZF| M = 8275
earnings per share (profit for the year (RAREE ANEREE R
attributable to owners of the Company) ) (F#&7T)
(HK$°000) 346,918 299,199
Number of shares BRoEAE

Number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic earnings per share EgS

SAERERBN M T EkK

1,039,808,000 1,039,808,000

No diluted earnings per share for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 were presented as
there was no potential ordinary shares in issue for
both years.

REBEE_ZE_=—FRE_T-_—"F+_A

=+ HULEFE YE2JEREER
M RAEMEFELEDHTHER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  16. ¥% \ BERGE
Computer
and office Motor Construction
Buildings  equipment vehicles ~ Machinery in progress Total
BER
BF BAZRE HE W ERIR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T8 BT BT T
COST A&
At1 January 2022 WZE-—F
—A-H 1,451,754 137,916 78,474 3,192,693 57,387 4,918,224
Bxchange adustments 33 (88,055) (6,401) (,707)  (190,490) (10707)  (301,360)
Additions e 6,047 4,370 3,520 90,868 282,402 387,207
Transfer upon completion 72 FF e 41674 - - - (41,674) -
Disposals e - (2,008) (2,222) (34,429 - (38,659)
At 31 December 2022 WZE__F
+-A=1+-H 1,411,420 133,877 74,065 3,068,648 287,408 4,965,418
Exchange adjustments [ A% (22,850) (1,456) (988) (49,247) (2,761) (77,302)
Additions NE 4,026 5,636 4,633 258,797 18,853 291,945
Transfer upon completion  FERkRFE & 194,051 - - - (194,051) -
Disposals e - (1,513) (3412) (41,039) - (45,958)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=%
+-A=1+-H 1,586,647 136,544 74,298 3,227,165 109,449 5,134,103
ACCUMULATED RifHE
DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2022 N\"T"
—A-8 331,692 76,645 52,784 1,531,748 - 1,992,869
Exchange adjustments [ A% (25,036) (3,929) (3,821) (111,619) - (144,405)
Provided for the year EERE 67,476 11,068 5,853 242,710 - 327,107
Eiminated on disposals 1/ &R ¢4 - (1,988) (1,828) (24,813) - (28,629)
At 31 December 2022 i
+-A=+-H 374132 81,796 52,988 1,638,026 = 2,146,942
Exchange adjustments A% (7,052) (897) (664) (26,977) - (35,590)
Provided for the year FEAE 68,173 9,704 5,200 244,657 - 327,734
Eliminated on disposals &R 134 - (1,469) (2,675) (35,882) - (40,026)
At31December2023 ~ R=-B==%
+ZA=1-H 435,253 89,134 54,849 1,819,824 - 2,399,060
CARRYINGAMOUNTS  [REf{E
At 31 December 2022 DS
i i ] 1,037,288 52,081 21,077 1,420,622 287,408 2,818,476
At31December2023 ~ R=B=-=%
+=H=+—H 1,151,394 47,410 19,449 1,407,341 109,449 2,735,043

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEEFRZERER A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  16. Y% - BER%RE2)

(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment, FaiyE  BEAREER (EEZIRE
except for construction in progress, are depreciated KON THIR B A AN R e (B B B4R A IR
on its cost less their residual values on a straight- AT Al {FE R F sk FRITE -
line basis at the following useful life or rates per
annum:
Buildings Over the shorter of the term BF FAERSk20ZE 254 (ABE
of the lease or 20 to 25 ERE)
years
Computer and office  20%-50% BRI AE 20%-50%
equipment By
Motor vehicles 10%-20% E 10%-20%
Machinery 6%-20% 22 6%-20%
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EAKEE
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
HELH HEWE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T8 FAITT T
At 31 December 2023 RZ-Z-=%+=-F=+—H
Carrying amount BRmEE 155,314 124,752 280,066
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+-B=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 164,374 122,855 287,229
For the year ended BE-_Z-_=%1+=-H=+—H
31 December 2023 EEE
Depreciation charge WEEA 5,970 48,311 54,281
For the year ended HE—_ZE-_—_F+-F=+—H
31 December 2022 ILFE
Depreciation charge WEER 6,523 39,887 46,410
2023 2022
—E-= Sege — &=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FA&TT
Expense relating to short term leases ~ E242 HAF E B RIRIF X 13,515 12,702
Total cash outflow for leases MER SR LB 79,336 60,632
Ad(ditions to right-of-use assets RNEFRAEEE 50,209 3,385
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

17.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leased various offices
premises, staff quarters, warehouses and leasehold
land for its operations. The lease terms of leasehold
land used for factories ranged from 40 to 99 years.
A lease for a piece of land used for warehouse was
negotiated for a term of 40 years. The lease terms
of factory premises were negotiated for terms of 3
years. Lease for office premises, warehouse and
staff quarters were entered into for fixed term of 2
to 6 years (2022: 2 to 6 years). Lease terms were
negotiated on an individual basis and contained
a wide range of different terms and condition. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period
for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition to the leases mentioned above, the
Group regularly entered into short term leases for
staff quarters, warehouses, office premises, motor
vehicles and machinery and equipment. As at 31
December 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of short
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short term
leases to which the short term leases expense
disclosed above.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZBEEZERER AT

17.

FEHEEE#)

REZMEFE AEBAEEEHES
HRAEYE - BI1ES  EENEE
T - EE Ak 2 HE e &5
NF40EF - —RIEEERARZ L
W HEAB IR TE A40F - BEME
NN EBIF - WAEYE -
EEMETIBHENALNTZEFHELE2
F6F(ZE-__F : 256%F) - HEH
TR ERIEERTE - BESZETEIE
RN - PAEEE M KA E T Al e
HENRER  AEBRAAYNES
WEETE & #)P] 58 HllEn 7T Y BRRE o

BT EAMAE  AEETFHRE LR
& BE - HAEYE - RERIERN
BT UEEE RN =FK
T _F+-A=+—H8 RHHEE
HEHE FYXWENESHHEER S 2B
HEHBEHEM -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 18. RNEEHEWRER
Details of the Group’s interest in a joint venture are as REBNESSDEMESEBWOT -
follows:
2023 2022
—EC-=4F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FATT
Cost of interest in a joint venture REEDERRELR 2 KA
Unlisted JEET 15,434 15,434
Share of post-acquisition profits and MG R T R EAm R E
other comprehensive income, net of WS (N B UL ERRR B.)
dividends received 22,492 23,983
37,926 39,417

Details of the Group’s joint venture at the end of the

RREHEERE - AEESERELZ

reporting period are as follows: BT -
Proportion
Place of of ownership
incorporation/ Principal place  class of Proportion of interest held  Voting rights held by the
Name of entity Formof entity ~ registration ~ of operation  shares held by the Group (Note) Group (Note) Principal activity
e/ FEROENS AREEEZERHN  ARERACRZE
Bl BREED s TEEXSE  ERULA (W) (Rret) IERH
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZE-ZF —T--f ZEIZE Tz
Charming Elastic Fabric ~ Limited Liabiity ~ HongKong ~ HongKong ~ Ordinary 51% 51% 60% 60% Trading of elastic
Company Limited Company &% B LR webbing and
(‘Charming Elastic’) ~ AR investment
FEBRTAM holding
ERAR BEEIATR
([EBERE] ) RERR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

18.

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE
(Continued)

Note:

Charming Elastic also owns 100% equity interest
in Jiangxi Charming Elastic Mfg. Co. Ltd, which is
engaged in manufacturing of elastic webbing in the
PRC.

Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement entered
into among a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, the other shareholder of Charming Elastic
and Charming Elastic (the “Charming Elastic
Shareholders’ Agreement”), the shareholder who
holds more than 50% equity interest in Charming
Elastic (the “Majority Shareholder”) and the other
shareholder were entitled to appoint or remove three
and two directors out of the five directors at the
board of directors of Charming Elastic respectively.

The shareholders of Charming Elastic (the Majority
Shareholder and the other shareholder) had also
contractually agreed sharing control over Charming
Elastic, as certain decisions about the relevant
activities, including but not limited to business,
financial and operational matters of Charming Elastic,
require unanimous consents from at least two
directors appointed by the Majority Shareholder and
one director appointed by the other shareholder.
Accordingly, the Group has joint control over
Charming Elastic and the investment in equity interest
in Charming Elastic is accounted for as an interest in
a joint venture.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZBEEZERER AT

18. NE

B3 -

S RNER (g

#5 BB 1% AR %5 U ¥ 4 Jiangxi Charming
Elastic Mfg. Co. Ltd(E R P E i F 5
ISR AEA ) 100% F AR HE o

BRERARBIZEZEHBA BRI
$E’%taﬁjj—uﬂ>z$u&% @*EMT
VR REB ([ FERBRERER
B BESEBIRTIRESRI £
MR EERR]) R —UBRED
FEREZAXNERFERREESRS
A EERHN = RRIES -

FEREREORR(E2RRELS AL
BIR)TERI MR B X ZABBRIRHH
EHlE - AARREE(BRETRR
FEBRTNES U2 EFH)
METRAERRHIZRREZMENE
PRMUEZEFAAKREREN—E
FHRAE - Bl m—UuBRREE
BISIR SRS L REHERREEE
RERENREARIARAGEDRE
AL ©



18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

(Continued)

Summarised financial information of Charming
Elastic, adjusted for any differences in accounting

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

18. NEeBI¥EWER »2)

FEBREZVBENBZ(ERESR
BRZ (B Z R M AR B s 7%

policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying amount mMEAZEEEYERERENT -
in the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed below:
2023 2022
2= T -F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
At 31 December R+=HA=+—8H
Current assets mENEE 50,901 52,750
Non-current assets EMBEE 10,266 12,790
Current liabilities mEBE (8,345) (9,162)
Equity R (52,822) (56,378)
For the year ended 31 December BE+=-A=1+—HLEE
Revenue ON 58,635 75,416
Profit for the year FEGEH 4,872 4,977
Other comprehensive expense HE2mEAx (1,060) (1,712)
Total comprehensive income 2 HERRERE 3,812 3,265
Dividend received by the Group from AEBEFAEKE EEERE
the joint venture during the year 3,435 -
Reconciliation of the above summarised it B8 E KT E B A G S
financial information to the carrying SRR P RN AEER
amount of the Group’s interest in BEPENER 2 REEY
the joint venture recognised in the BREHT -
consolidated financial statements:
Net assets of Charming Elastic BEBBRE EETE 52,822 56,378
Group’s effective interest REBZEBRER 51% 51%
Group’s share of Charming Elastic’s net A& B {E B BEFRIES 2
assets BEFE 26,939 28,753
Other adjustment E b A %R 1,201 878
Goodwill [PHES 9,786 9,786
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest  ZN5= B F {5 B BB IS AR AS RS 2
in Charming Elastic BRHEIE 37,926 39,417
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HEZ—E-=F+_A=+—HIFE

19. INVENTORIES 19. FE

2023 2022
—E-= —E- 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
Raw materials BV RS 378,347 405,750
Work in progress TR 381,409 422,780
Finished goods BUAK T 248,843 307,246
1,008,599 1,135,776

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 20. EZREWFIEREWREE
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —E-4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade receivables B 5 R EIE 730,641 651,675
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEERERE (5,703) (19,948)
Total trade receivables B D FEWGRIALA%E 724,938 631,727
Bills receivables EWEE 12,736 23,018
Total trade and bills receivables B SR FE N R ERE 737,674 654,745

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables
from contracts with customers amounted to
HK$821,163,000.

Trade receivables from third parties mainly represent
receivables from customers in relation to the sales
of elastic fabric, lace and elastic webbing. The credit
period granted to the customers ranges from 30
to 90 days from the date of issuance of a monthly
statement with respect to sales delivered in the
particular month.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEFRIERERAT

R-ZF_—_F—A—R KEBEFEHY
H) & 5 U IR 535821,163,000/8 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The following ageing analysis of trade receivables,
net of credit loss allowance, is presented based
on the date of issuance of monthly statements at
the end of each reporting period and the ageing
analysis of bills receivables is presented based on
the date of issuance of the bills at the end of each
reporting period:

20.

EZRWFERERELE &)

AT RIS s A RS B 5 8 WA
R EEEBRR B AKELERHE
51 Bl D AT B 0 R o B AS SRS R LR
EEEFREARH2TIHRED T

2023 2022
—E-=5F B F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Trade receivables B S EWRIE
0-90 days 0-90H 681,265 595,237
91-180 days 91 -180H 42,279 35,058
Over 180 days H:E180H 1,394 1,432
724,938 631,727

Bills receivables EWEE

0-90 days 0-90H 12,736 19,688
91-180 days 91 -180H - 3,330
12,736 23,018
737,674 654,745

Trade receivables balances with related parties
included in the Group’s trade receivables balance

are listed below:

FEARE B E 5 MR R SRR

JTHVE B R MGRIRAEEREL SN T

2023 2022
—E=-= —ET-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THBTT
Related parties 22}y
Related companies* E2)iNEIN 54,798 46,630
Other related companies* BN ) NI 100,635 63,808
155,433 110,438
* Related companies controlled by close family AARNRE TESHIHRFRERK S 15
members of certain directors of the Company (these B AR (ZEEES AL A RINE
directors are key management personnel of the BEBAS) o
Company).
# The other related companies are fellow subsidiaries of Hi@Em A sEAEEETHEA
the non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries who AEEEATE ZME A A FEERAR
have significant influence over certain subsidiaries of RHRZEKMB AR

the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

20.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The above trade receivables balances with related
parties are unsecured, interest-free and with a
credit term of 30 to 90 days from the date of
issuance of a monthly statement for sales delivered
in that month. The following is an aging analysis
of trade receivables balances with related parties
presented based on the date of issuance of monthly
statements at the end of each reporting period.

20.

ESRWFEREVNEE &)

VA - B3RS 7 '8 B IR R IR A fR R I
wH 28 EEHAEBHAHEEAD
MAZEE T EBHEET30HE90H -
VAT RERREE T ) B 5 R WGRIB A 54 7
RIS HRARMIZAGEHARSS
HIEBRER DA o

2023 2022

—EC-=F —E-F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET T

0-90 days 0-90H 147,449 102,684
91-180 days 91-180H 7,585 7,730
Over 180 days H#BiE180H 399 24
155,433 110,438

All bills received are held by the Group for future
settlement of trade receivables and are with a
maturity period of less than one year. The Group
continues to recognise their full carrying amounts at
the end of the reporting period.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEEFRZERER A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ —ZE_=F+_A=+—BILFE

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 20. BEEWHEREKERE 2)
(Continued)
The Group’s trade receivables that are denominated AIEREEE TR e B EE:HE
in currencies which are not the functional currencies ANEEE S EWIESES | T
of the relevant group entities are set out below:
United
States Vietnam
Dollar Dong Renminbi
(“US$”) (“VND?”) (“RMB”)
E HBrE ARH
(T&x])) (HEEl (AE®))
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TETT TETT TETT
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBE-=%+=-A=+—H 181,095 10,080 3,591
At 31 December 2022 \—E-_—F+=-_A=+—H 154,314 4,659 1,385

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s
trade receivables balance are debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$49,499,000
(2022: HK$40,839,000) which are past due as at
the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$4,000,000 (2022: HK$1,678,000) has been
past due 90 days or more and is not considered
as in default as these balances are either from
debtors with long term business relationship or are
individually insignificant. Other than bills receivables
with aggregate carrying amount of HK$12,736,000
(2022: HK$23,018,000), the Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
and bill receivables are set out in Note 36.

WR_E-_ZF+-_A=+—H ' &K
SEEZEKRE I,E%ﬁ%@%ﬁrﬁ@ﬁ-
{8 49,499,000 /& 7T ( —
40,839,000/%7E)EI’JEEM"

a4 gr %7\
HRHREBBHE S - & H 4%
F - 4,000,000 (=& = —F :
1,678,000/ 7T ) R 3K A E 8 HA90 A 3¢
FEBO0OH B RLARIEEL) - ALE4
ﬁ%%@ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%@%%%i‘%/\jﬁlﬁ
SRITREK - #8{E12,736,000
BIT(ZE __i 23 018 0007870 ) /Y
BRI - NEBBERZSEHT
B HRY) -

BRAE 5 RUGIA K BB ERT G
HRF BB RES6
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

21. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 21. HEWERIE - RERFEME
AND PREPAYMENTS 15
2023 2022
—EC=H —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Deposit paid BRE 28,670 09,127
Deposit paid for acquisition of property  WEEWE - FE & RED
plant and equipment BffiEe 29,166 26,609
Prepayments A IE 22,319 48,527
Interest receivables WA S, - 850
Other tax recoverables H b r] Y e FLTE 41,358 39,285
Other receivables Hth pE IR 28,245 22,471
149,758 166,869
Analysed as: DA
Current assets mENAE 107,842 127,460
Non-current assets ERBEE 41,916 39,409
149,758 166,869
Non-current deposits stated on the consolidated REPBMARMENIERBIZEBIE
statement of financial position include certain aTHeme MY - BELK&E
rental deposits and deposits paid for acquisition of HEMESE °

property, plant and equipment.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables B A M EWCRIE R IR S 2 B ERHAY
and deposits are set out in Note 36. SEIEE A MIEES6 ©
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21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Other receivables balance with related parties
included in the Group’s other receivables are listed

below:

Amounts due from related companies

21.

H fth FE U =
I8 ()

ST AANER B B A U R IR FY B2 R g
Hith IR AERH SN0 T

RIE - BERFENRK

JTHY

FEUR BB HE A B FRIE

2023 2022
—E_-= —E__F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAETT

Related parties 2k
A related company* — B EaHE N 7] 2,901 741
Other related company?* Hib Rt gl 1,805 1,859
4,706 2,600

A related company controlled by close family
members of certain directors of the Company
(these directors are key management personnel
of the Company). The amount is non trade nature,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The maximum outstanding amount of such other
receivables with the related company during the year
ended 31 December 2023 is HK$2,901,000 (2022:
HK$1,367,000).

The other related company is a fellow subsidiary of
the non-controlling shareholder of subsidiary who has
significant influence over subsidiary of the Group. The
amount in non trade nature, unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand. The maximum outstanding
amount of such other receivables with the related
company during the year ended 31 December 2023 is
HK$1,859,000 (2022: HK$2,296,000).

* MARRETEENRRREK B
HIMREE AR (ZEEZT AL RAINE
BERAR) ZSHEBIESHNG
AEER SENBREREE K
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HItHF
[ - B3Z AR A B HE B A9 E h FE UK
T8 7 B K M AU Bl € F8 A 2,901,00078
T(ZZE =4 : 1,367,000/87T) °

# HMEBH AR AYAEBMNEB R
ﬂﬁéﬁ;gzm%@aaww&
EHRRMBAR - %cBBIEE
SHEE RERAE RERERE
FEE - RBE-_E-_=F+-A
Z+—RALFE E%EE AR
8 HY E i JE U 3 IEZB%KWH&@
&% /51,859,0008 (T - —F :
2,296,000/ 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BEE —T—=

22.

FE+ZA=T—BLFE

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, SHORT 22. BIEMEITES  BHETE
TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK T NERT ,,‘nﬁ%&iﬁﬁ
BALANCES AND CASH
As at 31 December 2023, pledged bank deposits 75’\_7 Z=F+ZA=+—RH 2&H
represent deposits pledged to banks to secure the THEFEERBTIEITEAAREEE L
bills payables issued by the Group, carried at fixed E’] )Eﬁmjﬁ)ﬁjﬁ%a’jr B TEEFERAN
interest rate ranged from 0.20% to 1.30% (2022: F0.20%%E1.30% (T _—F : 0.25%
0.25% to 1.55%) per annum. £1.55%) °
As at 31 December 2022, short term bank deposits R —_F+-_A=+—8 ' GHR
comprised bank deposits of fixed interest rates TEREEREIHER=EAZ+=
ranging from 1.30% to 2.30% per annum with an BABETEFFZENT1.30%£2.30%
original maturity between three months and twelve BIERTTIFK ©
months.
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the RITEBR AR S EEAEERAENIRS
Group and bank deposits carry at variable interest MIRE J/HH H 7% & B S A T H)E B4R
rates with an original maturity of three months or ﬁﬁi L=+ =—A=1+—
less. As at 31 December 2023, the variable interest =N E%'J ?O 001% Z5.29%
rates ranged from 0.001% to 5.29% (2022: 0.001% (: T _F:0. oo1 %Z%£3.00%) °
to 3.00%) per annum.
The Group’s pledged bank deposits, short term I EE TR e B EEHE
deposits and bank balances and cash that are HAREEDIKFIREITER - RETER R
denominated in currencies which are not the IRITHEMR RIS AT -
functional currencies of the relevant group entities
are set out below:
Srilankan  Singapore
Euro Rupees Dollar
HKS Uss (‘EUR") RMB VND (‘LKR") (SGD")
L 85
Bl
g 62+ R
AL 1 (Ez) ARE HERE Bt (Fmgz))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TAL TAL TATL AL TAL TATL
At 31 December 2023 RZEZZE+2f=1-A 304 64,688 RY) 2,499 1,165 1,264 46
At 31 December 2022 R=E-F+-A=1-A 184 52,594 68 1,687 1,063 3,826 390
Details of impairment assessment of pledged BRACEIFRITER - RHBRTERR

bank deposits, short term bank deposits and bank
balances are set out in Note 36.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEEFRZERER A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

TRADE PAYABLES 23. BESZREMARE
The credit period granted by the Group’s creditors NEBBFREAGLTHEEERENF430
ranges from approximately 30 to 90 days. The FO0H - L N AE FEMAFRBAREZLR
following is an ageing analysis of trade payables EHIGRBREEZHHEYNRE D
presented based on the invoice date at the end of i
each reporting period:
2023 2022
—E_-= T _F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
0-90 days 0-90H 300,030 278,631
Over 90 days H#:E90H 23,667 22,894
323,697 301,525
As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s RIZEZ=F+ZA=+—H AR
trade payables balance is an amount due to a joint SEE 5 R FIAEFRM24,055,00078
venture of HK$24,055,000 (2022: HK$24,476,000). TL(ZE =% : 24,476,000/ 7T ) JH /&
Such balance due to a joint venture is unsecured, NEELHENIE -  ZFRNaEDES
interest-free and with a credit term of 30 days from BEERFLEEE EEHAEBHARE
the date of issuance of a monthly statement for BERAMMAKLEL EBBEEE0H
purchases delivered in that month. These balances RS BAARE - ZEERRET
are aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting Q0HMA °
period.
The Group’s trade payables that are denominated ISR BRI EENERE
in currencies which are not the functional currencies NAKEE ZENFIESIAT -
of the relevant group entities are set out below:
USs$ EUR VND RMB
EYH Bt HEE AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
AT  FTHET T TAERT
At 31 December 2023 R-BE-=F
SR I=CE 6,321 163 35,854 437
At 31 December 2022 JrA= S
Tr=F =& 26,506 - 15,728 310
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

24. BILLS PAYABLES 24.

The bills payables are secured by pledged bank
deposits as set out in Note 22. The following is an
ageing analysis of bills payables presented based
on the date of issuance of the bills at the end of
each reporting period:

BNRE

FEAT SR4R 75 LAY 52 22 P 5 6 B #E #0 5R
TTHERIEER - AT RENRER &R
SHRAERFIZRELDABH25I00K

BT

2023 2022

—EC=HF —E__F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FE T FAETT

0-90 days 0-90H 190,748 120,977
91-180 days 91-180H 112,274 106,634
303,022 227,611

The Group’s bills payables that are denominated in
currencies which are not functional currencies of the

IR E BRI R ERHE

MRS E RN RIS

relevant group entities are set out below:

Us$ EUR VND
EH BT M
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEIT FHIT FHEIT

At 31 December 2023 HNoBE=-—=F
+=-HA=+-—H 6,704 - 4,814

At 31 December 2022 R-EE-—F
+=—A=+—H 4,962 1,086 245

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEFRIERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 25. HitENFERESER
CHARGES
2023 2022
—EC=H —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Accrued staff costs JFEE 1 B8k T 3857 P 153,306 131,276
Other accruals HipEzt &R 48,762 48,896
Payables on acquisition of property, WHEYIE - BB Rk B
plant and equipment JE < 3B 40,709 48,182
Other payables HE M RIR 66,414 61,353
Total MaEt 309,191 289,707

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s
other payables balance is an aggregate amount
due to related companies of HK$21,283,000 (2022:
HK$10,156,000).

These related companies are fellow subsidiaries of
the non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries who
have significant influence over certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Such balances due to these related
companies are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

R-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—H8 stAK
£ B E b I RIBAE#RA21,283,0007%8
TT(ZZF = —4 : 10,156,000 ) JH &
ST RAES N B4R %8 o

ZERB AR ASHASEETHE AR
HEABEATEZWB A REERACRE
RIEMBRA o % FENEEH QAR
REER - B NEARBEREE -

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. ENEE
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FA&TT
Deposits received in advance for: FTFE B BRS¢
Manufacturing and trading of EREREBEN
elastic fabric and lace BE R R 4 25,165 35,756
Manufacturing and trading of BIE N B EoB S
elastic webbing 6,249 5,293
31,414 41,049

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted
to HK$34,855,000.

R-ZFZZF—A— B ' 608ER
34,855,000/ 7T
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e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

26.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 26. 688 & =)
As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s N—ZE—=F+_"HA=+—H ' st AKX
contract liabilities balance is an aggregate amount EEAYBEESRE62,008T(=F
of HK$62,000 (2022: HK$105,000) received from — — 4 : 105,000 7T) Jy &5 B HE A 7
related companies. These related companies are qﬁzﬁxa’j,m % o gzzﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ&jﬁg$’$@
fellow subsidiaries of non-controlling shareholders ETFHEBATIAEAEKS éiizpﬁ}g
of subsidiaries who have significant influence over FEIERE IR R R ZMT B A
certain subsidiaries of the Group.
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRIREHERIABHGESLHBED
recognised relates to carried-forward contract FAEEFIZE o
liabilities.
Manufacturing  Manufacturing
and trading of  and trading of
elastic fabric elastic
and lace webbing
HEREEET HEREEEHY
HYEHERE& B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Revenue recognised during the year ended ~ MZZE==%—HF—RBE4)
31 December 2023 that was included FARREBERNEE
in the contract liabilities balance at the ZE=F+=-A=+—H~
beginning of the year on 1 January 2023 IEFEERERBA 35,756 5,293
Revenue recognised during the year ended ~ RZ_Z_-_F— A —HEH
31 December 2022 that was included SFAGNABERNEBE
in the contract liabilities balance at the —E-F+=ZA=+—H~
beginning of the year on 1 January 2022 IEFEEERRA 29,815 5,040

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount
of contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

When the Group receives a deposit from customer
before the production activity commences, this
will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract (i.e. upon receipt of manufacturing order
from customer), until the revenue recognised on
the relevant contract. Other than customers with
long term business relationship with the Group
and/or satisfying historical settlement record, the
Group typically receives 30% to 100% deposit
on acceptance of manufacturing orders from
customers.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited #8Z Bip2 % it 5 PR 2\ &
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/T%\ZZDT @

e 7N B [ 1A A VR B 4 T (/) 20 U
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EFNBETER)ELERNARE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

27. SRITREABGR

2023 2022
—E—-= T _F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET AT
Bank overdrafts RITEX - 9,686
Unsecured syndicated loan EIIREE R - 474,869
Unsecured bank borrowings EIKIRIRITIE K 1,370,763 1,508,130
Unsecured other borrowings (Note) ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂ,ﬁ\m{ﬁ?ﬂ( M) 143,813 105,515
1,514,576 2,098,200
Carrying amount repayable*: JE(EIERIBERE(E" ¢
Within one year —FR 1,079,385 1,838,077
More than one year, but not exceeding ~ #Bi@ —F{B BB M FE
two years 161,364 72,374
More than two years, but not exceeding BB B NRB R F
five years 273,827 187,749
1,514,576 2,098,200
Less: Amounts due within one year or B mBAETRAER
contain a repayment on demand —FREELBER
clause shown under current BB R GBI RS
liabilities (1,079,385) (1,992,685)
Amounts shown under non-current ERB BB RKIA
liabilities 435,191 105,515
Carrying amount of bank borrowings AR—FNEENEE
that are repayable within one year and %;z;(ziféfi{lm NH)
contain a repayment on demand clause  $R1TE R EE 1,017,643 1,363,208
Carrying amount of bank borrowings that %_55 FigERE
are repayable more than one year but BREREZRKA
contain a repayment on demand clause ﬂifﬂﬁ X RRE(E - 154,608
1,017,643 1,517,816
2 The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment * B EARIE HIRIE E R P s AT 2l

dates set out in the loan agreements and include the
unamortised portion of the prepaid transaction cost
in relation to the unsecured syndicated loan.

Note: Other borrowings represent loans from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries which are
unsecured, carry interests at Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (“SOFR”) (2022: London Interbank
Offered Rate) (“LIBOR”) plus a spread per annum
and repayable from the year ending 31 December
2024 to the year ending 31 December 2026 (2022:
repayable from the year ending 31 December 2024
to year ending 31 December 2025). Such other
borrowings are denominated in US$.

BaE

=

BEBMEE - WEEAHEERMR
BERBEN R HERAZ REHELD

H b A8 FRIE 2R B BT B8 2 ) FEIE AR AR AR
MER  AEER  RERRERHRE
fﬂ(ﬁf‘ﬁﬁ&rﬂﬁﬂﬁj)(_g::
F  RIRTRERE ([ RBERITE
%?ﬁ%i))ﬁﬂié% STEREREE=
ToWE+_A=+—BHIEFEEE
i:g—/\$+ H + E|JJ:$J+
BR(CZE-_—F: AREBE=-Z2_N
F+-_A=+—HILIFEEBE_Z
“HE+-A=+—HIFEEE) -
ZEHMERAETTEHE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BEE —T—=

27.

G5 = Bl=r=EEETE

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 27. RITREMER 2
(Continued)
The Group had an unsecured syndicated loan REEHF— iﬂ#ﬁﬁﬂfﬁlfﬁ/\(fﬂﬁ
(“Syndicated Loan”), which would be repayable R BN -Z_=FhAzrio#t
by installments until September 2023 and with an B8 - B ERIREBRITRZEREM
interest rate at HIBOR plus a spread per annum FRHERBZEE @ METERIRBIIR
for HK$ loan tranche and LIBOR plus a spread per TRIZEFRENFFREETE - (REE
annum for US$ loan tranche. The Syndicated Loan TR D R EIER -
was guaranteed by the Company.
The unsecured bank borrowings and bank N-TE-_=FEN_FE-_—F+_ A4
overdrafts were guaranteed by the Company and/or =+—8  SERRITERREITESY
certain of its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 TEARNB K/ SEETHERRRE
and 2022. iR o
The Group has floating-rate borrowings with RNEBEF N RERAF AR EFER
interests rates linked to HIBOR or SOFR (2022: ﬂH%Tﬁ,uj}f;{%ﬁﬁi@ﬁflji(_g
HIBOR or LIBOR) per annum. ZZF  HBRITRAERE N BBERIT
REFE)HEME o
The Group’s bank and other borrowings that ISR ER e EENERTE
are denominated in currencies which are not the MARERRITREMERET|WOT
functional currencies of the relevant group entities
are set out below:
VND Us$
HMrEE ESpT
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F
+=A=+—H 111,144 198,120
At 31 December 2022 RZE——4F
+=-A=+—8H - 85,800

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited #8Z Bip2 % it 5 PR 2\ &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LEASE LIABILITIES

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ —ZE_=F+_A=+—BILFE

28. HEAE

2023 2022
—E-= T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Lease liabilities payable: FENHEEaE
Within one year —FR 42,588 38,177
More than one year but not exceeding BB —FETBAMF
two years 18,797 30,394
More than two years but not exceeding  FBiBMFEB BB T E
five years 12,218 10,264
More than five years b Ak 60,974 52,711
134,577 131,546
Less: Amount due for settlement within -~ 5 : BN B &R 12(E A
12 months shown under WEHA(EE 2 518
current liabilities (42,588) (88,177)
Amount due for settlement after ERBBEMRMNI12(E A Z
12 months shown under non-current ZHA(EE 2 FIR
liabilities 91,989 93,369

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to lease liabilities range from 2.89% to

10.76% (2022: from 2.89% to 5.50%).

ﬁﬁﬂgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmmgﬂ?i@i* SER
AR E2.89%E10.76%(ZTE -4 :

2.89%&5.50%) °

Lease obligations that are denominated in

AR E BB SR RIMN TR AT

currencies other than the functional currencies of BzHEEEHENWNOT :
the relevant group entities are set out below:

LKR VND
HERFEL HEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAETT
As at 31 December 2023 R=-B=-=F+=A=+—H - 17,745
As at 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+-_A=+—H 260 -
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION 29. EIEMHIE
The following is the major deferred tax assets NTARAFERBEFENETECHE
(liabilities) recognised and movements during the RELETIEEE(BE) REF -
current and prior years.
Unsettled
Deferred  Capitalised ~ Allowance Accelerated  Retirement Undistributed interest
govenment finance for ECL tax benefit  profits from income from Tax  Right-of- Lease
grants costs inventories provision depreciation  obligations  subsidiaries  subsidiaries losses  useassets liabilities Total
BREARN
EERR  CEAL BEGE i3 Bf BMEADN AEEHE
®pe RERA  HEEE  BERR  REFE  BRER AAREA WA BEER GREEE  EEER o
HK§000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKBOOO  HKS000  HKSOOO  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
T TR T T TAL Tk T Thn TR T TR T
At 1 January 2022 WZ5-Z§-A-H 2309 2,060) 490 3309 (21,242) 1372 (3,946) (1372 1282 (1,889 1,65 (412
(Cherged] credited to profitorloss B2 (1) A
(Note 13) (KizH3) (39 (99 1887 (618 (14914) 1 3511 (442 13718 600 (603) 228
Credited to other comprehensive I EHREMEA
income = = = = = 313 = = = = = 313
Exchange adjustments EiEE (125) 25 348 - - - 4% - - - - 863
At 31 December 2022 R=E-—#+-A=1-H 2,145 2,784) 7,15 2791 (36,156) 169 - (1.814) 26540 (1,289 1,082 (664)
(Charged) credited to profitorloss  #4EE (1IR3 A
(Note 13) (Bs13) (296) 848 4173 (2314)  (14440) 1,20 (7,215) (512) 21,405 (7,042) 1,657 (2,582)
Charged to other compretensive I EH2EMEIR
income - - - - - (474) - - - - - (474)
Exchange adjustments EE S 2) u 106 - - - (17) - - - - (60)
At 31 December 2023 RZ8-ZE+ZR=1-8 1827 (1,909) 11,434 an (50,602) 2,442 (7,446) (2,326) 47945 (8,331) 2,709 (8,780)

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEEFRZERER A A
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ Z - =%+—"A=+—RHIFE

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continuea)

The above deferred tax assets and liabilities within
the same tax jurisdiction have been offset for
presentation purpose in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The following is the analysis of
the deferred taxation:

ERERIIE (5)

RE2WMWME - LmBNE— B AL
BHEERIBEAERBEDREANE
SRR IS o AT AELEHBHOAN -

As at 31 December

R+=A=+—H

2023 2022

—E-= T F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Deferred tax assets BB E E 7,635 9,071
Deferred tax liabilities BELERIBRE (11,415) (9,735)
(3,780) (664)

Withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared
in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Under the EIT Law,
deferred tax liabilities have not been provided for in
the consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to accumulated
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
HK$1,440,010,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$1,435,315,000), as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The Group had unused tax losses of
HK$338,812,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$299,911,000). A deferred tax asset had been
recognised in respect of HK$321,961,000 (2022:
HK$189,570,000) of such losses. No deferred
tax assets have been recognised in respect of the
remaining HK$16,851,000 (2022: HK$110,341,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams
of respective group entities. Included in unused tax
losses are losses of approximately HK$263,459,000
(2022: HK$233,623,000) with expiry dates as
disclosed in the following table. Other losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

BE-EENF—H A EPIW%/A
A BLATER R A B R AR B R R A AN TE 0
oo BB EMERE - EEEA$’$IT
I%”}%@EWH#%%EE@B#FEE ﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁuu
H%%%EEATE%HXTA TefED -

RERE M ERERPENBARIN =

—=F+-A=1+—HMER:EAE
155‘9&.%5%%%11 ,440,010,000/8 (=&
Z 4 :1,435,315,000/ 70 ) fEH IR T
HIEEERE -

RZE_=F+-_A=+—8H ' &%
lmfkébﬁﬁ%ﬂlﬁiéﬂaﬁsssemooo
B (ZF = — F : 299,911,000 &
JT) ° ﬁfﬁaiﬁéﬁasm 961,000 JT
(_ . 189570000,%%57E)E”J
uﬁlﬁéf?aﬁ%ﬁﬁw RN &
Eﬁi‘:’iﬁ’]ﬂiX}ﬁéﬂmE’JTTi‘EﬁlJIEE Eﬂ
WERER AR T 16,851,000 T( =
T~ 4 : 110,341,000/ 7T ) AV IR &
HIBEE - APAHIEBFEREEE
#7263,459,000 B T (& = —&F
233,623,000 7T) + EF AWM TRX
FTit 58 - HAhE5ian] R Bf4heE
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 29. IEERBIE (&)
31 December
+=A=+-~8
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
Year of expiry I HAE 5 FHET T
2024 —E U 5,788 6,161
2025 —E-RF 27,903 25,580
2026 —ERF 36,317 33,173
2027 B AF 29,046 26,249
2028 —E-NF 19,787 24,461
2029 “ZE-NF 144,618 117,999
263,459 233,623
30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. BZA
The detailed movements of the Company’s share RARRAHEE FFEBEHINT o

capital are set out below.

Number of
shares Amount
BBEB &5
HK$ HK$’000
BT BT
Ordinary shares of FIREE.O1E T
HK$0.01 each LiER
Authorised: JRRE
At 1 January 2022 and MNZEB-_F
31 December 2022 —A—BK
and 2023 T FRK
—Z-=4F
+—A=+—H 50,000,000,000 500,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE -
At 1 January 2022 and A EE— ks
31 December 2022 —A—BK
and 2023 i ET s w0
e g
e —F—i—H 1,039,808,000 10,398,080 10,398

There was no movement in the Company’s share

capital during both years.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEEFRZERER A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ salaries with a cap
of HK$1,500 per month per employee and are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. Under the scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.
No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Hong
Kong, pursuant to the Employment Ordinance,
Chapter 57, the Group has the obligation to
pay Long Service Payment (“LSP”) to qualifying
employees in Hong Kong under certain
circumstances (e.g. dismissal by employers or
upon retirement), subject to a minimum of 5 years
employment period, based on certain formula.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance passed in 1995 permits
the Group to utilise the Group’s mandatory MPF
contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative
returns thereof, for the purpose of offsetting
LSP payable to an employee (the“Offsetting
Arrangement”).

31.

BIRERGE
RE ST

AEERERGIMELTESET KGR
ARG - REMEBEEEEEREES
EeR H M RN EEFTEI([ R EETE) -
HADIZEEFHFWNE TEDLLERE -
FRAESZEEFTA1500ETL - EF
B RIRIRAE ST EIR K BB
B - FEGEERKEMEERER
bk - BIEZE - BEEREEES T
AR B BB ARNS% A ZETEIEL
R - AR A A S A 30,000/ 7T
AER - 2ESEEEHEASEEE
EoAFBE  ABUITABTEESR
B R ZE=FEK-T-_—"F+—-H
=+—H - WEEL WA FRA] A LR >
RIRFEHFERMEK o

RAEENEELELMBRARME -
RIZESTERBIES - RETHERT
(I EERESGRIN) - AEBBRET
AEEAEREEXNEHRGE (R
HREE])  SEEBHLSF  RE

—FAREHE -

AN - — AN RFBBRERHMERES
STERB] 72 FF AN SR BRI A S B Ry o2 51
MRES M - L REEEE &
Bl - AREHEMNEBNRIRSG S
(MESEZEHE]) -
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31.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
(Continued)

Defined contribution plans (Continued)

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on
17 June 2022, which abolishes the use of
the accrued benefits derived from employers’
mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The
Abolition will officially take effect on the Transition
Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the Government
of the HKSAR is also expected to introduce a
subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period
of 25 years after the Transition Date on the LSP
payable by employers up to a certain amount
per employee per year. Under the Amendment
Ordinance, the accrued benefits derived from
the Group’s Enhanced MPF Scheme, minus the
mandatory contributions, made pre-, on or post-
transition can continue to be used to offset pre-
and post-transition LSP. The impact from the
Amendment Ordinance on the Group’s LSP liability
is considered insignificant.

The Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
make contributions to the state-managed retirement
schemes operated by the local governments based
on certain percentage of the monthly salaries of
their current employees to fund the benefits.

Eligible employees in Vietnam currently participate
in State Social Insurance Fund, which is a defined
contribution pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. The calculation of
contributions is based on certain percentage of
employee’s payroll.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZBEEZERER AT

31.

RIKBEHETE )

REMEEI(E)

EEI RN T _—F XA+t A T

@ B DAfE o Bl SR TE & (AP E
Hr REERBHERARSE S - BERS
REHR(BIZE=_AFAA—HB)ERX
AR o eSh - FBIB K BITT IR BRAF 7R
AL —IREEBEE - AEETIR
o EE RN KRR S (Z
ZEEBFNEEBE —ELR)BEE
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31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
(Continued)

Defined contribution plans (Continued)

The only obligations of the Group with respect to
the above defined contribution retirement benefits
schemes are to make the required contributions
under the respective schemes.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total
costs charged to profit or loss are HK$60,411,000
(2022: HK$56,970,000), representing contributions
paid/payable to the above defined contribution
retirement benefits schemes.

Defined benefits plans

Under the Payment of Gratuity Act, the Company’s
Sri Lanka subsidiaries are required to operate
defined benefits plans by paying gratuity to eligible
employees who have served continuously for five
years and more under one employer. The calculation
of gratuity is based on certain percentage of
employee’s salaries and their number of years of
service. The details of the defined benefits plans
operated by the subsidiaries in Sri Lanka are as
follows:
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Retirement benefit obligations ROEHE T
2023 2022
—EC-=4F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
At the beginning of the year REH] 8,191 9,789
Current service cost IR 5 AR 75 A AR 1,392 1,029
Interest cost FIB LA 1,689 614
Actuarial (gain) loss BHE () B8 (1,579) 1,541
Contributions paid B (424) 272)
Exchange loss (gain) PE H &1 (Miss) 153 (4,493)
Others Hith 8) (17)
At the end of the year RER 9,414 8,191
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

31. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 31. EAKREFEFE %)
(Continued)
Defined benefits plans (Continued) REBAFEI(E)
Retirement benefit obligations (Continued) BIEFEE(E)
The amounts recognised in the consolidated R B kEME2EKERERNE
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive R

income are as follows:

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E__F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAETT
Current service cost RS ARFS A A 1,392 1,029
Interest cost FIB A 1,689 614
Recognised in profit or loss RIBRER 3,081 1,643
Actuarial (gain) loss breakdown is as fBE () EBSEmAmmT ¢
follows:
(Gain) loss from change in financial B EE R (W) EE
assumptions (1,579) 1,541
Recognised in other comprehensive ~ RE#M2EE R
expense (1,579) 1,541

2'] 6 Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEFRIERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 31. EAKREFEE %)

(Continued)

Defined benefits plans (Continued) HEBRFZI(Z)

Retirement benefit obligations (Continued) BIKEFEEE)

This obligation, which is not externally funded, lttIEEEI NEPE S BB ETIAFTHERE
is based on an actuarial valuation of the defined BB E—T-—F+-_A=+—AHK%
benefit plan based on the projected unit credit AT BN ANRAE (AT B TE
method, which is the benchmark method specified B S5 199K F8 T R E X ) i L E B AT
in HKAS 19 carried out by a professional actuaries ZETHRBESG AR HTEE
as of 31 December 2021. The gratuity liability M B AR m B & & T LA B Messrs’
of the subsidiaries in Sri Lanka is based on an Willis Towers Watson Actuaries ( H =
actuarial valuation carried out by Messrs’ Willis 5 = i 27 72 2nd Floor, Tower B
Towers Watson Actuaries, whose principal place of Unitech Business Park, South City-1,
business is located at 2nd Floor, Tower B, Unitech Gurgaon-122001, Haryana, India) 317
Business Park, South City-1, Gurgaon-122001, IS E G BER - AR —B /e E
Haryana, India. The principal assumptions used for SEERWT ¢

this purpose are as follows:

2023 2022

—EC=HFE T F

Discount rate per annum FRLIE R 25% 25%

Annual salary increment rate FHEEREX 25% 25%

Retirement age RINFHR 60 60

Withdrawal rate PRERE 15% 15%
As the amount of retirement benefit obligations is BHRERENETCSBELTEKXN - #
insignificant, no sensitivity analysis on assumptions ERARBEN L 2 BRETHR MDY

used in the actuarial valuation is presented. T o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

32. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 32. ERN HfnEiE
2023 2022
—EC=HF B4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET F&TT
Capital expenditure in respect of the BEAREDE  BER
addition of property, plant and BB ETREREEDN
equipment contracted but not BARY

provided for 160,854 126,291

Note:

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
22 December 2016, Dongguan BPT and seven
independent third parties entered into an agreement
in relation to the formation of a company to be
established in the PRC (“the Investee”) to engage
in insurance business and related financial activities
in the PRC. Pursuant to such agreement, Dongguan
BPT has agreed to make a capital contribution of
RMB140,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$155,077,000) in return for approximately 7.022%
equity interest in the Investee. As at the date of these
consolidated financial statements are authorised
for issue, formation of the Investee is subject to
the approval from China Insurance Regulatory
Commission and no contribution was made by the
Group to the Investee.
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34.

35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
has pledged bank deposits amounted to
HK$87,951,000 (2022: HK$68,428,000) to secure
the bills payables issued by the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group does not have any contingent liability so
far as the management of the Group is aware that is
pending or threatened by or against the Group.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it
will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts,
which mainly include bank and other borrowings
as disclosed in Note 27 and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising share capital
disclosed in Note 30 and reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital
structure by considering the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. In view
of this, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new
shares issue as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36. TRTH
Categories of financial instruments SRTEREE
2023 2022
—E-= B F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T THETT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets measured at B AT ER
amortised cost SREE 1,810,378 1,863,740
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Financial liabilities measured at RE KA 2R
amortised cost SRadE 2,450,486 2,917,043

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and bills receivables, other receivables and
deposits, pledged bank deposits, short term bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade payables,
bills payables, other payables and accrued charges
and bank and other borrowings. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management of
the Group manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEEFRZERER A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate and fixed-rate
bank and other borrowings and bank balances, and
fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate
pledged bank deposits, short term bank deposits
and lease liabilities.

The Group currently does not have interest rate
hedging policy. However, management closely
monitors its exposure to future cash flow risk as
a result of change on market interest rate and will
consider hedging changes in market interest rates
should the need arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk section of
this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk
is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR
or SOFR (2022: HIBOR or LIBOR) arising from the
Group’s variable-rate bank and other borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rate risk on bank
and other borrowings. The sensitivity analysis is
prepared assuming the bank and other borrowings
outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. No sensitivity
analysis is presented on bank balances as the
management of the Group considers that the
interest rate fluctuation on bank balances is minimal.

A 100 basis point (2022: 100 basis point) increase
or decrease is used in the sensitivity analysis,
which represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
If the interest rate had been 100 basis point
(2022: 100 basis point) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-
tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2023
would decrease/increase by HK$11,421,000 (2022:
HK$16,607,000).
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36.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 36. €RT A%
Financial risk management objectives and policies BiEEREIEEERBK(E)
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) T e (4E)
Currency risk = ElR
Certain trade and bills receivables, trade payables, ETFESENFTIBRLEREE - B5fE
bills payables, bank balances and cash, and bank FOE - EREE - RITEB LIRS
borrowings are denominated in foreign currencies RIBTTERHURBER EEMNITIEE
other than the functional currency of the relevant B INHONEEEHE - BN EEmEEIN
group entities, which expose the Group to foreign W[ o ANEE BN AN SRR o R
currency risk. The Group does not have a foreign M AEEEEREEITIMNERE - Wi
currency hedging policy. However, the management MNE TS Z EEhE KNSR o
of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign NEFAINEAEBERNEEEELREBER
currency denominated monetary assets and WMEBEAERENEREQDT -
liabilities at the end of the reporting periods are as
follows:
Assets
BE
2023 2022
—EC=HE —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T
EUR against HK$ BT BT 73 64
RMB against HK$ AREHBT 6,296 3,215
US$ against HK$ ETLHABTT 256,613 213,124
VND against US$ MEERET 13,582 7,199
HK$ against US$ HITHETT 302 183
RMB against US$ ARBHZETT 9 9
LKR against US$ HEBRELRET 1,258 3,826
US$ against RMB ETRARE 1,309 887
SGD against US$ AT .3 TT 46 390
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. RITE (%)
Financial risk management objectives and policies BiEEREIER R (E)
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) T e (42)
Currency risk (Continued) SR (4 )
Liabilities
=N
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
EUR against HK$ BT B TT 573 476
RMB against HK$ AR H AT 713 143
US$ against HK$ EILHBTT 210,059 105,716
VND against US$ MR E R ETT 162,964 23,849
HK$ against US$ BILHIETT 100 99
EUR against US$ BRTH.2ETT 221 1,144
RMB against US$ AREERZETT - 310
The carrying amounts of foreign currency RERRAERE - UINEFHENEE
denominated intra-group balances which have been NARIEAERHERERESIIET - 54
eliminated in the consolidated financial statements EREREEEBRARE BT EE
of certain subsidiaries of which the functional TCHVE T B A Rl AR & B 15 2k A
currency are RMB, HK$ and US$ at the end of the g8 -

reporting period are as follows:

Amount due from/(to)
group entities

FEW () S EERE

2023 2022
—EC=H —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT
HK$ against RMB BITAARE 1,025,318 557,736
US$ against RMB ETRARE 33,288 17,311
Sensitivity analysis BURED T
Since the exchange rate of HK$ is pegged with AR THEEITEN - AEBEEHE
US$, the Group does not expect any significant T/ B TERY EAMERES -
movements in the US$/HK$ exchange rates. It - TOIBURIE DT B B IR T
Therefore, the following sensitivity analysis does not TLERFE -

include the effect between US$ and HK$.
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36.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 10% increase and decrease in the functional
currency of the respective group entity against
relevant foreign currencies and all other variables
were held constant. 10% is the sensitivity rate
used by management in the assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currencies denominated
monetary items and intragroup foreign currency
balances and adjusts its translation at the period
end for a 10% change in foreign currencies rates.
A positive number below indicates an increase in
post-tax profit for the year where foreign currencies
strengthen 10% against functional currency (HK$
or RMB or US$) of the respective group entity. For
a 10% weakening of foreign currencies against
functional currency (HK$ or RMB or US$) of the
respective group entity there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the result for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. TR A%
Financial risk management objectives and policies AR EIE B ERBER(Z)
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) T E ()
Currency risk (Continueq) B ()
2023 2022
—EC=H —E-_4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Increase (decrease) in post-tax REERRBLR RN
profit for the year #mnCHL)
Foreign currency against HK$ HNEE B TT 429 232
Foreign currency against RMB HMNEH AR 90,093 48,955
Foreign currency against US$ HNEEHZRTT (11,855) (1,115)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent currency risk as the
exposure at the end of the reporting period does

not reflect the exposure during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ Z - =%+—"A=+—RHIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge obligations by the counterparties as at the
end of reporting period are arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group identifies trade receivables
that are credit-impaired and assesses their ECL
individually, and performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on the remaining trade balances
based on provision matrix. The estimated loss
rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information
(for example, the current and forecasted default
rates in Asia-Pacific, North America and Europe
as published by international credit agency,
which reflect the general credit risk of the major
debtors and the geographical market that they
operate) that is available without undue cost or
effort. Such forward-looking information is used
by the management of the Group to assess both
the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date. The grouping
is regularly reviewed by the management of the
Group to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated. In this regard, the management
of the Group considers that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

36.

EMT R
BEEREREEERIE(Z)

= B R B (E AT

W_7_7¢&_7__¢+ A
=+—RB  AEERBEF RN RS
%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%
ErsaEERR - TIRBEES MR
/R%%ﬁﬁfﬁljxaﬁgwuiﬁﬂé}za@ﬁ%ﬁ
(=R

KEREFANZE SRR
ZEREREEAR AKEEEED
K/JL’E.E%%,\ EF BE - #E1TER
B - WETTE A BEHRAR 7 AR LR BREX
BRER R EIEBAER 1o AEE
B EEEEREZ E 5 R E
RFHEERSEEREE - RIREREE
EIRFEREEBREA SR T ESHER
EITRERHS ﬁ%%ﬁfﬂﬁﬁ KT8
Hﬂiﬁﬂmrﬁ"ikﬁm {?L 1Eu-|— :[
ﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬁ$%&%%$jﬂﬁﬁ7
ESMATREEER (DB EREER
BT R E RERS AL EFTEH I

mSEREERRMNTAR - £ ME
e E Al ﬁWLTT)ﬁﬁﬂW ° X

SEEIEEEAZ TR IEER R
= AR R FRR 2 - AEEERE

BRI AR - LRI IR
EBARDERH - RULT S - A%
EE2ERAARENERERDAR
0%

Annual Report 2023 —ZE=-=FFf

2l



228

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with

customers (Continueq)

The Group had concentration of credit risk on trade
receivables as 17.2% (2022: 17.2%) of the total
trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest
debtor based in Hong Kong and 52.2% (2022:
42.0%) of the total trade receivables were due
from the Group’s largest five debtors, which were
mainly based in Hong Kong and Sri Lanka as at 31

December 2023.

Bills receivables, pledged bank deposits, short term

bank deposits and bank balances

The credit risks for bills receivables, pledged bank
deposits, short term bank deposits and bank
balances are limited because such amounts are
placed in banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies or state-owned

banks.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several reputable

banks.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZBEEZERER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

36.

TWMIT R

M EREE R EREEE)

1= B R R Bt E 7T e (4E)
AEENAREERRY A EBET
(kY

Other financial

Internal assets at
credit rating Description Trade receivables amortised cost
R AR A5 AR
ARBEERTAR Z 5 EWFIE HitemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
default and does not have any past-due not credit-impaired
amounts or the past-due amounts are
insignificant
KR %%ﬁ%i%ﬂAﬁﬁ BWEamrs 2EEAEEEE 12 ATEEEEEE
TR EAFIAN T E R —REEEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
but usually settle after due date not credit-impaired
BReE BEBALERIPRAEZERERE 2HBEHEEER 12{A ATEEREEEE
HHREER —REEEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
in credit risk since initial recognition not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
through information developed internally
or external resources
Tt FRANBHIMBE RV ER I EE 2HRHEEER > HIRHAE B R
ERBE B E XA REZE LN —REEEERE —REEEFERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
E1a BRBRTNZEEREEERE > HIFRHEEEE 2 HIRHE B AR
—BHEEERE —BHEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery
i 5 BERBETERABAREVERER MiEZeRE MisHEZ 58

AEERAEEREE AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. ERTE®
Financial risk management objectives and policies RS EEERBR(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1ZEE 5 N B (E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TR BEETTRIEE SR GHA
the Group’s financial assets at amortised cost which £ BIRE ARSI BER £ R A Em R
are subject to ECL assessment: ZERE :
2023 2022
External Internal 12mor Gross carrying Gross carrying
Notes creditrating  credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount
12f8 A5 —E-=F —E-C
Wi SHMPEEFR AFEETR 2HENEEER fRE A% FRE &
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET T
Financial assets at amortised
cost
REFERATIRNEREE
Trade receivables 20 N/A Note (a) Lifetime ECL (provision 730,300 635,577
matrix)
BRI TER MiEE(a) PHEREEER
(BaER)
20 N/A Note (a) Credit-impaired 341 16,098
TR MizH) BEEERE
730,641 651,675
Bills receivables 20 N/A N/A 12m ECL 12,736 23,018
e TNEHR Nam 12 ARESEERR
Other receivables and deposits 21 N/A Note (b) 12m ECL 56,915 52,448
At EYGUERES TER HizE (o) REARHEESE
Pledged bank deposits 22 Note (c) N/A 12m ECL 87,951 68,428
BHERRITER izEc) TEA 12 AR E SRR
Short term bank deposits 22 Note (o) N/A 12m ECL - 36,954
BHRTER i&E(c) TER REARHEERSE
Bank balances 22 Note (¢) N/A 12m ECL 927,287 1,050,368
RITHER fizHe) TEHA 12 AR E AR

280 Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEEFRZERER A A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Notes:

(@) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the credit
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors
with significant outstanding balances that are credit-
impaired, the Group determines the ECL on these
items by using a provision matrix, grouped by internal
credit rating.

(b) For the purposes of internal credit risk management,
the Group uses past due information to assess
whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition. All of these balances are either
not past due or have no fixed repayment term at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

(c) The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
pledged bank deposits, short term bank deposits
and bank balances is limited because most of such
balances are placed in banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies or
state-owned banks, for which the Group considers to
have low credit risk.

Provision matrix — internal credit rating

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers
in relation to its manufacturing and trading of elastic
fabric, lace and webbing operation. The following
table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed on a collective basis within lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired). Credit-impaired customers
with gross carrying amount of HK$341,000 (2022:
HK$16,098,000) as at 31 December 2023 were
assessed individually.

36.

EMT R
BEEREREEERIE(Z)

1= B R R Bt E 7T e (4E)
BaE

(@) SEZRUFIEMS @ AEECER
FRUBWE ERILSRMEETE
2HRBEEERNEREERRE -
BREABEAREESHRABLEEER
BEMIRRIN - NEEE R R R
EZERANBHREERE  LRA
BEEFRIA -

(o) RASEERKREENS @ AEEFE
AaBEE A EERR A & XER
R EEEERI - TEZEREH
R_B-_=FR=_ZT=-_—F+=A
=t+—HXafREEEEER -

(© AEBMAEZ KB EERMRTHE
R BHRITERRBITERNEER
REBER  HZEERAZFRNE
B EEFNARBE TREETRN
RITHBEBRT - EEAKERRE
ERBERIE -

BHEERE - N EEFAR
EEAEEFERBREEN—BD
AEBERBELREEEESEEA
EM M BEEREERPETARE
BEHR - TRIBFHBEBENZHEHE
EEB(RZRLEEERE) NRERE
EFENEZERRFEEERBRZE
BemR—_ZE-_=F+_A=+—H" 5
AR %E A341,0008 L (— T - —F :
16,098,000/ /L) MIE ERBERF JH#E
BRI -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea) 36.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

€T HEE)

(Continueq)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

BHEREEEERBER(E)

=B KR ES ()

Gross carrying amount AR 4858
2023 2022
Trade Trade
receivables receivables
—E-= —E-—F
EZEWFRTE EHRWEIE
HK$’000 HK$’000
Internal credit rating RS E AR FHET T
Grades 1-2: Low risk 1-24% - (EE KR 596,069 553,422
Grade 3: Watch list 34 B AE 134,231 82,155
730,300 635,577

During the year ended 31 December 2023, lifetime
ECL (not credit-impaired) on trade receivables was
provided based on the provision matrix.

As at 31 December 2023, the weighted average
loss rate applied in determining the lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired) was 0.7% (2022: 0.6%).

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEFRIERERAT

BHE_ T =F+-_A=+—BLt#HF
B BZRWFUE 2 HEBEEEE
(RBEEEERE) HIREREERBE

e

RZEBE-_=F+_-_A=+—8 ' EH
RETZ2HEREEBER(KREEEER
BE) B INEFHEBEEERTR(ZF
ZZF 1 0.6%) e



36.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continueq)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables

under the simplified approach.

BT =F4+A=+—HItFE

€T HE®)

BHEEREEEERBER(E)

=B KR ES ()

RREAERE(E)
TRERDREOERE P UG IRRE

RN HEREEERZE) -

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HES 2HES
FEER FEFR
(KB4 (B4
FEHE) EERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TAT FAT
At 1 January 2022 RZFE-_—F—F—H 6,612 18,024 24,636
Changes due to trade receivables recognised: 2 E 5 €W FUIEF B
~ impairment losses recognised on new -REENTEREE
financial assets originated EHRRREEE 3,850 - 3,850
- impairment losses reversed - BRBRESE (6,516) 4 (6,520)
~ Write-off — Wi - (408) (408)
Exchange adjustments [z (96) (1,514) (1,610)
At 31 December 2022 R-B-_—_F+-H=+-H 3,850 16,098 19,948
Changes due to trade receivables recognised:  ©FERE 5 BN FUAREE
— impairment losses recognised on new -REENTEREE
financial assets originated EHRAEEE 5,362 - 5,362
— impairment losses reversed ~BRRRESE (3,850) - (3,850)
- Write-off —MhisH - (15,526) (15,526)
Exchange adjustments 5 AR - (231) (231)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+-B=+—-H 5,362 341 5,703
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Gross carrying amount (Continued)

During the year, there were impairment losses
reversed due to the settlement of trade receivables
carried forward from prior year. As a result, a
reversal of provision of HK$3,850,000 (2022:
HK$6,520,000) has been recognised in the current
year.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over
two years past due, whichever occurs earlier.

Ligquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
of the Group to finance the operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
Group relies on bank and other borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. As at 31 December
2023, the Group has unutilised banking facilities of
HK$3,657,981,000 (2022: HK$3,729,742,000). The
management of the Group monitors the utilisation
of borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities and lease liabilities. The tables have been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause are included in the earliest time
band regardless of the probability of the banks
or financial institutions choosing to exercise their
rights. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows.

To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the interest
rate at the end of the reporting period.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZBEEZERER AT

36.

EMT R
BBEREEREREE(E)

1E B R E S (&)
BRmBEE(E)
RAFEESFEDBERERRE  REA
e F—FELEEE S EKFRIE - E
Ity AR F E SR B M F [B1 3,850,000
T(ZZE -4 : 6,520,000/87T) °

68 B R BURMETS A ba B E B 75 IR 2
BEERWER A - fIEBARSR
FEABERRF - HEFERFIAD
BHRBRMT(ARTFERE)  AIRE
B S MHE SRR o

HEETE R
REEBRDESRRME  A&EEE
TRERBAREBEEER A TEHNIE
S RIBESEEYWKT - ABMLER
FESLMRRESRERNTE -
REBKRBEIRTT R EAMBRAERR
BESETBRR R _=F+=
A=4+—H X&EBXRHARTH
% 3,657,981,000/8 0 ( —E = —F :
3,729,742,00087T) - AEEEREE
TIERHFERBR - WEREEBTER
4 o

TMRFIASEREIFITESRAERK
HERBOFBRENBEBER - TR
REASEANTNRF RS  ZER
BELRHERENARMRRERER
2 o KRl - BEREREEGRKAR
TEXEENR&ZFAR - TwiRiTeE
ROMIE A] LR R TR HLAE R RO AT BEIE
ZRBENEREERGRE

o

AR ERERFBFIR - KREIHSEEA
HE MR AERFRFIRAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZF—_=F+-_A=+—RHIFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. TRITH®)
Financial risk management objectives and policies RS EEERBR(E)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) BB R ()
Liquidity tables ;,@jyﬁ@%z
Carrying
Weighted ~ Repayable amount at
average  on demand Between  Between More Total  theend of
effective ~ orwithin 3monthsto  1yearto than undiscounted  the reporting
interestrate 3 months 1year 5 years 5years  cashflows date
RERY, REERH
mEFEs  =fAr =fRZ AERRE  GREH
BRRIZ L - -FERf  EBIF  REEE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TEL TATL TETL TETL ThL
At 31 December 2023 gt |
=t-H
Non-derivative financial FEeRAR
liabilities
Trade payables BHENTE NATER 323,697 - - - 33607 323697
Bills payables ERZE NATER 190748 112274 - - 303,022 303,022
Other payables and accrued AR RETER
charges N/A MER 309,191 - - - 309,191 309,191
Bank borrowings - variablerate  SR{T(EF -2 6.73% 997,551 13110 321,824 - 1,302485 1,270,249
Bankborowings - fiedrate IR S 418% 104719 - - - 104719 100514
Other borrowings - varieble rate ~ EftfE 3 —1%8 1.37% 14729 21,688 123121 - 159,538 143,813
1,940,635 147,072 444,945 - 2,532,652 2,450,486
Lease liabilities HERR 4.18% 12,463 37,389 45,352 122,322 217,526 134,577
At 31 December 2022 A-E-—F+-f
=+-A
Non-derivative financial TEEREE
liabilities
Trade payables BHENTE NATER 301,525 - - - 0155 301,525
Bils payables EREE NATER 120977 106,63 - - WIHN 227611
Other payables and accrued A ERRRESER
charges NA NG 289,707 - - - 289,707 289,707
Bank borowings - variable rate  {7(EH- %8 6.02% 1414624 2488 - - 197112 1,874,687
Bankhorowings - fixedrate  HTEH-E S 342% 122082 - = . 122082 118048
Other borrowings - variablerate A&7 - %8 6.52% - - 112876 - 112876 105515
2,248915 619,122 112,876 - 290913 2917,043
Lease liabilities HEEE 4.06% 11,606 34818 54,886 119,207 220,517 181,546
Annual Report 2023 —Z = =F £
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables (Continueq)

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities
are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amount of bank borrowings
with repayment on demand clause amounting to
HK$1,017,643,000 (2022: HK$1,517,816,000) are
included in “Repayment on demand or within 3
months” time band in the above maturity analysis.
Taking into account the Group’s financial position,
the management of the Group does not believe that
it is probable that the banks or financial institutions
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The management of the
Group believes that such bank borrowings will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZBEEZERER AT

36.

EMT R
MEEREREEREE(E)

R E LA (E)
mé))/é“%%%(ﬁ)
7 B R e B A B S B4
RFRERT AR - EXPREDIFEITE S B
BENIBNETANSRITSEE -

RZE_=F+-_A=+—H ' B858%
K/\1E3&1I7WAEI’J§ETTF§KE’]ﬂiﬁﬁfﬁzﬁfﬁ
42%81,017,643,0008 L(Z - —F :
1,517,816,000,%75)m+)\tx |53 H
DTl R Eskek =8 A AEE |MRFREA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €T Az
Financial risk management objectives and policies AT ERBER(E)
(Continueq)
Liquidiity risk (Continued) BB R ()
Liquidity tables (Continuead) mEEER(E)
For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the REELRHESRELEMES  AEEEE
management of the Group reviews the expected EBREwZAETEEEIH(OTE
cash flow information of the Group’s bank s ) B AEERTERNEETIRS
borrowings based on the scheduled repayment mEER
dates set out in the agreement as set out in the
table below:
Carrying
amount at
Weighted Between Between Total  the end of
average Within 3 months to 1yearto undiscounted the reporting
interest rate 3 months 1 year Syears  cashflows period
AER  REEHE
g5 ZERZE RERE  EXBH
Az =R - -FEEF hg RAEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000
[ERaid AL ThL AT Thr T
Bank borrowings i
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=E+ZH=1-H 6.45 885,199 155,607 - 1040806 1,017,643
At 31 December 2022 R ZFT-A=1-H 583 1,187,538 211,985 196,308 1,595,831 1,517,816
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

36.

37.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the financial assets and liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The management of the Group estimates the fair
value of its financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost using the discounted
cash flows analysis.

The management of the Group considers that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) were adopted pursuant to a
resolution passed on 8 May 2014 and terminated on
27 June 2023. The new share option scheme and
share award scheme (“New Share Option Scheme
and Share Award Scheme”) were adopted on 27
June 20283 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to directors and eligible employees, and
will expire at the end of ten years from its adoption
date. Details of the New Share Option Scheme and
Share Award Scheme are set out in “Report of the
Directors” included in the Annual Report 2023 of the
Company.

No share option or share award was granted
since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme,
New Share Option Scheme and the Share Award
Scheme.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZBEEZERER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

38. BHARS

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated GRS B EHmREMI D FAIEEEIN -

financial statements, the Group had the following
related party transactions during the year:

)

AEERFAE IR AIRS

2023 2022
—E-= - —F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
Nature of transactions REME FET FA&TT
Sales of goods to a joint venture e ETEEEEY 1,090 1,961
Purchase of goods from a joint venture ~ B& 2 hX¥EEE 59,585 75,416
Sales of goods to a related company* m—MEAE AR E & 156,346 117,846
Sales of goods to other related ) ELAth B ESE N Bl SHE B¢
companies* 616,893 779,006
Interest expense on other borrowings kB EAih R A B R E A
from the other related companies* ERAF B 7,213 3,030
Operating expenses to other related [ L Ath B ESE A B 2 A
companies* RS 59,003 65,719

Related companies controlled by close family &

members of certain directors of the Company.

The other related companies are fellow subsidiaries
of the non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
who have significant influence over subsidiaries of the
Group.

Compensation to key management
personnel of the Group which represents
directors of the Company is set out in Note
10.

MARRETEENTHRFKKSE
HE AR A B

ZEEMEB AR REAEERER

BABEATE 2 B QR FEEERAR
RHERMBAR -

AEBEFZERAB(AART
)W BNHITET0 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE -~ - =%+_"A=+—HIFE

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. BEMAEXSE &)
(Continued)
(©)  The Group also has the following related € AEETTRAEEER/EBEAG]
party transactions and balances regarding VY WZEHERZEAE N
to the lease agreements entered into by the 5&% K bkeg o
Group as a lessee.
2023 2022
—E-= —E- 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
Nature of transactions/balances X5 #eattE FET FHETT
Interest expense on lease liability to [/ —FEIREB A 7 N HEE
a related company* BEMNBAX* 999 1,510
Lease liability to a related company*  [a]—RI @38 A 528
HEBE 5,651 12,633
Interest expense in respect of rental  [AIE 4 X (T RITE EW %
premises to Mr. Lu MEFRX 1,240 1,216
Lease liability in respect of rental MELEEEREME
premises to Mr. Lu HEEE 15,383 7,697
Interest expense to one of the other  [A1E A —fE E b B A &)
related companies* XA B 1,479 532
Lease liability to one of the other ) H i — RS E Ath BE B A B)
related companies* EEHEAE 17,417 7,012
* A related company controlled by close @ AARNRE TESHMEREK B
family members of certain directors of the IR EEEE A | o
Company.
# The other related companies are fellow # ZEHMBERB AT AHAERRBA

subsidiary of the non-controlling shareholder
who have significant influence over

subsidiaries of the Group.

Details of the other balances with related (d)
parties at the end of reporting period are
disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position and Notes 20, 21, 23, 25,

26 and 27.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

N

T o =0 ==

39. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. WEBLAT > 8S
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company N E =g —_FEE-—F+_- A4
has the following subsidiaries: =+—H ' AAFEULTNHEB AT :
Proportion of
ownership interest held
by the Company
as at 31 December
Charter capital/ A0F
Place of paid up Rt=A=1-A
incorporation/  Place of share capital/ FRRRRRRLA
Name of subsidiary establishment  operation registered capital 2023 2022 Principal activities
L/ ERELR/
HEARER vkt Tend BREA/ZMER —S-=F “TCCF FEER
% %
BPT Holdings BVl Hong Kong Ordinary US$20,000 100 100 Investment holding
BROBAR ZERABE FA LRR20,000% T REER
Best Pacific Textile International BV Hong Kong Ordinary US$100 100 100 Investment holding
Limited HERES FR ERRI00%T Rk
BROGERERAT
Best Pacific Textile Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 Investment holding and trading
BRGRARLR &R BE HK$10,000 of elastic fabric and lace
L3A1R10,000% REBRREERLANEE
RE#
Best Pacific Investment (Hong Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Investment holding and
Kong) Limited e B% LER1ET provision of agency services
RERE (B8 BRAA 0 group companies
RESRRAEEA AR
RIZMRH
Best Pacific Management Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100 100 Provision of management
Senvices Limited BA &R LaRET senvices 10 group
REAEBRERRAA companies
mEER AR EERS
New Horizon Investment (Hong ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding and trading
Kong) Limited Bt & L31R10,0008 T of elastic webbing
HERE (BR)ARAF REBRREEBIUAS
Best Pacific International Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Limited A BB LRk1ET RERR
BRARRAARAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

39. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. MEBATZHE®)

Proportion of
ownership interest held
by the Company
as at 31 December
Charter capital/ A0H
Place of paid up Rt=A=1-A
incorporation/  Place of share capital/ Glgss L L EbA
Name of subsidiary establishment  operation registered capital 2023 2022 Principal activities
R/ ERELR/
WEARER LS mewd BRBx/GMER —S-=F “TCCF FEER
% %
Dongguan BPT (Note i The PRC The PRC Paid-up 100 100 Manufacturing and trading of
Rowd (k) i G registered capital elastic fabric and lace
HK§1,427,021,270 HEREEBUHAMERR
(2002: 4
HK$1,427,021,270)
HRAMER
1,427,021,270% 7T
(ZB-zF:
1,427,021,270%71)
Dongguan NHE (Note ii The PRC The PRC Paid-up 100 100 Manufacturing and trading of
R B () s h registered capital elastic webbing
HK$367,250,000 HERBERLAS
HRAMER
367,250,000 7T
Dongguan Best Pacific The PRC The PRC Paid-up 100 100 Purchase of machineries, parts
International Trading Company i registered capital and raw materials
Limited (Note i) RMB1,000,000 FEEE  THEREHE
REREEREHERLA HRAMEAR
(R i) AR1,000,0007C
New Horizon International BVI Hong Kong Ordinary US$100 100 100 Investment holding
Investments Limited EBRLEE FA LERI00ET RERR
AEARREARAT
Best Pacific Intenational (Vietnam) ~ BVI Hong Kong Ordinary US$100 100 100 Investment holding
Company Limited ABRLEE B EERI00ET RELER

BRAR (i) ERAT
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39. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

N

T o =0 ==

39. MEBARIZFHIB#E)

Proportion of
ownership interest held
by the Company
as at 31 December
Charter capital/ A0H
Place of paid up RT=A=1-A
incorporation/  Place of share capital/ FrRRRRRILA
Name of subsidiary establishment  operation registered capital 2023 2022 Principal activities
R/ ERELR/
WEARER LS mewd BRRE/HMEA -T-ZF “TCCF FEER
% %
Best Pacific (Vietnam) Company ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited B B LRR1ET RERER
B2 (8E) sRAT
Best Pacific Vietnam Company ~ Vietnam Vietnam Charter capital 100 100 Manufacturing and trading of
Limited il e VND1,881,200,000,000 elastic fabric and elastic
BEHRARLR ERER webbing
1,881,200,000,000 HERBERLANERR
HEE Bt
Best Pacific International Sri BVl Hong Kong Ordinary US$100 100 100 Investment holding
Lanka (Pannala) Limited ZERAEE FA E@Ri00%T RAER
Best Pacific Textiles Lanka Sri Lanka Sri Lanka Ordinary 75 75 Manufacturing and trading of
(Private) Limited (‘BPTL") HEFHF HEFR Sri Lankan rupee elastic fabric and elastic
4,715,125,600 webbing
LRk HEREEBMAMERR
4,715,125,600 BitES
FEFREL
Best Pacific International Sri BVl Hong Kong Ordinary US$100 100 100 Investment holding
Lanka (Thulhiryg) Limited ZERAHE ER LRR100%T RERER
Trischel Sri Lanka Sri Lanka Ordinary 51 51 Manufacturing and trading of
FERF LB US$74,395,779 elastic fabric
(2022: HEREERMAYER
US$74,395,779)
Ll
74,395,779 T
(ZB-—%:
74,395,779%7T)
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For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

39. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. B ARIZEE®E)
Proportion of
ownership interest held
by the Company
as at 31 December
Charter capital/ A0H
Place of paid up Rt=A=1-A
incorporation/  Place of share capital/ Glgss L L EbA
Name of subsidiary establishment  operation registered capital 2023 2022 Principal activities
R/ ERELR/
WEARER LS mewd BRBx/GMER —S-=F “TCCF FEER
% %
NexTex Innovations International BV Hong Kong Ordinary US§100 100 100 Investment holding
Company Limited ABRUEE ER LBERI00ET REER
NexTex Innovations Incorporation  Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 100 100 Investment holding and
Limited Bk e TLER 0008 T marketing
BRBENRARAT REmRREH
NexTex Innovations Inc. The United States The United States Ordinary US$0.02 100 100 Marketing
of America of America LER0.00ET =
*H %8
Best Pacific International BvI Hong Kong Ordinary US§100 100 100 Inactive
(Singapore) Limited EBRLEE FA EERI00ET EReEx
BRER (i) GRAT
Bravo Great Development Limited ~ BVI Hong Kong Ordinary US$100 100 100 Inactive
BRERERAT RERES FA LRR100%T fEex
Guizhou Best Pacific Textle The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 100 Investment holding
Technology Holdings G H HK$10,000,000 RERR
Company Limited (Note i) HMER
EMERSBNEERERAR 10,000,000
(R
Guizhou Best Pacific Textile The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 100 Inactive
Technology Limited (Note )~ &l i RMB10,000,000 fEex
ENERABMBEERAR Al
GED) AR%10,000,0007C
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ —ZE_=F+_A=+—BILFE

39. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. B AR ZEE#)
Proportion of
ownership interest held
by the Company
as at 31 December
Charter capital/ A0H
Place of paid up RT=A=1-A
incorporation/  Place of share capital/ FrRRRRRILA
Name of subsidiary establishment  operation registered capital 2023 2022 Principal activities
e,/ ERELR/
WEARER LS SERy BRRE/HMEA -T-ZF “TCCF FEER
% %

Guizhou New Horizon Elastic The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100 100 Manufacturing and trading of
Fabric Company Limited s M RMB10,000,000 elastic webbing
(Noteii AMER HEREERUAT

ENEEREAYERAA ARE10,000,0007
(R

Best Pacific Textile Singapore Singapore Singapore Ordinary 100 100 (Note i) Inactive
Private Limited TR il SGD50,000 (Rshii) Emesx

BRGRHIRERAT LRk

50,0008 T
Notes: BaE
(0} As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, other than BPT 0] N E—_=FEl T - _—F+— )Ej

Holdings which is a directly wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, all of the above subsidiaries are
indirectly held by the Company.

(ii) The companies are wholly foreign owned enterprises
established in the PRC.

(iii) The company was incorporated by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries had issued any
debt securities at the end of the reporting period.

=t—H BEENHBERARRD
BEEZ2EWBRAIN Fﬁ*ﬁ‘%iﬁﬁ%
RATIBHARREERE

ZERBRETEKIAIEBED

o

S

ZERNRHASEREE-TS-=F
TZA=+—BIFFEKXT -

0|

R AR B R R RS B AR
BEITEAIERES

EI
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For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

39. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. MEBARZFHE@®)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have HEAEEAEERERCIEREHE DT
material non-controlling interests e
The table below shares details of non-wholly-owned TR ANEBEHEE AT ERSZIE
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- 2 EMBARGEE

controlling interests:

Place of incorporation Proportion of ownership and
and principal place of voting rights held by (Loss) profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
ARALBHR FEREEEEL
WEATEH IRERHY FERRRZRLH AREFERES (B8R &R it ERER
As at 31 December Year ended 31 December As at 31 December
Wt=R=+-A BET-A=t-BLEE R+=A=+-H
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“g-zf ZECC “®-=F Z—E-Cf  CZBCzE ZE-C
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TER ThL TEn ThL
BPTL Sri Lanka 25% 25% (#12) (7,183) 22,638 22,994
LTS
Trischel Sri Lanka 49% 49% 2,915 (8,588 78,585 75,238
LIS
2,503 (15,721) 101,223 98,232
Summarised financial information in respect of B A E A I PR S B AN [ &M
each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material B AT BERL M ES 0T o LA
non-controlling interests is set out below. The B fs EE A KIS S
summarised financial information below represents %H o

amounts before intragroup eliminations.

As at 31 December

R+=B=+—8
2023 2022
—EC=HF —E-_4F
BPTL HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
Current assets MBNEE 159,003 145,169
Non-current assets ERHEE 514,828 455,075
Current liabilities mEBE (488,466) (416,243)
Non-current liabilities ERBALE (109,432) (92,009)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZNA F1#EH A EIE1ER 53,295 68,998
Non-controlling interests of BPTL BPTLIESZE I =5 22,638 22,994
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For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. BT ZFE®)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have BEEARFIERERZIETENE LT
material non-controlling interests (Continued) NG (E)

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=1t—-BLFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
BPTL (Continued) (#&) HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Revenue PN 286,222 221,486
Loss for the year FEEBE (16,284) (28,529)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company ZNA Rl B A FE(L 18 (15,872) (21,396)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling BPTLIFIE R 25 (R
interests of BPTL E518 (412 (7,133)
Loss for the year FEEE (16,284) (28,529)
Other comprehensive income (expense) RATEE AE(EEHM
attributable to owners of the Company 2EWE () 169 (287)
Other comprehensive income (expense) BPTLIEIE IRt 25 B
attributable to non-controlling interests HEmemikas(Fx)
of BPTL 56 97)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FEHEMEEYE(FX)
for the year 225 (384)
Total comprehensive expense attributable  NAREAB AELEE
to owners of the Company s 4858 (15,703) (21,683)
Total comprehensive expense attributable  BPTLIEIZE A& 25 (G
to non-controlling interests of BPTL FHEMY B85 (356) (7,230)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEIEMA 4% (16,059) (28,913)
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For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

39. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. BT ZFE®)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have BAEEAREIERERZIETENE LT
material non-controlling interests (Continued) NS (E)
As at 31 December
W+=B=+—8H
2023 2022
—EC=HFE —E-F
Trischel HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T T
Current assets mENEE 207,838 234,467
Non-current assets ERENEE 198,506 213,187
Current liabilities mEBE (186,298) (243,451)
Non-current liabilities JEmBAE (59,668) (50,656)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 22 F#EH AJE(L 81,793 78,309
Non-controlling interests of Trischel TrischelJEIE AR #E 25 78,585 75,238
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Revenue WA 343,861 451,417
Profit (loss) for the year FEmMN(EE) 5,950 (17,526)
Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the RARER AR RT
Company (BE) 3,035 (8,938)
Profit (loss) attributable to the non-controlling  Trischel3E#% IR 25 FE (5
interests of Trischel w= A (E1E) 2,915 (8,588)
Profit (loss) for the year FEm A (EE) 5,950 (17,526)
Other comprehensive income (expense) RABEB AEEEM
attributable to owners of the Company 2Ek=E(FY) 449 (432)
Other comprehensive income (expense) TrischelFEIE AR A 25 FE 1R
attributable to non-controlling interests of Hih2mias(Fis)
Trischel 432 (413)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FEHMEEBEFER)
for the year 881 (845)
Total comprehensive income (expense) AKAaEB AEBEEE
attributable to owners of the Company WS (Fs ) 4a%a 3,484 (9,370)
Total comprehensive income (expense) TrischelFFIE AR A 25 FE 1R
attributable to non-controlling interests 2EWE (FX) B8
of Trischel 3,347 (9,001)
Total comprehensive income (expense) FRE2EkaE(FAX )8R
for the year 6,831 (18,371)
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For the year ended 31 December 20283 B2 B - =%+=-A=+—HItFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 40. MEITHELA>EENYE
ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s TEZARNEEMEETHEL AGE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including H1E5 BREESMIEBESEE - gtEE
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising BEAZABIARSRECEARRK
from financing activities are those for which cash BEemeBnNAEBGARERERD
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in HAME TR REZAE -

the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.

Bank and
Dividends other Lease

payable borrowings* liabilities Total

BITR
ERRE  HbfExe HEaE M@t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
AT TAT THT AT
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—%—F—H = 2,160,404 171,715 2,332,119
Financing cash flows BEHSRE (198,395) (153,898) (47,930) (400,223)
Dividends declared (Note 14) EERRE(FIE14) 198,395 — - 198,395
Finance costs (Note 9) RE A (K17E9) - 81,852 9,031 90,883
New leases entered/lease modified NHHE HEB] - - (1,810) (1,810)
Exchange adjustments i 5 % - 9,842 540 10,382
At 31 December 2022 RZBE-_—F+-A=1+—H - 2,098,200 131,546 2,229,746
Financing cash flows RERERE (98,990)  (707,221) (65821)  (872,032)
Dividends declared (Note 14) EERRE(FIE14) 98,990 - - 98,990
Finance costs (Note 9) BE A (KI7E9) - 117,466 10,394 127,860
New leases entered/lease modified I HEE/ HEERT - - 58,252 58,252
Exchange adjustments [E i AR - 6,131 206 6,337
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=%+ZA=+-H - 1,514,576 134,577 1,649,153
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41.

Best Pacific International Holdings Limited BZEFRIERERAT

INFORMATION ABOUT THE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

41. EBEARQTBBERREKER

2023 2022
—EC-=HF T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TR
Non-current assets ERBNEE
Unlisted investments in subsidiaries R B AR ELTIRE 202,194 151,642
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR BT /B A RIFRTE 595,313 546,210
797,507 697,852
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits and Hib e FIR ~ ek
prepayments TR 84 253
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRIRS 133 97
217 350
Current liability REBEE
Other payables E th FET IR 21 22
Net current assets REBEEFE 196 328
Net assets EEFE 797,703 698,180
Capital and reserves BEAXR#EE
Share capital (Note 30) AR A (M95E30) 10,398 10,398
Reserves s 787,305 687,782
797,703 698,180
Composition of reserves fEEEK
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHEIT
Share premium &1 a8 593,250 593,250
Retained profits 1R B3 F 194,055 94,532
787,305 687,782




41.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR HRER I EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—ZE-_=F+_A=+—HILFE

INFORMATION ABOUT THE

M., EEAEAQRIHBERRARESR

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL (=)
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Movement in retained profits of the Company RN TR B m A= H
2023 2022
—EC=H T _F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAETT
At 1 January n—H—H 94,532 120,433
Profit and total comprehensive income FERMERE2EKE
for the year pake] 198,513 172,494
Dividends recognised as distribution RO IEEIIR S
(Note 14) (Ff3E14) (98,990) (198,395)
At 31 December W+—A=+—H 194,055 94,532

The movement of share premium is set out in the

consolidated statement of equity.

BN RENEB N R A ERR
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Five-year Financial Information

Summary
LENBERRE

For the year ended 31 December 20283 HE—B-=%+=-A=1+—HItFE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+=A=t+—BLFE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC=E —EB-o—F T —E-FTFE —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T FAETT F&TT FH&TT
Results ]
Revenue A 4,200,707 4,492,790 4,792,661 3,494,274 3,637,762
Profit for the year EREHF 349,421 283,478 401,346 249,193 299,079
Earnings per share FRAEF
- Basic (HK cents) —EARCEMW) 33.36 28.77 38.64 24.79 28.92
- Diluted (HK cents) —#HE OB N/A FEA NATEA NATEA NATES 28.92
At 31 December
R+=—A=+—8
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= o oF B4 ZEZTF —T—NHF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FBTT FETT FBTT F&TT
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Current assets mENEE 2,880,810 3,079,054 3,623,493 3,018,630 2,596,408
Non-current assets EmBEE 3,102,586 3,193,602 3,378,325 3,308,217 3,268,819
Total assets EEHAE 5,983,396 6,272,656 7,001,818 6,326,847 5,865,227
Current liabilities MEEE 2,102,501 2,900,945 2,808,343 2,224,353 2,589,414
Non-current liabilities EREEE 565,354 233,264 820,229 1,084,313 660,735
Total liabilities EEAE 2,667,855 3,134,209 3,628,572 3,308,666 3,250,149
Equity attributable to IN/NETEZ 2= DN
owners of the Company  E{HiERS 3,214,318 3,040,215 3,281,458 2,934,303 2,531,895
Non-controlling interests  FF15ER% 1 25 101,223 98,232 91,788 83,878 83,183
Total equity B 3,315,541 3,138,447 3,373,246 3,018,181 2,615,078
Net asset per share BREEFHE
(HKS) (#&7t) 3.19 3.02 3.24 2.90 2.52
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